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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (‘Directors” and each a “Director’) of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”’). The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman) (resigned on 14 April 2023)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)
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Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (appointed on 14 April 2023)
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Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
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Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (Chairman)
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
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Ms. Fung Po Ting (appointed on 21 December 2023)
Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong (resigned on 21 December 2023)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
Mr. Han Chun-Wei
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In 2023, the Group recorded revenue amounted to approximately HK$152.1
million (2022: approximately HK$368.2 million); net profit of approximately
HK$6.6 million (2022: approximately HK$5.1 million), representing an
approximately 30.7% increase in amount.

During the year 2023, the Group has made strategic plan to diversify our
business segments and focus on developing the repairs and service support
segment. This move was aimed at avoiding overconcentration on a single
business segment and its associated risks. We believe that by expanding our
service offerings, we can enhance the overall financial performance of the
Group and benefit from the relatively high-profit margin returns in the repairs
and service support segment.

Furthermore, we have observed a growing trend among people worldwide
who now prefer using refurbished IT products due to their affordability and
environmental friendliness. Numerous studies and researches revealed that
the demand for refurbished IT products has been steadily increasing over the
past years. This shift in consumer behavior aligns with our commitment to
sustainability and the avoidance of excess wastage of IT products. By offering
refurbished IT products as a viable alternative, we contribute to the reduction of
electronic waste and promote a circular economy.

In line with our commitment to the circular economy, the Group is actively
exploring business opportunities to invest in the “Circular Economy” business
segment, from providing after-sales services for third-party IT products,
including computers, communications, and consumer electronics (the “3C
Products”) to reproduce raw materials. This expansion will not only diversify
our revenue streams but also contribute to the sustainable management
of electronic waste. The management of the Group believes that the trade
of “Green Technology” will be a hot topic in the near future, and we aim to
position the Group as a leading player in this emerging market.

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the opportunities and challenges that
lie ahead. Our commitment to sustainability and the circular economy will
remain at the core of our operations as we strive to create long-term value for
our Shareholders.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to the Shareholders and business partners for their trust and support.
| ' would also like to salute the managers at all levels and dedicated staff of the
Company for their invaluable contributions and diligent efforts throughout the
years.

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 12 March 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates in two business segments, namely, the sales and
distribution of IT products and the provision of repairs and other service
support of IT products.

Sales and distribution of IT products

The core business segment of the Group is sales and distribution of IT
products. It includes distribution of renowned third-party IT products and video
surveillance systems carrying our own brand name. The third-party IT products
are mainly used and refurbished units that are distributed through our well-
established wholesale network covering North America, Asia and Australia.

The global secondary IT products market experienced a significant increase in
both demand and supply in 2023. A growing number of consumers opted for
refurbished IT products, which are more affordable and environmentally friendly.
Additionally, the heightened focus on the circular economy and sustainability
led to the increased awareness of refurbished products in recent years. As a
result, consumers became more familiar with the advantages of choosing pre-
owned devices and were exposed to their numerous benefits.

The sales and distribution of video surveillance systems is highly competitive, in
particular, the Group directly and indirectly competes with large global vendors
in form of pricing, range of services provided and information technology.

The Group possesses several advantages that enable it to effectively compete
with other global distributors. These advantages include the expertise and
proven track record of its management team, as well as its affiliation with
the Foxconn Technology Group, a widely recognised and globally respected
entity that maintains strong business relationships with numerous international
brands. To optimise its financial performance,
managing its tied-up working capital by enhancing inventory turnover days and

the Group will persist in

mitigating inventory risk, ultimately aiming to shorten the cash conversion cycle.

Throughout the year, the Group engaged in a continuous evaluation and
reassessment of its business model, striving to enhance efficiency and achieve
a higher profit margin. Furthermore, the Group remains vigilant in closely
monitoring market conditions, enabling it to make necessary adjustments to its
strategies and operations as required.

6 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Provision of repairs and other service support of IT products

During the year 2023, the Group has made strategic plan to diversify our
business segments and focus on developing the repairs and service support
segment. The Group provide full range of after-sales maintenance services for
third-party IT products as well as video surveillance products with our own
brand name.

During the year, the Group entered into a service framework agreement
(which constitutes a continuing connected transaction) with the Company’s
controlling shareholder for outsourcing its repair business workflow, including
but not limited to maintenance and value-added services (including checking,
maintenance, assembly, testing, packaging, warehousing, logistic, related
custom declaration services and sourcing of required material) for electronic
products (including but not limited to mobile phone, mobile phone display, and
Bluetooth earpieces). This arrangement can broaden the range of the Group’s
repair services business and increase its revenue sources. Please refer to the
section headed “CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” included in the
Directors’ Report set out on page 26 to 28 of this report for details.

Segment information by business line

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue from sales and
distribution of IT products continued to be the largest source of income which
accounted for approximately 87.4% (2022: approximately 97.1%) of the total
revenue of the Group. Revenue from sales and distribution of IT products is
generated from sales and distribution of third-party IT products and video
surveillance products carrying our own brand name.

BE+-_HA=+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

2023 2022

FET FET

HK$°000 HK$ 000

SHE KD HITE & Sales and distribution of IT products 133,004 357,345
HERIRE S E Repairs and service support 19,133 10,815
ABUT A Total revenue 152,137 368,160
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The revenue generated from repairs and service support increased from
approximately HK$10,815,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$19,133,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
increase in revenue from this segment was mainly due to the expanded service
support of electronic products in addition to video surveillance products
carrying our own brand name.

Annual Report 2023 7
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Segment information by geographical location
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Year ended 31 December
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, Hong Kong, Japan and the United
States became the top three markets of the Group in terms of their respective
contribution to the revenue of the Group. The Hong Kong market was the
largest market and contributed approximately 73.5% (2022: approximately
10.5%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Japan market contributed approximately 17.3% (2022: approximately
1.9%) and the United States market contributed approximately 4.0% (2022:
approximately 56.3%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2023. The Australia market remained relatively steadily during
the year and contributed approximately 3.7% (2022: approximately 1.9%)
of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. There
was a significant change in market development in Taiwan and Netherlands
markets, which contributed approximately 0.0% and 0.0% respectively (2022:
approximately 20.1% and 8.5%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended
31 December 20283. The change in the composition of the revenue was due to
the change of product mix driven by the demand and supply of the IT products
in each of the geographical location.

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

Building upon the experience of the management team in international
distribution, the Group has further expanded its consumer electronics product
offering in multi-jurisdictions that are complementary to its current business
offering. 3C Products are mainly used and refurbished units. Through the
Group’s international distribution channels, the Group extends the 3C Products
useful life in the post-sales circular economy.

8 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT (continued)

The Group also launched several new products, including accessories for
license plate recognition system including display boards, lighting and various
mountings, 30x zoom high speed dome with object tracking capabilities and
upgrades of the existing central alarm surveillance systems.

BUSINESS RISK RELATING TO THE GROUP

The Group may not be able to keep up with technological changes in
the video surveillance industry in order to remain competitive

The Group has continuously invested in research and development to develop
updates and new products in order to maintain the Group’s competitive edge
in the market. The performance of the Group depends on the Group’s ability to
develop updates to its existing products and to develop new products, which
in turn is determined by the Group’s research efforts to develop technologies
which keep up with the latest technological trends in the industry and the
Group’s timely recruitment of personnel with the relevant skills. The effect of
emerging and future technological changes in relation to product specifications
to the Group’s research and development plans or the level of technologies is
unpredictable.

In addition, our competitors may develop technologies and products that are
superior to ours in terms of quality and/or price. Failure to respond to the
technological developments and maintain or enhance our competitiveness
within the industry or maintain our customer base may result in decrease in
profit margins and loss of market share, and our financial performance and
profitability may be adversely affected.

The Group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses
associated with its business operations

The Group maintains insurance policies against loss or damage to its office
and business interruption, public liability and employees’ compensation. The
insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover all the risks associated with
the Group’s business and operations in the future. In the case of an uninsured
loss or a loss in excess of insured limit, including those caused by natural
disasters and other events beyond the Group’s control, the Group may be
required to pay for losses, damages and liabilities out of its own funds, which
could materially and adversely affect its business, financial conditions and
results of operations. Even if the insurance coverage is adequate to cover its
direct losses, the Group may need to be responsible for the indirect losses.
Furthermore, claim records of the Group may affect the premiums which
insurance companies charge in the future.

Despite of the above, the Group considers that the current insurance coverage

is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the Group will review its
insurance policies from time to time.

Annual Report 2023 9
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Group’s operations encompass two distinct business segments, namely,
the sales and distribution of IT products and the provision of repairs and other
services to support IT products. With a strategic and methodical approach,
the Group executed a planned process to enhance and fortify its repairs and
service support segment, aiming to improve profitability and the return on
capital employed.

Simultaneously, the Group made adjustments to its business model for the
sales and distribution segment, focusing on distributing IT products with higher
gross margins to enhance overall liquidity.

Looking ahead, the management of the Group intends to allocate additional
resources to further develop the repairs and service support segment of
the Group. Additionally, the Group will actively explore suitable investment
opportunities within the realm of the “Circular Economy,” aligning with our
commitment to sustainability and responsible business practices to foster
“Green Technology”.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group mainly engages in two business segments, namely, (i) sales and
distribution of IT products; and (ii) repairs and service support. The Group’s
total revenue amounted to approximately HK$152,137,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately 58.7%
as compared to that of approximately HK$368,160,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the drop in
segment revenue of the sales and distribution segment following the adjusted
business model as explained in the paragraph headed “Business Review”
above.

Cost of sales

A major component of the cost of sales was the cost of inventories. In line
with the decrease in business volume, the cost of sales for the year ended 31
December 2023 decreased to approximately HK$138,346,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 59.5%, as compared to that of approximately
HK$341,591,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022. There was a net
reversal of provision of inventories (included in the cost of sales) amounting
to approximately HK$200,000 as compared to a net inventory provision of
approximately HK$46,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 to account for
the decrease in slow-moving inventories during the year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit decreased by approximately HK$12,778,000 to approximately
HK$13,791,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$26,569,000), which was in line with the decrease in business volume.
The overall gross profit margin increased from approximately 7.2% for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 9.1% for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase in overall gross margin was mainly due to the
growth in repairs and service support segment which generates better gross
profit margin than the sales and distribution segment.

Selling and distribution costs

The Group managed to cut its selling and distribution costs by approximately
69.8% for the year. Selling and distribution costs decreased to approximately
HK$1,665,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$5,518,000). A major component of the selling and distribution costs was
staff costs, take-back and data wiping cost for used devices and warehousing
charges. During the year, the Group has re-designed its business model for the
sales and distribution business to improve efficiency and to save staff costs and
devices take-back and data wiping cost.

Administrative expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2023, administrative expenses decreased
by approximately 8.9% from approximately HK$14,559,000 to approximately
HK$13,265,000. With improvements in operating efficiencies and rigorous
financial policy, the Group has been able to keep its administrative expenses
reasonably low.

Net profit for the year

Despite the decrease in total revenue, the Group generated more profit during
the year. The Group recorded a net profit of approximately HK$6,615,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of approximately
30.7% or HK$1,554,000 when compared to approximately HK$5,061,000
recorded during the year ended 31 December 2022 as a result of the improved
operation efficiency and decrease in selling and distribution expenses and
administrative expenses as well as the increase in share of net profit of an
associate accounted for using the equity method.

Basic earnings per share increased to approximately HK25.14 cents in 2023,
compared with approximately HK21.60 cents in 2022.

Inventories and trade receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the inventory level decreased to approximately
HK$562,000 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$1,563,000). The
significant reduction in inventory balance was attributable to strengthened
inventory management through reducing the inventory turnover days, which
helps to release investment capital and reduces warehousing costs. The Group
will continue to monitor the inventory level and reduce the inventory risk, with
an aim to shorten the cash conversion cycle.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Inventories and trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables increased significantly to approximately HK$26,789,000 as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately HK$6,656,000). Such
increase in trade receivables was attributable to the additional credit limits
granted to the Group’s loyal customers after proven sound repayment record.
During the year, customers of the Group maintain good credit history and no
material impairment of trade receivables is recognised.

Key financial performance

The above financial data were chosen to be presented in this annual report
as they constitute a material financial impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the current financial year and/or the previous
financial year, that a change of which could affect the revenue and profit
conspicuously. It is believed that the Group can effectively explain the financial
performance of the Group for the year by presenting the changes of these
financial data.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have a policy to distribute dividends in a fixed amount
or based on a fixed payment ratio. The Company’s dividend policy is to
consider, the following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

- the general financial condition of the Group;

- the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

- the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future expansion
plans;

- the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

- the restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group’s lenders (if any);

- the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

- the general market conditions; and

- any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Declaration of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the laws of Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2023, the Group employed 18 (31 December 2022: 17)
employees in Hong Kong and 14 (31 December 2022: 15) employees in the
China and overseas offices. The staff costs of the Group, including Directors’
emoluments, employees’ salaries and commissions, retirement benefit scheme
contributions and other benefits amounted to approximately HK$11,373,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$12,605,000).

Employees are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and
performance, also taking into account the prevailing market rates to ensure
competitiveness. Other fringe benefits such as medical insurance,
benefits and discretionary bonus are offered to all employees.

retirement

The Group provides training programmes for staff professional development
so that the employees are better equipped and work efficiently which are
favourable to the long-term development of the Group. Training programmes
are classified into two types based on target and purpose: internal training
and external training. For example, external training programmes related to
Dangerous Goods Regulations are attended by our employees who need
to deal with those IT products that should be handled with care. Whereas
for internal training, the Company organises team building activities and
workshops regularly in the Hong Kong office in order to enhance team spirit.
The Group supports staff training programmes by offering employees to attend
continuing professional development and training courses during working days
and training sponsorship.

A share option scheme was approved and adopted at the annual general
meeting of the Company on 11 November 2016.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group financed its daily
operations with internally generated resources. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had net current assets of approximately HK$136,060,000 (31 December
2022: approximately HK$142,332,000) and cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$104,485,000 (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$138,122,000). The Group had no borrowings outstanding as at 31
December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio, which is calculated on the basis
of total debts over total equity of the Group, was approximately 4.2% (2022:
approximately 8.6%).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had an authorised share capital of
HK$80,000,000 divided into 400,000,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.20
each, of which 23,433,783 shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were in
issue. No convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights by the
Company or its subsidiaries were outstanding during the year.

The Group did not have any borrowings during the year ended 31 December
2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group held 21% interest in
4Square Return GmbH (“4Square”), which was classified as the Group’s
interest in an associate in the consolidated statement of financial position.
As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 4 June 2018, the
Group acquired 2 shares in 4Square which represent 21% of the entire issued
share capital of 4Square at a consideration of EUR1,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,508,000). The carrying amount of the Group’s interest
in 4Square was approximately HK$9,670,000 as at 31 December 2023, which
represents approximately 5.9% of the total consolidated assets of the Group as
at 31 December 2023. 4Square is principally engaged in businesses including
compliance consulting and the provision of take back services etc. While no
dividend was declared by 4Square during FY2023, a profit of approximately
HK$1,593,000 representing the Group’s share of results of 4Square was
recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023. For further details, please refer to note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The management of the Group will diligently monitor and conduct thorough
analyses of the return on investment by closely observing the performance and
outcomes of the investments. The management of the Group aims to ensure
optimal allocation of resources and make investment strategy that align with the
Group’s objectives and growth trajectory.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not hold any significant investments during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group did not make any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, no assets of Group were pledged as collaterals.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

To continue executing its investment plan of augmenting its international
distribution and fulfilment capabilities, the Group may, depending on
circumstances and market conditions, consider the need for fundraising and/
or financing from time to time in order to strengthen its human resources,
plant and equipment and working capital. This will enable the Group to not
only serve the distribution and fulfilment requirements of its own products, but
also acquire the capabilities to support strategic third-party business partners
with innovative revenue models with a view to delivering enhanced value to the
Shareholders.

In addition, to accelerate the Group’s capabilities to offer innovative revenue
models in relation to IT hardware distribution and fulfilment support, the Board
may contemplate selective strategic investments by means of stock and/or
cash when suitable opportunities arise.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Japan, Australia, Taiwan, US and
Europe with most of the transactions settled in HK$, United States dollars
(“USD”) and Euro. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various
currencies, primarily with respect to USD and Euro. The management of the
Group has formulated a policy to manage the foreign exchange risk against
the functional currencies of the Group. It mainly includes managing the
foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign
exchange exposures and would consider the use of foreign exchange contracts
to manage foreign exchange risks, where appropriate. The Group did not enter
into any foreign currency derivative financial instruments for the year ended 31
December 2023. The Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging
purposes during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (B&#%74) (“Ms. Chen”), aged 61, was appointed
as an executive Director on 10 June 2016 and the chief executive officer
of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”), the compliance officer of
the Company on 15 May 2020. She is a senior director of Hon Hai Precision
Industry Co., Ltd (“Hon Hai”) and the head of its global service solutions
division. She was previously a manager in Foxconn Assembly LLC. during
2003 and 2007, where she was responsible for cost management for the
global service solutions division in Houston Site. Ms. Chen worked in Intoka
Software, Inc. as a software developer from 1997 to 2001 where she was
primarily responsible for developing software resources management systems.
Ms. Chen was previously a researcher in the department of meteorology in the
University of Utah between 1995 to 1996 and an associate researcher at the
Central Weather Bureau in Taiwan from 1987 to 1992. Ms. Chen obtained a
postgraduate degree in Atmospheric Sciences from National Taiwan University
in 1987.

Mr. Han Chun-Wei (8 Z1&) (“Mr. Han”), aged 40, was appointed as an
executive Director and chief financial officer on 31 May 2019. He is the finance
manager of Business Group E of Hon Hai. Mr. Han worked in a managerial
grade position in the assurance department of an international accounting
firm from 2006 to 2008. He was previously the finance manager of Ever-Island
Group, where he was responsible for finance and accounting work of the
abovementioned company in Suzhou and Dongguan, China. Mr. Han holds a
bachelor’s degree in accounting from National Chengchi University in Taiwan
and a master’s degree in financial engineering from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (“Mr. Chang”), aged 54, has been appointed as
a non-executive Director and the chairman of the Board and a member of
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
on 14 April 2023. Mr. Chang has about 31 years’ experience in the information
and communication technology industry. From 1995 to 2001, he served as the
head of the global operations management at Universal Scientific Industrial
Co., Ltd (2350-TW). From 2002 to 2008, he was the chairman’s special advisor
at Taiwan Green Point Enterprises Co., Ltd. Since May 2009, Mr. Chang has
been a member of the corporate management information division in Hon
Hai, focusing on group business strategy, operation control and performance
analysis management.
controlling division in Hon Hai.
director of industrial computer manufacturer ENNOCONN Technology Co.,
Ltd. (6414-TW) on behalf of Hon Hai. Mr. Chang is currently a non-executive
director of FIH Mobile Limited (stock code: 2038, the share of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Automatic Control Engineering from Feng Chia University in 1992

He is currently an associate of the headquarter
He currently also serves as the executive

and a master’s degree in Business Administration from the Graduate Institute
of Management at Feng Chia University in 2007. In 2007, he was awarded
the honorary membership of Phi Tau Phi Scholastic Honor Society for his

outstanding academic achievements.

Mr. Kao Chao Yang (5 83¥) (“Mr. Kao”), age 55, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 31 May 2019. He has over 25 years of experience in
the electronic, manufacturing and information technology industry. Mr. Kao
is currently an executive director of Maxnerva Technology Services Limited
(stock code: 1037), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He has been the vice president of Foxconn Technology Group
since 2015. Mr. Kao currently oversees the Foxconn Global Operations of
New Personal Computer Enclosure Group, which is both a key business and
strategic division responsible for driving initiatives across several significant
areas of manufacturing and supply chain management (fulfilment and reverse
logistic services). Prior to that, Mr. Kao held various duties within Foxconn
Technology Group including start-up manufacturing sites, directing supply chain
operations, business account management with global customer presence
and administering information technology initiatives across China, US, Czech
Republic and Mexico. Mr. Kao obtained a master of Science in industrial &
operations engineering from the University of Michigan in the United States
of America and a bachelor of Science in industrial design from Cheng-Kung
University in Taiwan.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (13 {£%#) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 66, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 June 2016. He was an
independent non-executive director of Chinese Food and Beverage Group
Limited since December 2013 until his resignation upon its cancellation of
listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13 July 2021. Mr. Yeung holds a
bachelor of laws degree from the University of London and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong. He is a solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung is a partner of Hau, Lau, Li & Yeung solicitors
and has been practicing as a solicitors for over 33 years.

Mr. Yeung is currently an independent non-executive director of CCIAM Future
Energy Limited (stock code: 0145), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li, Robin Kit Ling (F#%) (“Mr. Li”), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Li holds a
degree of Bachelor of Commerce from the University of British Columbia,
Canada and a degree of master of Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Li is a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia. Mr. Li has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management. He had held senior positions in accounting and
finance in some large corporations and multinationals, including Towona Media
Holding Company Limited, News Corporation Limited, Pepsi-Cola International,
and Apple Computer International Limited. Mr. Li also worked as a lecturer in
several accounting programmes of HKU School of Professional and Continuing
Education, and a part-time lecturer at FTMS Training Systems (Hong Kong)
Ltd for the preparatory The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
examination courses.

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (HZE#) (“Mr. Miao”), aged 49, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 27 June 2016. He is currently
executive vice president at Cathay United Bank Company Limited, Hong Kong
Branch, and is responsible for its international banking business. Mr. Miao was
formerly a senior portfolio manager with the Dutch pension asset manager APG
Asset Management Asia and was responsible for originating, structuring and
executing direct and fund investments in Asia-Pacific. Prior to that, Mr. Miao
was an investment director with the China-ASEAN Investment Cooperation
Fund where he was involved in originating, structuring and executing direct
private equity investments in the ASEAN region. He also worked previously as
a vice president at Citigroup within its investment banking and fixed income
divisions in New York, Australia and Hong Kong. Mr. Miao has a bachelor
of Science degree in Finance from California State Polytechnic University —
Pomona, and a Master of Business Administration from Pennsylvania State
University. He is also a chartered financial analyst.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Fung Po Ting (“Ms. Fung”) has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and the process agent
of the Company with effect from 21 December 2023. Ms. Fung is a manager
of the listing services department of TMF Hong Kong Limited, responsible for
providing corporate secretarial and compliance services to listed companies.
Ms. Fung is an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Ms.
Fung holds a master’s degree in Corporate Governance and a bachelor’s
degree in Corporate Administration of Business Administration from Hong Kong
Metropolitan University (formerly known as The Open University of Hong Kong).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ho Ka Ho (fZ %) (“Mr. Ho”), aged 52, is the chief executive officer of
the video surveillance business line. Mr. Ho has over 29 years of experience in
computer architecture, software engineering and digital signal processing. Mr.
Ho obtained his bachelor of engineering degree in computer engineering with
first class honours and master of science degree in electronic engineering from
the City University of Hong Kong.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2023 by operating segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 83.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to Nil (2022: HK$6,000).

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

No Shares were issued in the year ended 31 December 2023. Reference is
made to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2023 comprise of share
premium, and accumulated loss in aggregate amounted to HK$101,897,000
(2022: HK$105,074,000) provided that, after distribution, the Company will be
able to pay its debts as they fall due in its ordinary course of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association, or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 176 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme in the annual general meeting
held on 11 November 2016. The purpose of the share option scheme is to
attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), Directors and service providers of the
Group and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think fit,
grant any employee (full-time or part-time), Director or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe for such number of shares as it may determine in
accordance with the terms of the share option scheme and the Listing Rules.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the share option scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
options granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the share option scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if such
grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days, inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee
of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for the grant of
option(s) is HK$1.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The share option scheme does not specify a minimum period for which an
option must be held. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof. The share option scheme will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on the date of its adoption on 11
November 2016 and will expire at the close of business on 10 November 2026.
Under the said scheme and following the share consolidation, the maximum
number of the Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of options that
may be granted is 1,673,841 Shares, representing approximately 7.1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.
Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements. No share options were granted under the
share option scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman) (resigned on 14 April 2023)"
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (resigned on 14 April 2023)?

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (Chairman) (appointed on 14 April 2023)
Mr. Kao Chao Yang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben

Notes:

(1) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai resigned as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board
with effect from 14 April 2023 due to his responsibility at Hon Hai, the holding
company of Foxconn (Far East) Limited, a controlling shareholder of the Company,
has become heavier and he could not devote sufficient time for his duties at the
Company.

(2) Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann resigned as an executive Director with effect from 14 April 2023
due to the requirement of his other work commitment assigned by Hon Hai.
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Han Chun-wei, Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling and Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben will retire
from office by rotation. They, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
pursuant to Article 84(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

All the Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of one year and should continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Other than the related party transaction disclosed in Note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at anytime during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time for the year ended 31 December 2023 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors, their spouses or children under the age of eighteen, had any rights
to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights
during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on page
16 to 19 of this annual report.
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EEZ 18 7K INTERESTS IN SHARES AND SHORT POSITIONS

BzHEmkRXE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

HE_Z_—F+"HA=+—H EFEKREKATEE As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
THRAERAADRETMEE ZE (EEXREEBEX  and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or
BIEST1EEH RIS RE (TESHERIEMEF) 55XV debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
) 2R ERARM I ESTHEERIEESKRIE  meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
BRI ETREDBBAN SN Bz ERm&#KA  Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were required under Divisions 7 and 8
(BHERBEESRBEEAMEMECHBAIMRIE  of the SFO to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange (including
BEZEGRXE) W BNARERIEZSH K  interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
E&BIEI2KEBEFEZERMZER LR A IR such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to
BEGEM EMRAIE5.46K B E A RNB R Z#  be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required
mERBENT ! under Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:

ATET—F+"BA=+—HBHRBEBIEZERHD ZY  Long position in the shares of associated corporation as at 31 December 2023:

B
{hAEEEE
"E /A BRITRE
EE4E HEECEERTE 513 w2z RHEE B (#49)
Percentage of
the issued
share capital
Name of Number of of associated
associated shares held/ corporation
Name of Director corporation Capacity interested (approximate)
SRfERE EEEEIERNHBRAR BmEA A 17,000 0.00%
Chang Chuan-Wang Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Beneficial owner

P EXFriIREEZEN M _E_=F+_"_H=+—H>  Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
BMBEERERAANTEBITHAEREAASTHEEM  nor chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
B EE (TERIEHSRIPEKFEXVED) 21D~ the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
HEARDNESTHEERIESSRPEKAIE7RS  associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
DEBENEG AR KRB AERI KA (B3  required under Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO to be notified to the Company and
REBFZHSRBEKROBMEXHDASNEIEHESRZ  the Stock Exchange (including interests and short positions which they were
HRERR) W N A AT RIEESRHEEKAG  taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
FI2MEBEEZELEMEAEREL KA » WIRIE  recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352
GEMLEMRBIE5. 46K BB RAB KRBT Z1E  of the SFO, or which were required under Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to
AR TR B © be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

24 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



ESEHRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

TERRERKRMOKRBEARKRGZE
R,/ S%E

RIEZ=F+ZH=+—H BEZMETN UT
AT (EERERATRSITEAERIN R X ERE
B BERBALATDRRBES RIS KASE336
KEBEGFBZBEMATCHEREISRPEKME
XVEHE2RID B2 R BRAER A RBRFAIFEN
B@mEKE !

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

RRRZEE Long position in Shares
HEAT
e/ HmEER BEITRAE
KRR&TE g% ZRHEE B (849
Percentage
of the issued
share capital
Number of of the
Shares held/ Company
Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)
Foxconn (Far East) Limited EmEBA 11,853,524 50.58%
Beneficial owner
BEREIXRNHAERAR REREE R 11,853,524 50.58%

Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd.

Interest in a controlled corporation

Htat :

Foxconn (Far East) Limited#J5/8i5% TERDBRAE (—
BREEEMMIZATEREEFESTZMET (RHBA
8% 1 2317.TW)) 22 BENBAR - RIFBFRPERG > BE
AR A Foxconn (Far East) Limitedis & 2 I3 15 AR sk

B EXFriEBEEN R _E-_=F+=-_/A=+—8>
BEAAEMALT EERERATRSITERAERIN
MEEANBERBXAMERRG REEARDTESS
R ERHIEXVE 552835 S & B T a0 82 10
RIFES R PEKGEIS6HKEMEEZELMZER
@B RA -

MEE =] n\IJ

FROBEITUNGFEEAAREATBENENE
REBZEERITHEMN

Note:

Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai Precision Industry Co.,
Ltd., a company incorporated in Taiwan and listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2317.TW). Hon Hai is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Foxconn (Far
East) Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company and the
Stock Exchange had not been notified by any other persons (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in any Shares and the underlying Shares under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
— the largest supplier 74.4%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 92.1%
Sales
- the largest customer 50.1%
— five largest customers in aggregate 76.0%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, who owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions are the continuing connected transactions of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023, that are subject to the
reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules:

Service Framework Agreement

On 14 January 2020, the Company entered into a service framework
agreement (the “Service Framework Agreement”) with Fuhongjie Technology
Service Limited Company (“Fuhongjie”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of Hon Hai). As at the date of this annual report, Hon Hai is a controlling
shareholder of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholder”) indirectly holding
50.58% of the issued Shares.

Pursuant to the Service Framework Agreement, Fuhongjie agreed to provide
maintenance and value-added services for mobile phone, mobile phone
display, and Bluetooth earpieces, including checking, maintenance, assembly,
testing and packaging to the Group (the “Services Transactions”) for a term
from 3 March 2020 to 31 December 2022. The annual caps of the Services
Framework Agreement (the “Service Caps”) for the financial years ended 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$55,000,000, HK$61,000,000 and
HK$67,000,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Service Caps
under the Service Framework Agreement, as all of the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the Services Caps are higher than 5% and more than
HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the Service Transactions are subject to
the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. As a result,
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company was convened on 3 March
2020 where the independent Shareholders approved the Service Framework
Agreement.

26 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



ESEHRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BHEBRERXS @

HEERT R

RTETRELA=ZRARFHEBSE
(TS EHEZR R ©

BRI —IHE

EZR 1%

RIFHERERHZ AEBURABERENBAT &
BEAD (TEBER)) HEITER SFETRRE
MREETFEH MEBEEEIRAEEEEITER
(MHEXRZ)) FHAZZS_ZFELA=HEZZ
I IFE+ A=t H -HEEXRBENREE_SZ
EE IS —FRIEIZE+ZA=+—HIEH
BEEZFE LR (MHE LR 958,900,000
7T~ 9,400,0007 7T 529,800,000 7T, ©

RIEAFBEERNEZE T ZHE LRFETZE
AREAE BN AREBE LRZESBHBADLE
REZN6%EDLIR25% HIHE EREEEREE DR
10,000,000 7t > MEH E 3 7 1€ BB FGEM LR A
BBEET HB - FEERRASRE HERR
BB RRMIERE -

B %5 175 5%

AZEZ=FWEAZ+N\B > RXATAMICHEE
EXTERAE (BEEBFRERNETFER (BEEBTR
RFEREE FREEBTNEAETEE) 2415
RIBERY  OERE #Ee A AR -8¥-2
Y AER BRI BERT R M) (TIREX
51) BEEI I — M IRBIER S (RS » &
WA =FNA-+/\HEZZEZHF+IA
=t—H-REBENRBEE_Z = -2 _WF
ERIZZHE+ZA=+—HILtHBEEZFE LR
(TEFRJ) 937 %8,500,00058 7T  8,900,0007 7T &
9,300,0003% 7T ©

RIEBERGWEE TN LIRFAET ZERRERER
HoERAERERZESBERBENLEXZNRE%ED
1225% > B L IRBEEE#D}810,000,0008 7t > #
RFBRZ(EEETFCGEMEHRRFE20SIET Z R
FEBRAASHRE HERRETBURRMER
o

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Sale Framework Agreement

On 3 July 2020, the Company entered into a sale framework agreement (the
“Sale Framework Agreement”) with Hon Hai.

Pursuant to the Sale Framework Agreement, the Group may sell IT products,
including but not limited to raw materials and electronic parts, to Hon Hai
and its subsidiaries and associates (“Hon Hai Group”), and Hon Hai Group
may purchase the IT products from the Group (the “Sale Transactions”)
for a term from 3 July 2020 to 31 December 2022. The annual caps of the
Sale Framework Agreement (the “Sale Caps”) for the financial years ended
31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$8,900,000, HK$9,400,000 and
HK$9,800,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Sale
Caps under the Sale Framework Agreement, as the highest applicable
percentage ratio in respect of the Sale Caps are more than 5% but less than
25% and the Sale Caps are less than HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis,
the Sale Transactions are only subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements but is exempt from the independent Shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Service Agreement

On 28 April 2023, the Company entered into a service framework agreement
(the “Service Agreement”’) with Hon Hai for outsourcing its repair business
workflow, including but not limited to maintenance and value-added services
(including checking, maintenance, assembly, testing, packaging, warehousing,
logistic, related custom declaration services and sourcing of required material)
for electronic products (including but not limited to mobile phone, mobile phone
display, and Bluetooth earpieces) (the “Transactions of Services”) for a term
from 28 April 2023 to 31 December 2025. The annual caps of the Service
Agreement (the “Caps”) for the financial years ended 31 December 2023, 2024
and 2025 are HK$8,500,000, HK$8,900,000 and HK$9,300,000, respectively.

Based on the applicable size tests performed with respect to the Caps under
the Service Agreement, as the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect
of the Caps are more than 5% but less than 25% and the Caps are less than
HK$10,000,000 on an annual basis, the Transactions of Services are only
subject to the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but
is exempt from the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
The Continuing Connected Transactions for the reporting year

The annual caps and actual transaction amount for the Group’s continuing
connected transactions with Fuhongjie and Hon Hai Group during the reporting
year are set out in the table below. All the actual transaction amount of the
Group’s continuing connected transaction did not exceed the respective annual
caps.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that all
the continuing connected transactions taken place during the reporting year
were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the same on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of Shareholders as a whole. Moreover, the Company’s auditor has provided
an unqualified letter to the Board containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions taken place during the
reporting year in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, the other related party transactions as disclosed in
Note 33(c) to the consolidated financial statements also constituted connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under the GEM Listing Rules
and such transactions are fully exempt from the requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT CONTRACT

Save for the Service Agreement under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” above, there was no contract of significance between
the Company or one of its subsidiaries on one hand, and a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries on the other, subsisting during or for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and there was also no other contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during or at
the end of the same period.

28 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



ESEHRE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEWL.\Z%.L t‘t

ARBEWEBRBIUIFNTEFRIEGEM EMARA
FEH0MFZREHHAMABUMZFERIE &
2ENERIES ARDBAMBEBILIFNTESFS
REILNLe

EEAEREEABZHIMER

BREERANDEGREEAEZHFNDFMEZES

REBAADZEEES BURRRAELEZS
B BRI TR AT o

MBED
BE-F-SH+-A=+—BULER EE 2B

REIREZLBEEM R A (EERGEM L TR #
ERRAEEEGEM EMARR S 11.0MEFT L2 E 5
LtEERSEERRR I AR RF 2R T E
BEMED-

RAATISRE

RIBARBDZ2AREMRMESRAAN > ARG EDBHE
BEAENMERRAFRAPEEITRMD26%NEH AR

HRE-
AN M S 3
.L|:¥ (==

ARBHEMZEBEEER
E=PE =

EEFFHIRBERX

ABETERANENEETNRBEEL (EERBER X
B EE22E N T IEHIE4691K) MELEMBERRAEER
B

RIEHER R KRR

AERROINRAEEMTINRENHENRENR
BER - AEBECEAREETRMIRFRE|R BN
(BFEREW - SERRREREL - FR—Ba
BEENEE BEFEMAN FEERBEZT "=
F+ZR=+—HIEFE-—BEETAHRFNMA
TR E B B AR 4 o

BERENEI1ES0ED

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, with reference to confirmation which, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors, Controlling
Shareholder or their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) has any interests in a business that competes or may compete either
directly or indirectly with the business of the Group as referred to in Rule 11.04
of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public
float of at least 25% of the issued Shares at the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 31 to 50.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) for the benefit of the
existing Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. Green initiatives and measures including
recycling of resources, energy saving and eco-friendly management practice,
have been adopted in the daily operation of the Group. As a responsible
corporation, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental protection for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with related legal
and regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such
requirements. The Group conducts on-going reviews of newly enacted/revised
laws and regulations affecting its operations. The Company is not aware of any
non-compliance in any material respect with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that the success of its business depends on the
support from its key stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers,
banks, regulators and Shareholders. The Group will continue to ensure
effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group had no other significant event subsequent to the year ended 31
December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
set out in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
on page 5 and page 6 respectively of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group can be found in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis using financial key
performance indicators can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 6 to 15 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by BDO who will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the three financial years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, the
Company did not change its auditor.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 March 2024
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Board and senior management of the Company commit to achieve a high
standard of corporate governance, to maintain good corporate governance
practice for improvement of accountability and transparency in operations and
to strengthen the internal control and risk management systems from time to
time so as to protect the rights of the Shareholders and enhance Shareholder
value. This Corporate Governance Report helps the Shareholders to
understand and evaluate the corporate governance practices of the Company.

Appendix 15 (renamed as Appendix C1 with effect from 31 December
2023) to the GEM Listing Rules sets out the principles of good corporate
governance. The Company has applied the principles and adopted the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code save
for deviations from code provisions C.1.6 and F.2.2 as Mr. Kao Chao Yang
(non-executive Director), Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (independent non-executive Director)
were not able to attend the annual general meeting on 12 May 2023 due
to prior business commitment. Please refer to the paragraph headed “RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL” below for details.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board and the Management

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing the
Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring the business and performance of
the Group. During the year, the Board has reviewed and approved the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, quarterly results of
the Group for three months ended 31 March 2023, interim results of the Group
for six months ended 30 June 2023 and quarterly results of the Group for nine
months ended 30 September 2023. It has also reviewed and approved for the
changes in Directors and chairman of the Board and the Company Secretary
and process agent of the Company; and the Group’s continuing connected
transactions during the year. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the
Chief Executive Officer and senior management of the Group.

Composition of the Board

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of 7 Directors,
consisting of 2 executive Directors, 2 non-executive Directors and 3
independent non-executive Directors, whose names, roles and functions are
listed below:

Executive Directors
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan
(Chief Executive Officer, member of Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee)
Mr. Han Chun-Wei (Chief Financial Officer)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (Chairman of the Board and
member of Remuneration Committee)*
Mr. Kao Chao Yang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter
(chairman of Remuneration Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling
(chairman of Audit Committee, member of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben
(chairman of Nomination Committee, member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee)

* Mr. Chang was appointed on 14 April 2023 and he obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rule on the same date. Mr. Chang has confirmed
that he understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

In compliance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. Chang Chuan-
Wang is the chairman of the Board and Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan is the Chief
Executive Officer. The chairman is primarily responsible for providing leadership
to the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for
overseeing and leading the day-to-day operation with the assistance of senior
management. The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separate
and performed by different persons to ensure balance of power and authority.
During the year, the chairman of the Board held a meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors on 14 April
2023. An updated list of Directors is published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Representation of Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed three independent non-executive Directors and at least one
of them possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The culture of openness at the
Board facilitates effective communication and contribution of the Directors.
Independent non-executive Directors represent not less than one-third of the
Board and provide independent views and opinions to the Board in decision
making. The independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on
various committees of the Company as detailed above. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to code provision B.1.1 of the CG Code.

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
as they bring an impartial view on the Group’s strategies, performance and
control, as well as ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are considered.
All independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic,
professional qualifications or related financial management experience. None of
the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any Shares.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Representation of Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent non-
executive Directors are made available to the Board, the nomination committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and the Board assess the
Directors’ independence of the independent non-executive Directors annually
with regards to all relevant factors related to the independent non-executive
Directors including the following:

o required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability to fulfill
their roles;

o time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

o firm commitment to their duties of independent Directors and to the
Board;

o declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent non-

executive Directors; and

o no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in any
relationship or circumstances which would affect the exercise of their
independent judgement.

During the year, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the above mechanisms and was satisfied that they were adequate and
effective.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. Having considered the above factors and the
independence confirmation, the Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Nomination and the Board Diversity

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying and
nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board as additional Directors or to fill casual vacancies.

The Company has adopted a Director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code. The Director
Nomination Policy sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to
nomination and appointment of the Directors and the considerations for the
Board succession planning and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’s business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and the Board Diversity (continued)

The Nomination Committee identifies candidates for directorship from
various channels, including but not limited to internal promotion, referral by
management of the Group and external recruitment agents. The Nomination
Committee may also receive nomination of candidates for election as Director(s)
from Shareholder(s).

After the candidates are identified, the Nomination Committee will consider the
biographical information of the candidates and evaluate the candidates based
on certain criteria and make recommendation to the Board accordingly.

A range of factors are taken into consideration to identify a suitably qualified
candidate. These include:-

- character and integrity of the candidate;

- educational background, qualifications (including professional qualifications),
knowledge and experience of the candidate which are relevant to the
business and operation of the Group;

- time commitment of the candidate to the Group, taking into consideration
the other duties of the candidates; and

- the Board diversity policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall also monitor and review the implementation of
the Director Nomination Policy, as appropriate from time to time, and will report
to the Board annually. During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the Director Nomination Policy and considered it effective.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
to the quality of its performance. The Board diversity policy sets out some
guidelines for the composition of the Board in order to achieve diversity in the
Board. The Company aims to have a diverse Board composition measurable
by objective criteria, including gender, age, length of service in the Group,
educational background and professional qualifications. Given the nature of
the business of the Group, the Company considers that it is beneficial for
the Board to have some members with experience and qualification in the
information technology industry, in addition to members with financial and legal
qualification.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Nomination and the Board Diversity (continued)

The Board recognises the benefits of gender diversity. It has at least one female
representation on the Board since 2016. While the Board considers that gender
diversity may bring more diversified views at Board level, gender is not the
only factor to be taken into account in considering appointment to the member
of the Board. The Director’'s appointment is made on merits after considering
a number of factors including the educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge of the candidate. Hence, the Board does not
set any particular targets on the minimum number of female representation at
the Board. The Board and the Nomination Committee will closely monitor and
review from time to time the composition of the Board, identify suitable female
candidates from senior management and will take into account the Board
diversity policy including gender diversity in considering appointment to the
member of the Board with an aim to maintaining female representation at the
Board.

As at 31 December 2023, gender ratio is approximately 22 (male):10 (female) in
workforce and approximately 7 (male):1 (female) in senior management which
is regarded by the Board as satisfactory and in line with the industry of that the
Group operates its businesses in. The Company has not set any objectives for
gender ratio in workforce or in senior management. Appointment is primarily
made on merits of the candidate after considering a number of factors including
the educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge of
the candidate. The Group shall further strengthen the gender diversity in the
workforce in the future where appropriate.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

EEE3Et
Board Diversity

SFHITES

Non-Executive Director

BIUSFHITES

Independent Non-Executive Director

Female

, ol
Educational Background

WL

Postgraduate

7% R

Professional Indust’rgl

Rl

Finance

ITHE(

IT Hardware
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination and the Board Diversity (continued)

The Company will continue to use its best efforts to maintain a diverse Board
measurable by objectives which are appropriate to the needs of the Company’s
business. Appointment to the member of the Board will be based on merit and
contribution a candidate may bring to the Board, having due regards for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the membership,
structure and composition of the Board according to the Board diversity
policy of the Company, and is of the opinion that the structure of the Board is
reasonable, gender diversity has been achieved in respect of the Board and the
experiences and skills of the Directors in various aspects and fields can enable
the Company to maintain high standard of operation.

Term of Appointment and Rotation

The current Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for an initial term of one year and should continue thereafter unless
and until terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than three
months’ notice in writing. Please refer to the paragraph headed “Directors’
Letters of Appointment” of the Directors’ Report for details on the service
contracts/letters of appointment of Directors who served the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Article 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company provides that at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Han Chun-Wei, Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling and
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. They, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
pursuant to Article 84(2) of the articles of association of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the Board that the
above-mentioned Directors are eligible for re-election, upon evaluating the
respective Director against the selection criteria mentioned above and the
independence of Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling and Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and General Meetings

During the year, the Board held regular meetings at approximately bimonthly
intervals with participation by a majority of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 6 Board meetings, 4 Audit
Committee meetings, 2 Remuneration Committee meetings and 2 Nomination
Committee meetings were held. The attendance record of each Director at
meetings of the Board and the Board committees and at general meeting(s)
during the year are set out below:

HEER BERY
Attendance/Number of meeting
RERBE BXxg EBKZEE HFWEEE RLZEE
X8 LE EE LE LE
Annual Audit Remuneration = Nomination
general Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
HTES Executive Directors
HNREE (FE) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (Chairman) 0/0 1/2 N/A FEH 11 N/A R H
(RZEZZFM5+7HEF) (resigned on 14 April 2023)
BREAR T ((THAER) Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan 11 6/6 N/A R EH 2/2 2/2
(Chief Executive Officer)
REREE (BEHKE) Mr. Han Chun-Wei il 6/6  NARER N/A REA N/A REA
(Chief Financial Officer)
BEQLE (W _F_ZF Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann (resigned on 0/0 12 NATRER N/A REH N/A REH
ME+IHEHT) 14 April 2023)
FRTES Non-executive Directors
REMEE (FE) (WZZF-=4 Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (Chairman) 11 34  NATER 01 N/A FEEH
mE+IHEZF) (Appointed on 14 April 2023)
BRELE Mr. Kao Chao Yang 0/ 0/6 N/A FEH N/A T H N/A R H
BIEHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
BRIELE FHZEE2RE) Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 171 5/6 4/4 2/2 2/2
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee)
Brk (BRZEEELIE) Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 0N 6/6 4/4 2/2 2/2
(Chairman of Audit Committeg)
BENEE EHZE21E) Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 0/1 5/6 3/4 2/2 2/2

(Chairman of Nomination Committee)

AEWEEEREEFTTERCH ZECHRAMRE
EHREHAEBNERNENSEREER-

KRR ZEBEEMAHERRRE ERESNH
EAHESURSEAMBAERERNEZZRS
RERRBL NSt AGREEAR

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep the minutes of Board meetings,
and those minutes are available for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by the Directors.

The Company’s articles of association contain provisions requiring Directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted towards the quorum at meetings for
the purposes of approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Induction, Continuous Training and Professional
Development

The Company will organise an induction for newly appointed Directors in order
to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and basic knowledge on insider dealings and responsibilities of
directors pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable laws in Hong
Kong.

The Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training courses or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations, roles, functions, duties and
responsibilities of directors as well as the latest amendments to the GEM
Listing Rules.

FEFEERIEY

Type of continuous professional

- Directors development programmes
HIA RS Mr. Hong Sung-Tai

(R ZFE = =Fr9 5 +09H ) (resigned on 14 April 2023) B
[EF- i kedum Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan B
BERKLE Mr. Han Chun-Wei B
EREEE Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

(R ZFE = =Fr9 5 +09H ) (resigned on 14 April 2023) B
SREEAE Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang

(R —EZ=FrF+AHEZT) (appointed on 14 April 2023) B
= RFELE Mr. Kao Chao Yang B
MRS E Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter A B
EREEE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling B
mERSLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben B
Wyt Notes:
A: HEMRESRESRENASS HETEH, A attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relevant to the business or

g% directors’ duties

B: HESETEARTER

&

B: reading regulatory updates
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Directors’
Development (continued)

Induction, Continuous Training and Professional

To assist the Board in discharging its duties, the Board is supported by three
Board committees, namely the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
The terms of reference for the abovementioned committees are published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has adopted written terms of reference in compliance
with code provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, members of the Audit Committee
were Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter and Mr.
Miao Benny Hua-ben, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors.
At the discretion of the Audit Committee, executive Directors and/or senior
management personnel overseeing the Group’s finance may be invited to
attend meetings of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee normally meets
two times a year and also meets the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive Directors. The Audit Committee held four meetings
during the year.

The duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things, reviewing
and monitoring the financial and internal control systems, risk management
system, audit plan and relationship with external auditors, arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise,
possible improprieties in financial reporting, and internal control or other

in confidence, concerns about

matters of the Company. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the
truth and fairness of the Company’s financial statements, annual report, interim
report and quarterly reports, discusses with the external auditors the nature
and scope of audit before the audit commences as well as the findings and
recommendations raised by the auditors during and after completion of the
audit. The Audit Committee conducts an assessment, at least annually, of the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and financial controls system, risk
management system, scope of work and appointment of external auditors and
arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.
This allows the Board to monitor the Group’s overall financial position and to
protect its assets. The chairman of the Audit Committee summarises activities
of the Audit Committee, highlights issues arising therefrom, and prepares
recommendations for reporting to the Board after each meeting.

The external auditors perform independent statutory audit on the Group’s
financial statements and as part of the audit engagement, report to the Audit
Committee any significant deficiencies (if any) in the Group’s internal control
system which might come to their attention during the course of audit.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Audit Committee (continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, quarterly results of the Group for
three months ended 31 March 2023, interim results of the Group for six months
ended 30 June 2023 and quarterly results of the Group for nine months ended
30 September 2023, including the consolidated statement of financial position,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement
of changes in equity and related notes thereto. The Audit Committee has also
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems. Please refer to the
paragraph headed “RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL” below for
details.

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, members of the Remuneration
Committee were Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter (chairman), Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling,
Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (each an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
Hong Sung-Tai (an executive Director resigned on 14 April 2023), Mr. Chang
Chuan-Wang (a non-executive Director appointed on 14 April 2023) and Ms.
Chen Ching-Hsuan (an executive Director). The Remuneration Committee held
two meetings during the year.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among other things,
formulating remuneration policy for the approval of the Board, making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management of the Company, making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of executive
Directors and senior management and reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance
of executive Directors, approved the terms of the service contracts of
the executive Directors, and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management.

Director are remunerated in accordance with individual’s responsibility and
performance. The prevailing market rates are also taken into account to
ensure competitiveness of the remuneration package. Other benefits such as
discretionary bonus are offered to the Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
The Remuneration Committee (continued)

Remuneration by band of the senior management (including two Directors) of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below:

EREEEAY

Number of senior management

£ %1,000,000% 75
1,000,001# 75 £ 1,500,0007% 7T

Nil to HK$1,000,000 6
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 =
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The Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has adopted written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, members of the Nomination
Committee were Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben (chairman), Mr. Yeung Wai Hung
Peter, Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling (each an independent non-executive Director) and
Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan (an executive Director). The Nomination Committee
held two meetings during the years.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to implement the
Company’s Board diversity policy by reviewing the composition of the Board,
identifying suitable candidates for the appointment and re-election of Directors,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
monitoring the succession planning of Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee evaluated the appointment of Mr.
Chang Chuan-Wang as a non-executive Director on 14 April 2023 and the
Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 12 May 2023 against the selection criteria mentioned in the paragraph
headed “Nomination and Board Diversity” above and made recommendations
to the Board on the same, and assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors.
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DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each of the Directors has confirmed that during his/her
tenure as Director for the year ended 31 December 2023, he/she had fully
complied with the required standard of dealings and there was no event of non-
compliance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, continuous professional development of the Directors, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the Company’s compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the design, implementation, monitoring
and review of the Group’s risk management, and internal control systems to
ensure their effectiveness and efficiency. The objective of internal control is
to safeguard the Company’s assets and ensure its accounting records are
properly maintained, so that all the financial information is accurate and reliable.
The Group has adopted a series of internal control policies and procedures
designed to provide reasonable assurance for achieving the objectives
including effective and efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. All employees are committed
to continually enhancing the risk management measures to ensure that these
measures work in line with the growth of the Group’s business strategies and
are integrated into day-to-day operation of the business. The Board together
with the Audit Committee annually review its risk management and internal
control system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

The objectives of the risk management and internal control of the Group
include:

establishing and constantly improving the risk management and internal
control system;

o ensuring the Group’s risk management and internal control in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules requirements;

o implementing the top-down approach and bottom-up approach that
covers every aspect of the business; and

o managing rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and providing reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

In order to continually improve the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, the Group has established an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
The key procedures that the Group has established and implemented are
summarised as follows:

o segregating duties and functions of the respective operational
departments of the Group;

o reviewing systems and procedures to identify, measure, manage and
control risks; and

o updating the staff handbook, internal control manual and compliance
manual where there are changes to business environment or regulatory
guidelines.

The Board, by the top-down approach, has a particular focus on determining
the nature and extent of significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
business strategies of the Group.

Each department of the Group is responsible for identifying its own risks
and designing, implementing and monitoring the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The process involves the maintenance of staff
handbook, internal control manual and compliance manual setting out the
particulars of material risks together with the control measures as reported by
significant departments of the Group. This bottom-up approach is integrated
into day-to-day operation and complements the top-down strategic view by
identifying the principal risks and ensuring the significant risks to be considered
by the Board in determining the risk appetite and the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. Such risks would
include, amongst others, material risks relating to the environment, society and
governance.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
The diagram below summarises the complementary top-down and bottom-

up aspects of the integrated approach of the Group to risk management and
internal control.

PIEREEHE R ARAIEESR

Reporting on Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
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Audit N Board of
Committee Directors
r B—
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Risk Appetite

.

Risk Identification and Assessment
¢ BERHIAIEIERG
Effective Internal Control System
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Significant Risk Reporting

Business Strategy
and Objectives
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Approach Approach
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Evaluating the proper
functioning of the risk
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Regular reporting to the Audit
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Risk Management Strategy

Guidelines for implementing business

B & EREHR TG

Risk Identification and Assessment

¢ ERRERIRAER
Risk Control and Mitigation

BERERRS
Significant Risk Reporting

BEA94E5|

EIEEBPT

Operational
Departments

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems during the year under review, based on the
advice received from Premier Advisory Services Limited, an independent
internal control consultant, and the Audit Committee. The review covered the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control system
including financial, operational and compliance controls for the financial year.

The Board discussed with the Audit Committee on major findings and control
issues. The Board considered that the Group has implemented appropriate
procedures safeguarding the Group’s assets and ensure its accounting records
are properly maintained and in compliance of the relevant laws and regulations.
In addition, the Board also considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)
Internal Audit

Code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code provides that the issuer should have an
internal audit function.

The Group does not have an internal audit department for performing internal
audit. During the year, the Board reviewed the situation of the Group and
considered that setting up an internal audit department within the Group is
not cost-effective given the relative small size of the Group. An internal audit
function generally carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. Despite the absence of such a department within the Group,
the internal audit function is performed by the Board with the advice from
Premier Advisory Services Limited, an independent internal control consultant,
and the Audit Committee. Please refer to the paragraphs above on the Board’s
review of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems for detalils.

The Board would review the implementation and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems over the past year on an annual
basis. Having reviewed the risk management and internal control systems
during the year, the Board considers they are effective and adequate for the
Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group believes in fairness and honesty in business dealing and does not
tolerate corruption, bribery, money laundering and other fraudulent activities
in connection with any of its business operations. The Group strictly adheres
to relevant regulations and laws, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-money Laundering and
Counter-terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to the code of business
ethics as stipulated in the employment contracts. Cases of conflict of interest
must be reported to the Group’s management. Employees who engage in
business operations and represent the Company’s professional image are
strictly prohibited from using business opportunities for personal interest or
benefit. Service contracts in different amounts are required to be examined and
approved by different levels of management.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

The Group has adopted a whistleblowing policy to encourage and enable
employees and those who deal with the Group to raise serious concerns within
the Group. The policy allows employees to raise genuine concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, compliance, and other malpractice,
at the earliest opportunity and in an appropriate way with Audit Committee,
without fear of reprisal.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INFORMATION

INSIDE

The Company has formulated and established the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company are also subject to similar dealing restrictions.
The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information or any use of such information for the advantage of himself or
others. Any inside information and any information which may potentially
constitute inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated
to the Board and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside
information and other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules will be announced on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company in due course.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has arranged
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual, half-yearly and quarterly reports, other inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the GEM Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities in preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensure that such financial
statements reflect a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the
independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for the
reporting period.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, BDO was engaged as the Group’s
independent auditors. Apart from the provision of annual audit services, BDO
also provided the non-audit services including interim review services to the
Company.

BN/ BB EEE2MESEHI T The remuneration paid/payable to BDO, the auditors, is set out below:
BT
HK$
EZRE Audit services 750,000
IEEZRTE Non-audit services
—ERPPTHFEER - carrying out review on interim financial information 100,000
REWE COMPANY SECRETARY
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Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong was the Company Secretary and resigned on 21 December
2023. He was an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of
the Company'’s affairs. Ms. Fung Po Ting has been appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 21 December 2023. Ms. Fung Po Ting is currently
a manager of the listing services department of TMF Hong Kong Limited,
responsible for providing corporate secretarial and compliance services to
listed companies. With effect from 21 December 2023, Ms. Kwan Ka Ying, the
financial controller of the Company, is the principal contact person of Ms. Fung
Po Ting with the Company.

Please refer to the section headed “PROFILE OF DIRECTORS,COMPANY
SECRETARY AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” for her biographic details.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Both Mr. Tam Hoi Kwong and Ms.
Fung Po Ting undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the re-election of individual Directors. Save as provided under the GEM Listing
Rules, resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company (other
than purely administrative and procedural matters) are taken by poll and poll
results are posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after the general meetings. Notice of the general meetings, annual/
interim/quarterly reports and circulars have been sent to Shareholders in
compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings of the Company shall be called on the
requisition of any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Putting enquiries to the Board

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”)
whereby communications are mainly conducted through general meetings,
including annual general meetings, the Company’s financial reports (annual,
interim and quarterly reports), and its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent that such information is publicly available. Any such
questions shall be first directed to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square,
1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company Secretary shall
forward enquiries and concerns received to the Board and/or its committee to,
where appropriate, answer the same.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

The number of Shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a
general meeting shall be any number of Shareholders representing not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings on the date of the request. The proposal shall be directed to
the Company Secretary at the Companys’ principal place of business in Hong
Kong at 31/F, Tower Two, Times Square, 1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its Shareholders and investing public.
The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual and interim reports. The corporate
website of the Company has provided an effective communication platform to
the public and the Shareholders.

In addition, the annual general meeting of the Company is an important
channel for regular face-to-face communications between the Board and the
Shareholders. It provides a platform where Shareholders may communicate
their views on various matters affecting the Company and the Board may
solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders. Directors
are encouraged to attend the annual general meetings. Mr. Chang Chuan-
Wang (chairman of the Board and non-executive Director), Ms. Chen Ching-
Hsuan (Chief Executive Officer and executive Director), Mr. Han Chun-
Wei (chief financial officer and executive Director) and Mr. Yeung Wai Hung
Peter (independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, member of the Audit Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee) attended the annual general meeting of the Company held on 12
May 2023. BDO Limited, the external auditor, also attended the said annual
general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (continued)

Based on above, the Company considers the above Policy by way of regular
updates on the business and financial information of the Group through the
publication of annual and interim reports and face-to-face communications at
annual general meetings are effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT
Shareholding

Based on the information available to the Board, the shareholding of the
Company as at 31 December 2023 was as follows:—

HRE

FR¥FR 17 8 B BE4E 2L

Approximate

Number of Percentage of

Shares Held Shareholding

BEEAMZER Parties associated with Hon Hai 11,853,524 50.58%

H Others 11,580,259 49.42%

st Total 23,433,783 100.00%
ABRERE Public Float

RIBARBDARAIEBZENRBESAAN RAFR
B "R B EFTERGEM E TR R E11.230%F
MEZ26%ARRIFRE °

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the Company
maintained its public float of not less than 25% as required under Rule 11.23 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (continuea)

Important Shareholders’ Dates for 2024

ES e

Event

KEBFAEHHAADR21ETER
Not less than 21 clear days of
date of annual general meeting

KRERBFASHHAMMEAEXAE

KEBFAEHH (BEFEEMA)

3 business days before the date of
annual general meeting to the
date of annual general meeting
(both days inclusive)

RIEZMFRAE=+HBHZH
On or before 30 June 2024

RIZEZMENB=+HHZAH
On or before 30 August 2024

THARRRBERGES

Issue of notice convening the annual general meeting

KRRBFEAGEEHERNBRELFERRN

Book closure days for annual general meeting

REBFRE

Annual general meeting

EHBE_Z_EFARA=THIEARER ZHEBAXS
Release of interim results for six months ending 30 June 2024
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PREAMBLE

CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”, ") (Stock code: 8051) are
pleased to present its effort on environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”)
to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). Pursuant to the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (‘ESG Guide”) set
out in Appendix 20 (renamed to Appendix C2 with effect from 31 December
2023) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited,
2023 that were designed to fulfil the Company’s obligations with respect

“‘we’ or “‘us

this report describes the Company’s policies in

to sustainable development and social responsibilities areas. The board
(the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the Company, who are ultimately
responsible for leading the Group’s ESG works by overseeing the management
in the design,
internal control systems to cope with environmental challenges.

implementation and monitoring of the risk management and

Reporting Period

This report outlines the ESG performance and approach of the Group, as
well as the Group’s significant environmental and social impact during the
period spanning from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”).

Reporting Scope and Boundary

This ESG report (the “Report”) presents an annual update of the Group’s
business activities in the sales and distribution of IT products, and the provision
of repairs and other service support of IT products. Unless otherwise specified,
the key performance index calculation of the environmental aspect covers
the Group’s operations in Hong Kong. Quantitative disclosures in relation
to our offices in Australia, Taiwan, the Netherlands and the United States of
America (the “USA”), are excluded from this report due to either relatively small
environmental footprint or under establishment. While this report only covers
significant partial operations of the Group, and the Group aims to upgrade
its internal data collection procedures and gradually expand the scope of the
disclosure in future reports when appropriate.
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PREAMBLE (continued)

Reporting Basis and Principles

Based on the guidelines set out in the ESG Guide, this report follows four
reporting principles — materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency.

“Materiality” Principle:

The Group determines material ESG issues by stakeholder engagement and
materiality assessment.

“Quantitative” Principle:

Information is presented with quantitative measure, whenever feasible,
including information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions used and
provision of comparative data.

“Balance” Principle:

The Report provides comprehensive disclosure of the Group’s ESG
performance based on objective facts. Both achievements and challenges of
the Group are identified in the Report.

“Consistency” Principle:

The Report uses consistent methodologies for meaningful comparisons unless
improvements in methodology are identified.

Review and Approval

The information in this ESG Report is derived from the Group’s official
documents and statistical data, as well as the integration and summary of
monitoring, management and operational information provided by major
subsidiaries of the Group. The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure
the accuracy and completeness of the ESG Report. To the best of their
knowledge, the Report has addressed all material issues and provides a fair
representation of the Group’s ESG performance for 2023.
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PREAMBLE (continued)
Feedback

The Report is available in the “Financial Statements/Environmental, Social
and Governance Information” category of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) website or on the Groups’ website. We
welcome readers provide feedback on this ESG Report for any sustainability
initiatives. Please share your views with us by email to ir@circutech.com. Your
comments will be conducive for us to further refine this report and enhancing
the Group’s ESG performance.

Board’s Statement

Given the escalating risks associated with climate change, we proactively
addressed this challenge throughout the year by reinforcing our commitment to
integrating ESG principles into our corporate culture and operational strategies.
We focused on consolidating both internal and external resources within the
Group to enhance our resilience and demonstrate steadfast determination
in mitigating climate-related risks. Our efforts aimed to align our business
practices with sustainable and responsible approaches, ensuring the long-term
viability of our operations amidst the changing climate.

Aiming to be at the forefront of the circular economy, we are actively exploring
business opportunities in recycle third-party IT products and use the extracted
raw materials to extend the lifespan of specific products. This helps us create
a more sustainable planet while providing added value to our customers,
which can also help strengthening our foundation in “Green Technology”
and enhancing our business reputation. Our focus on the circular economy
demonstrates our commitment to sustainability and innovation.

Board’s Oversight of ESG Issues

The Board endorses the Group’s commitments to ESG responsibility and
assumes full responsibility for ESG strategies and reporting. The Board reviews
the ESG performance of the Group annually, identifies, evaluates, and manages
important matters related to environmental protection, social responsibility, and
governance.
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PREAMBLE (continued)
ESG Working Group

In charge of assessing and determining the ESG risk exposure, the
management also ensures the Group establishes appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal control systems and reports to the Board the
risks and opportunities related to ESG.

ESG Management Approach

Through a variety of communication channels, the Group engages with key
stakeholders, which also enables the Group to manage business implications
and make well-informed decisions. Through industry benchmarking, material
ESG criteria are identified, critical areas are prioritised through stakeholder
engagement, and the issues are verified through active communications with
management and stakeholders. With better understanding of stakeholder
attention to each of the ESG issues, the Group in return develops a more
comprehensive sustainable development planning. The identified material ESG
areas are covered in the “Materiality Assessment” section in this Report.

Review of ESG-related Goals and Targets

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategies and
reporting, as well as to assess and determine the Group’s associated ESG
matters. To motivate the Group for better performance, the Board sets strategic
environmental goals and targets. ESG performance is measured, reviewed, and
reported to the management regularly for continuous improvement. At the same
time, the Board continues to monitor the risks posed to the Group from these
material ESG issues. As business continues to evolve, the Board is constantly
on the lookout for new ESG issues.
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PREAMBLE (continued)

Engagement with Shareholders

The Group believes that understanding the views of its stakeholders lays a
solid foundation for the long-term growth and success of the Group, we have
therefore committed ourselves to in-depth communication with both internal
and external stakeholders and present our updated operational condition to
them proactively through various channels. We integrate their opinions with our

EEEBMARMZRIEHR . TR RSAEBIFMHES  daily operational decisions, striving to balance the interests of the parties and
Bo embed valuable stakeholder input into our strategy. The table below shows a
list of the Group’s stakeholders.
&L BEFMNE BRERE
Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholder Communication Channel
BEE o &5 o REHHUL
Investors e Shareholders e Corporate website
o BEKREE s FERFTHAMBRE
e Potential investors e Annual and interim financial report
s TERERRE
e Quarterly reports and announcements
e REBBEFKE
e Annual general meetings
o BB EHEY
e Disclosure of listed information
=] s SRERE o HEEB
Employees e Senior management e Direct communication
e 8T o B HIB/NER G
e Staff e Independent focus groups and interviews
e BEFRT o PEMEFMEET
e Electronics Craftsmen e Corporate social responsibilities activities
s BLREE o EHARIFF(E
e Potential recruits e Regular performance assessment
o EIlKRMNE
e Training and seminars
=R e X o BRI
Customers e Buyers e Customers assessment
o RRAR s RRHEZ

e Ultimate users

e Designated customer hotline
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PREAMBLE (continued)

Engagement with Shareholders (continued)

BERME
Specific Stakeholder

BEERE
Communication Channel

HEm AEE

Suppliers/Contractors

&
Community

BT

Government

EE T

RTBFEHEHERR HEREAEEZHERE
HorEREAEREKEFSNECHRETFESE2M
ST o RE B ME A LU T RAR R G B H I B IR
BRIRE B REAEH

¥

MkHi e
e Material suppliers
o BUEH

e Manufacturers

s 2EKREMMEEB
e National and local community organisations

o 2EK EHET
e National and local governments
o BREHE

e Regulators

Materiality Assessment
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HEmET G
Suppliers’ assessment
BE28E

Quality review

EEiRE
Charitable donations
EFEEE

Volunteering activities

EHEER

Written correspondence
EERGSR—REE

Statutory reports and general disclosures

To comprehend stakeholders’ expectations and viewpoints on ESG issues, the
Group carried out an annual materiality assessment within the Group and its
stakeholders. The Group uses the following process to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues:
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Importance to the Sustainable Development at the Group
o

PREAMBLE (continued)

Step 1: Identification

- In accordance with disclosure requirements set out in the ESG Guide and
based on its business characteristics and peer benchmarking, the Group
identified the following issues.

Step 2: Prioritisation

- The management of the Group collects feedback from stakeholders in
daily operations.

- The management of the Group considers the materiality to stakeholders
and materiality to business in prioritising the issues.

Step 3: Validation

- The materiality assessment result was reviewed and confirmed by the
Board; the issues with higher priority were identified as material issues.

Below is a materiality matrix plotted portraying the perceived of each ESG issue
towards the sustainable development of the Group against the perspectives of
other stakeholder groups. With the identified material ESG aspects, we strive
to ensure proper measures on significant issues are addressed adequately
throughout our business activities.

EEMITE
Materiality Assessment
° ° °
9 15 2
° °
6111419 81012
° ° ° °
422 31315172124 18 7
° °
2023 16
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

HEFNENEEL

Importance to Stakeholders
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[ EPA
Dedicated Workforce
BERRERZE
Occupational Health and Safety
& 1% B B

Employment Practices

BESIKER

Employee Training and Development
ZfbETEHRE

Diverse and Inclusive Workplace

18 & #r i K @ 7l

Employee Remuneration and Benefits
REANE (BT RRFIE%T)

Protecting Human Rights (Child and Forced Labour)

ekt Bk

Responsible Value Chain

[BE U R HE I A

Air and Emissions Control
BEREE B KREEY)

Resource Management (Energy, Water and Waste)
EHEE®E

Project Management

RIZTTED

Climate Action

M e B

Logistics and Packaging Efficiency
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BREZEEH

Responsible value chain

BERKRATZREIER

Transparent and Fair Procurement Practices
R&5

Anti-Corruption

RE R BB E

Confidentiality and Data Privacy
EmERBEREIE

Product and Service Quality Management
ERWEE

Customer Satisfaction

RS

Business Ethics

HERIRIELE

Supplier Chain Environmental Impact
HEBRSEE2 A

Supplier and Subcontractor engagement
TEELRKRER

Corporate Governance and Compliance
HEBESBEMZIRERTEEE

Supplier and Subcontractor’s Environmental and Social

Responsibility

TEAR
Corporate citizen

HEREKRSH

Community Investment and Engagement
EEHEMHEZRE

Operational Impact on local communities
RIS S B Re

Caring the Vulnerable



RIE-HERELRBS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR

AEBROURFBREERZ SN ERE LEME
RIBF - HERERETR UEERRPER-

s

AEBPARARSFAEEREXE AT EEEEN
LEEBHREZYE RFBBGTIRIERTEEER
WHRERERZIEMe EMFIRR -

BEAEEEBULEETARNRESFBAEIRIZEN
EARE BHRMANDARIROORAEIRTE > ALt
BRI BHRBERZBER HALTEELS
NEETEHRRBREALE BENELREE
B2z I MMRETERZBR) HINHFRELH
FETRERE-AEBZBERBREIERAN
ERRARAS EHERPARFBEEZEN K&
EREEEBERIEEMBERFEENIRIEZY
& BERIHR-

HRAEBRCEEEXFEETETRREZAIFEYE
B A EREEBERERAERERRE -HIWN>
BERMEZEMAZYNARERECHREAERE
DENBEMHERER LI FEBTERMPRAEZ
ERKREB R 2 (ERRRE > LU BETRIE FE K i B
BeBHMTaBREEFRAERES  ETZBRT
BRABER AEREXBEEREETENER
ER AEHRMIEESEREERBHMEFRZL
BoAEEZTERERE (TRERE)) HHER
mMARE EREEMBENBEELERERREH
Mo

ENVIRONMENT

The Group is devoted to operating in a sustainable and responsible manner,
and places greater emphasis on ESG considerations to ensure long-term
prosperity.

Emissions

The Group understands its role as responsible enterprise and aims at
minimising the impact of its operation on the environment while facilitating
its financial growth by establishing the environmental and social policies and
adopting the measures therein.

Despite the fact that the Group is engaged in business without any mass
emissions or significant impact to the environment, we remain committed to
conserving and protecting the environment, and as such, we have implemented
a series of measures to achieve this goal. While the Group’s own operations do
not have a significant impact on the environment, any process that generate
hazardous waste, such as the manufacturing of IT products, are outsourced to
authorized dealers for proper handling. The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly
attributed to the consumption of electricity from using the lighting system, air-
conditioning, and office equipment. The Group will continue to actively monitor
and manage the environmental effect of all operations striving to minimise its
emissions to the greatest extent possible.

Since the Group has taken into consideration of environmental sustainability
in its business operations, the management of the Group monitors its
environmental performance regularly. For example, the environmental
harmfulness and the capacity of energy-saving of materials and equipment
used are considered prior to purchase. Furthermore, at the Group’s offices, the
indoor temperature and the running time of air-conditioning system are preset
to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions. We also encourage
employees to make use of virtual meetings and conferences to avoid business
travel whenever applicable. The Group has no industry or vehicle usage in
the operation of our business therefore we have noted no record of stationary
and mobile combustion emission. The major type of greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions of the Group is consumption of electricity for office use, which
produced indirect GHG emissions resulting from the generation of purchased
electricity.
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B (& Emissions (continued)

B REREHK Indirect GHG emissions
B

—atikEsE == —E_—

Unit (COze) 2023 2022

AER B e (85852) Energy indirect emissions (Scope 2)

BAOFER Electricity consumed F= 16,749.33 16,222.36
kg

BE Intensity FTRMEE 761.33 623.94
kg/employee

Hith & Henk (85853) Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)

EENEIEE ZER Paper waste disposed at landfills F= 189.92 1,097.06
kg

A ERELE ZBERY Emissions from business travel = 2,132.50 =
kg

BE Intensity TR/ EE 105.56 4219
kg/employee

BEEWEIE Waste Management

FEBREEAEMRAZEEFTELELEERERY AR
SEZERERY HNAERELEZBESERYR
Do R R E IR PIM S BRI (R I EAEUS 1B RE
AN ER (RRERIER) - /RO EZERY
ZHE AEBZREZAOHREHRMAAXGZ
Ol o AR~ BRUR R In R D BWE  WMARAE
BEZEWER-

HRMAERAAESNENMEERNEE  F&H
BEREBREENAT RO ER - MBEERRERBEI K
R DUEEEA R

WAOER BB TRERF XA RAITNXRE
EITENUBITEAIEH A -

MBEHR TR ARNEEEREWEEEREMR
NaF SBEIEREEERFERITH -ERB
WS TERERYAR -

BIRBE | WEFTENH K 72 N B A K 2K
ME LERN A -FREABMERI > AT ER
KHAN-NAAESR (B1S RBI R M) - (e MGk e
B% o

60

The Group only generate non-hazardous solid wastes such as domestic wastes
and paper in daily office operations. As the Group produces insignificant
number of non-hazardous wastes, they are collected and processed by the
property management, hence the related Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”)
are unavailable. In order to reduce the number of non-hazardous wastes, the
Group engages a cleaning contractor to handle recycling of sensitive paper
documents. Paper wastes, plastic bottles and aluminium cans would be
collected separately by putting them in the designated recycle boxes in offices.

As paper usage in the office would impose burden on forestry resources,
the Group has actively promoted the “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle” policy to
promote paper conservation as follows:

Reduce: encourages staff to read electronic files instead of printing out
documents or printing on both sides to create a paperless office.

Reuse: installs boxes next to printers and photocopying machines to collect
used single-sided papers, encourages employees to use these papers for draft
print out. Reuses paper boxes for storage purposes.

Recycle: used ink and toner cartridges of printers and photocopying machines
are collected for recycling. Other than saving paper measures, we also use
KHAN-NA paper, a unique model of sustainable fibre, which mitigates global
warming.
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BEEWMEE (& Waste Management (continued)

FREEZEEY Wastes Generated
B —EZ= - S
Unit 2023 2022

oRFEA Paper usage iz 0.19 0.23
tonnes

BRFEARE Paper usage intensity i =] 0.0086 0.0088
tonnes/employee

BRER Use of Resources

ERNAEENZHLEE FEERQAENERBFE
HEERFEKEBIERSEFEERBERKER A
REMREBRAENEAEMFEMLREFTE
HE g WEERIGEKBHE  TEANERRE
BREMIER HNEKEMTERM WAL BRTE A
KEERER - RN BREPBEST TS ERIKR
73 E Ik AE R RE o

AEEREBARERINNABZEZERRIVITAER
E-AEEZBMVAE - HBABERINARARRR
REZENBEDIERAEERFARIRERIR B
FENRENTE-

THAMETELRERE T TUER  EHR R
FEMARBABEBBM - BREERABEARN LES
ERAFMAARAABRARB - HABMBEEEES
B AEEGBETEUEEREFXESINEEX
o BERAR BRITNERXHREEREX
o BERBEEITN LS RFERPRAER
KFBGTRRG BV BHERELENBERRE

SRR ES

Due to the Group’s business nature, the energy, power, and water utilisation
of the Group’s offices do not rely heavily on energy consumption nor water
resources. Since our water consumption in the Hong Kong office is minimal
and managed by the building management, therefore the data for water
consumption cannot be retrieved and the disclosure for the related KPI is
unavailable. As water consumption has been minimal, no water efficiency target
has been set. We did not have any issues in sourcing water fit for purpose
during the Reporting Period.

The Group is committed to building an environmentally friendly working
atmosphere that conserves natural resources. The Group strives to minimise
environmental impact by saving electricity, encouraging recycling of office
supplies, and using environmentally friendly equipment and tools in its
operations.

The air-conditioning system is maintained at 25 degrees Celsius. Additionally,
a timer is set to automatically switch off the system during non-office hours.
Deploy natural light as much as possible and switch off lighting and electrical
devices when not in use. For office consumables consumption management,
the Group encourages its employees to handle documents electronically. When
the use of paper is necessary, double-sided printing is suggested except the
printing for formal and confidential documents. In addition, video-conference
systems have been installed in our offices to reduce business travel emissions
and increase communication efficiency.
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IRIZ @ ENVIRONMENT (continued)
BRER (&) Use of Resources (continued)
BETRFEHE Energy Consumption
Bl == &
Unit 2023 2022
fiERERFE A Indirect energy consumption
FrigE /7 Purchased electricity JEFLEF 42.95 41.60
MWh
BE Intensity KRB/ BE 1.95 1.60
MWh/employee
AEETRGTLEERERANEKEEZ BT -Z - — The Group also established a five-year target energy-use efficiency target
FHREE ((ZEZ—8E) EHKEZER LR/ of reducing energy use by 10% based on financial year 2021 (“FY2021”)
10%ZBERERAE-AEREMZEREHAYRZEE levels for electricity. To achieve our energy-use efficiency target, the Group
2 RERREEREZFERLDER WEEAK  has adopted the Reduce, Replace and Reuse approach, in line with national
BIRBEZHZ HMAZEBEAERETTIHESLL  initiatives. Our managerial staff will perform periodic reviews to monitor the

BE i i o progress.

ERR Bz

Issue Target

BE RSP UNZEBZ_-—UFEAREE R_Z A EAHAETREHN EE2K3) BE e84 EEZAEKRE
B350 BA10%

GHG Emissions

By 2026, reduce GHG emissions (Scope 2 & 3) intensity by COz2e per employee by 10% compared

to a FY2021 baseline.

EEEY)
Waste

REEHE 2EEREZERERIOEAEME

BEEIHEIEBTEERE RERUE RARKASIE
AEZBBERERRF -

RERRXABR

FEFEPRERIBEREE
TR E o

BEROHRERRAE

BEREFUHE AEATEEBREETESEY 75
Tﬁmﬁtiéiﬁﬁﬁéﬁm%%$% BHE_ZT
CEE+ A=+ —HUEFE AERTAANEBEA
%k?ﬁ BRER CRERBEN MK T thHE

BEREEEEVELEZCABERBREERER
z%ao
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UZBZ—UFEREE,
By 2026, reduce waste generation intensity by 10%, compared to a FY2021 baseline.

RIBZRERRBEENEEEERI10%-

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed a minimal amount of
packaging materials for our trading products, however, the corresponding
quantitative data is unable to be retrieved. We shall improve our data collection
procedure on this area in coming years.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Group values environmentally friendly operations and minimises the impact
on the environment and natural resources.

Due to the nature of our business, the Group does not directly generate
industrial pollutants and is not aware of any significant generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
is not aware of any material non-compliance issues in respect of any applicable
laws and regulations on environmental protection relating to air, greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Climate Change

The Group understands that climate change is a global issue that affects
everyone around the world. With respect to the recommendations of the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”), the table below
outlines the four essential elements of the Group’s response to the climate
change disclosure obligations.

BLER I EEE [E e

Core element The Group’s response

&h BRRE - HERERTEZEREE
FIRGE - EREAEE (BRERGEBZER MALFRRRE

Governance Regular meetings on ESG topics
Incorporating ESG matters, including those related to climate, into corporate decision-marking
processes

B THERERBLEHIMERSESEE L ARRES

Strategy Understanding climate risks and recognising the risks and opportunities associated with the

transition to a low-carbon economy

REEEE EHBARR e RERRR
7 [ 6 B A8 7 e B M 0 HE A
HIET I B B IR E RS R E AR 2 15 hE
Risk Management Reviewing ESG risks on a regular basis
Preparing for the transition to a low-carbon economy
Establishing and implementing measures to manage physical climate risks

BIRE AR TR D BEREA R ERBEIMZIER R ER  WEBIRFTHM
Metrics and Targets Developing goals and targets for reducing energy consumption and GHG emissions to achieve

net-zero emissions

AEBEHIREECHENFEERZZE TF
BRE-HEREAABABMARNEREREER
Fo LGER IR A e BAE R B -

The Group is aware of the impacts of climate change on its sustainable
development and has incorporated ESG-related risks into the Group’s risk
management system to identify and mitigate the risks that may affect the
Group.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

EEREEREHRER
Risk and Opportunity Drivers

BEMBRE

Potential Financial Impacts

=M RIEMEERRE
Acute and Chronic Physical Risks

BER R R
Policy and Legal

RIESLERREA - KKEBHEXRE
HEEZIEEREEREEE M-
Increased frequency and severity of
extreme weather events, such as
typhoons and floods, due to climate
change.

T FR Lt o
Rising mean temperatures.

TENPEKERKXAET
Varying precipitation and weather
patterns.

TFEETHSIAHRER-
Introduction of carbon pricing in
operating markets.

KEREFEERERBEEK-
Tightened energy-efficiency requirement
for electronic appliances.

EEEAZARIRERTE ZERIEMeo
Increased demand for stricter public
disclosure requirements.
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REEEEZSTEMEUWARD -
Reduced revenue due to the impact on
employees’ production capacity.

EBERBHEXREMSH M EREEBIESNIE
Kz EEREEMRAIEM -

Increased operating and production costs to
repair damage or loss of properties and assets
due to extreme weather events.

REMNEEREFE TERIEMEEERE
s

Increased operating costs to create comfortable
working environment for our employees.

AFEst A A EEERE KRR L EMEW AR
Do

Reduced revenue due to the anticipated effect
on the Group’s production capacity and supply
chain.

BB AL M-

Increased costs for procurement practices.

BRMAZIEMe

Increased expenditures for compliance.

AFAREERFIRS ZE mis R M E U AL
e

Increased revenue by leveraging the Group’s
service to enhance the energy-efficiency of
products.

BMERAKRELUREZFER -
Increased capital investment to meet these
requirements.

KWEREZENBERZENMEZE RME N
fe

Increased number of resources needed to collect
the required information for meeting these new
requirements.

ZTItRERERIIGEREZE IR
Higher potential to attract green investments to
diverse financing source.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

851 EEREERHRAER BEMBEE
Type Risk and Opportunity Drivers Potential Financial Impacts
miERBEE BEEAMEREEAZEZEAITEHRE AELERNTHBEMEMAZIEM

Market and Reputation

4 FE 58
Supply Chain

1 1M e AE TR
Technology and Energy Efficiency

BE LHERRGHERMABREKX
BEEEMRBIRBERERZ ER > LUREEFT# A&

B3R

& iR TFEERREM
Uncertainty in market signals with
increasing awareness of climate-related
issues.

RAELREIRLERA
Growing adoption of circular economy
principles.

BERANRNEBERBMOESRZES
i

Potential reputational risk due to
customer dissatisfaction with the
Group’s services.

ReEHERRBREZ T
Diversified operations and sourcing
regions.

AABERBIR B LIk
Limited resource availability and higher
pricing.

PUERE R REUIR B IR -
Substitution of existing services with
low-carbon alternatives.

B IRB A EEBEIM o
Increased adoption of green and low-
carbon technologies.

Increased expenditures to stay updated with the
current market trend.

RAEFHAEERERERB 2 MR EMEWR AL
f0e

Increased revenue due to customer satisfaction
of the Group’s products and services.

AT IZRFEEME WAL -
Increased revenue due to the shift in market
preference.

AT B REFESMEW AR LD
Reduced revenue due to the shift in market
preference.

BEZWMARERHEERE  ZTIERBELZE-
Stabilised revenue stream with diversified climate
impacts on the supply chain.

R BE A0 7 (2 T G R B B A 1 o
Increased costs for procurement practices due to
high energy costs.

ARBAAIEG MO EEREEEABONEETZE
EmMERZ WA RD

Reduced revenue as increased service costs may
urge customers to switch to cheaper options.

FBBRSERUEFESERAE -
Reduced operating costs with higher energy
efficiency.

Although the above risks mentioned may not pose significant impacts to us,
we will continue to review updates on both local and international policies and

w2 P AEME R & BB E RIRER AR MR
SRMABEABZENTHBTREZEFTERRE
Eo

regulations to identify potential climate-related risks, based on the likelihood
and impact of the identified risks, thereby improving our resilience to risks and
maintaining stable business growth and operations.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Employment

We regard our employees as the most important and valuable assets and
resources. We believe that they are propellent of corporate growth as they
provide the driving force for the continuous innovation of the Group.

The Group rewards and recognises performing staff by providing a
competitive remuneration package and implementing a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives. The Group also promotes
career development and progression by appropriate training and provides
opportunities for career advancement. Also, in order to provide a good and
fair working environment and safeguard the well-being of the employees, the
Group seriously considers all valuable opinions from employees for enhancing
workplace productivity and harmony which can help the Group to build a united
and harmonious professional team.

The Group places high regard to the compliance of relevant employment
laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare in the jurisdictions in which it
operates, including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57), Laws of Hong Kong; the Labour Standards Act of Taiwan; the Fair Work
Act 2009 of Australia; and the Labour Standards Act of Japan, and the
relevant administrative rules and measures are strictly enforced. The Employee
Handbook clearly states the guidelines relating to employment, labour relations,
employees’ remuneration and welfare to protect the rights of employees.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with the laws, regulations and policies relating to employment and
labour practices that have a significant impact on the Group.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continueq)

Employment (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 27 full-time and 5 part-
time employees (2022: 28 full-time and 4 part-time employees) in total. The
composition of staff are as follows:

BT#H% Total workforce
2023 2022
A# A&
No. of People® No. of People
-4 Eb By Gender
s Male 22 24
eglc Female 10 8
HERBENE S By Age Group
185% 2305% 18-30 years old - 1
3158 £405% 31-40 years old 13 10
A1 5L E505% 41-50 years old 13 12
5158 £605% 51-60 years old 3 5
605% A £ Over 60 years old 3 4
Feith 12 & 15 8 5 By Geographical Region
&8 Hong Kong 18 26
B Australia 8 4
=0 Taiwan 5 1
HZs Japan 1 1
RESHENE S By Employee Category
EREEAS Senior management 8 9
TEET General 24 23
= TEEBEROEAEEREE BN -AEKREEAN S The employee data shown above includes the Group’s staff in Hong Kong, Australia,

BT

Taiwan and Japan.
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1B 1% K %5 T 186l ) EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Bl (& Employment (continued)
ESTEE Employee turnover rate
—E-= g

2023 2022
¥R 5 By Gender
B4 Male 6% 8%
pegca Female 0% 13%
WERERNE S By Age Group
1858 2305% 18-30 years old 0% 0%
315 E405% 31-40 years old 0% 10%
4155 E505% 41-50 years old 0% 8%
5158 £605% 51-60 years old 0% 0%
60T A £ Over 60 years old 6% 0%
i 12 & 15 8 53 By Geographical Region
&8 Hong Kong 6% 12%
RIS Overseas 0% 0%
TR Labour Standards

FEESESEAREBS R HABBEEEMNFT
E(REE) TZ(RARERM) R(EBASFE (T
2RO B IREZE) ; BM2009F AF LT
EE); RBER(BEFEER)  BEREMZTIEHF
ERETREFFT AEBRZREBERERERE
REREETIEREGA -

The Group highly respects human rights and freedom. We strictly prohibit the
use of child and forced labour in our workplace by adhering to the Employment
of Children Regulations and Employment of Young Persons (Industry)
Regulations under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), Laws of Hong Kong;
Labour Standards Act of Taiwan; the Fair Work Act 2009 of Australia; and the
Labour Standards Act of Japan. The Group enters into employment contracts
with each of its employees in accordance with relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continueq)

Labour Standards (continued)

Comprehensive recruitment procedures are required to be performed to check
and verify the age of a job applicant before the Group hires him/her. The
procedures require a job applicant to present their valid proof of identity to
ensure that they have reached the legal working age and are eligible to work in
certain countries. Important details such as job duties, locations and working
hours of the staff are also set out clearly in the employment contract to protect
their rights and interests and forced labour is strictly prohibited. Applicant who
is suspected to have false academic qualifications and working experience
will not be employed. In addition, the Group is committed its staff with a safe,
healthy, comfortable working environment with labour protection, reasonable
remuneration, working hours and various welfare.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group in relation to preventing child and forced labour.

Health and Safety

The Group follows the guidelines from the labour departments of regional
subsidiaries to set up the occupational health and safety measures of the
Group. Our operations fully comply with applicable laws and regulations such
as the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282), Laws of Hong Kong; the Occupational
Safety and Health Act of Taiwan and the Health; and the Work Health and
Safety Act 2011 of Australia.

In addition, safety procedures are established for potentially hazardous work,
internal guidelines are included in the Group’s employee handbook to improve
their awareness of workplace safety. Employees who have health and safety
concerns or identify potential hazards should contact their department head or
the senior human resources officer. All employees are provided with necessary
protective equipment and are covered by medical insurance.

The Group has maintained a healthy and safe working environment and
recorded none of reported lost days due to work-related injuries and there
were no work-related fatalities during each of the past three years (including
the Reporting Period). For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group is
not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant health and safety laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continueq)

Development and Training

To accomplish the corporate objectives and foster a culture of continuous
learning, the Group is dedicated to support personal growth of its employees.

The Group provides training programmes for staff professional development
so that the employees are better equipped and increasing efficiency which is
favourable to the long-term development of the Group. Training programmes
are classified into two types based on target and purpose: internal training
and external training. For example, external training programmes related to
Dangerous Goods Regulations are attended by our employees who need to
deal with those IT products that should be handled with care. Whereas for
internal training, the Company organises leadership and management skills
as well as team building activities and workshops regularly in the Hong Kong
office to enhance team spirit. The Group supports staff training programmes by
offering employees to attend continuing professional development and training
courses during working days and training sponsorship. Employees are also
encouraged to plan their own training schedules and have flexibility in choosing
the sources.

FINESEFTHL : Percentage of employees trained:
—g2-= —_EFE__

2023 2022
¥R 5 By Gender
B4 Male 73% 73%
Z Female 27% 27%
HESH&E S By Employment Level
EREEAS Senior management 30% 36%
ZTEET General 70% 64%
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continueq)

Development and Training (continued)

STRE - E b2 - Average training hours completed:
2023 2022
524 FZL
No. of Hours No. of Hours
-4 Eb By Gender
B4 Male 12.55 12.21
eglc Female 17.80 20.00
RESH&RE S By Employment Level
EREEAS Senior management 17.25 14.22
ZEET General 13.17 14.13
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In daily operations, the Group also provides orientation for new employees.
Experienced employees will act as mentors to guide the newcomers on jobs.
Such arrangements may enhance the effectiveness of communication and
improve their technical skills and managerial capability of employees at all
levels. The Group also stays updated to the latest information of the industry
and laws and regulations which are essential to the Group’s operation and their
job responsibilities from time to time.

OPERATION PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

The Group values the partnership with suppliers and works together to promote
sustainable development of the industry. The Group has been continuously
optimising and improving the supplier management system, regulating the
access, supervision, evaluation, and departure of suppliers, and constantly
increasing specialisation and transparency of supply chain management.

We have established approved supplier lists, and we strictly adhere to these
lists when procuring goods or services. The Group’s suppliers are chosen
based on the following factors: background, qualification, financial status,
past performance in similar service, environmental compliance of products
supplied; quality of materials; and any background issues concerning potential
conflict of interest in supplying goods to the Group. The Group’s management
incorporates environmental and social risks in the supplier chain when
developing the risk management framework.
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OPERATION PRACTICES (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

To ensure that suppliers are consistently making efforts to minimize their
environmental and social impacts, the Group conducts regular assessments
and selection processes. These assessments are conducted on existing
suppliers to ensure their compliance with the Group’s expectations. The
management team reviews the supplier selection process to ensure fairness
and objectivity for all suppliers. This helps maintain the Group’s high reputation
and ensures customer satisfaction with the services and products provided.

We prioritise the innovation and demand for our products and services. As
such, we have cooperated with various well-established suppliers that provide
us with high quality products and reckon that a stable supply chain has been
developed between the Company and our suppliers.

The Group values communication with suppliers, including continuous
communication with suppliers in routine work and establishing strategic
cooperation with suppliers through technical support and unique competitive
advantage that can achieve a win-win situation and strengthen the cooperation

T F 151K HEBRIST SR G o (HEFEM  with each other. The Group maintained close ties with a total of 180 (2022:
BEEOEMT - 151) suppliers. The suppliers categorised by geographical region were as
follows:

#H
IR & g Geographical Region Number
5E Hong Kong 49
E AR The People’s Republic of China 22
EEp Asia 58
BN Australia 19
BN Europe 15
FEE USA 17
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OPERATION PRACTICES (continued)

Product Responsibility

The Group aims to achieve the highest possible standard with all the products
and services provided. The Group has established relevant policies which cover
service quality guarantee, safety, fair advertising, and after-sale services to
ensure that relevant measures comply with the laws and regulations.

The Group pays close attention to the quality and safety of its products and
services. During the Reporting Period, there were no products or shipped
subject to be recalled for safety and health reasons and the Group did not
receive any complaints or requests to terminate the relationship due to poor
quality and safety. If a complaint should arise, the Group will immediately
assess the complaint and conduct an internal investigation into the matter
to identify the source of the issue. The Group has a close connection with
customers. If customers are not satisfied with the quality and safety of the
services, the Group will arrange sufficient channels and staff to support
customers’ communication and provide solutions as soon as possible.

As innovation and new ideas are the key elements of IT products, and the
routine work of the Group always involves the intellectual property rights
of customers, suppliers, and the Group, therefore protection of intellectual
property rights is extremely important. Protective clauses are included in the
contracts signed with both customers and suppliers to safeguard intellectual
property rights. The Group also reviews every operational contract to ensure
that the contract safeguards the intellectual property rights of the parties.
To adhere to the Group’s intellectual property policy, it is mandatory to
acknowledge all source materials used in presentations or written documents,
including written, and refrains from using any ideas, products, or goods without
proper authorisation.

To ensure the information and data of our clients are always under secure
protection, the Group requires technical specialists to sign confidentiality
agreements. All employees are required to keep any such client data that may
be disclosed to them or learned by them confidential. We are also committed
to protecting the privacy of our employees, subcontractors and clients in
accordance with our code of practice states in our Employee Handbook and
relevant regulations, such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter
486), Laws of Hong Kong.
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OPERATION PRACTICES (continued)

Product Responsibility (continued)

With respect to fair advertising, the Group requires the employees of the
sales department to provide customers with accurate and true information on
the Group’s products and services. Hotline and e-mail are also available for
customers’ enquiries on service details to provide better before and after-sale
services. During the Reporting Period, the Group didn’t involve in any labelling
issues relating to the products and services provided.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy
matters related to products and services provided.

Anti-corruption

We believe in fairness and honesty in business dealing and we do not
tolerate corruption, bribery, money laundering and other fraudulent activities
in connection with any of our business operations. The Group strictly adhere
to relevant regulations and laws, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201), the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Chapter 615), Laws of Hong Kong.

The Group requires employees to strictly conform to the code of business
ethics as stipulated in the employment contracts and Employee Handbook.
Cases of conflict of interest must be reported to the Group’s management.
Employees who engage in business operations and represent the Company’s
professional image are strictly prohibited from using business opportunities for
personal interest or benefit. Service contracts in different amounts are required
to be examined and approved by different levels of management.

To enhance employees’ awareness of corruption risks and prevent them from
falling prey to corruption, the Group has subscribed to newsletter of the Hong
Kong Business Ethics Development Centre, which offers a full range of free
anti-corruption and ethics training to companies. During the year, the Group
has invited the management of the Group to attend online talks and webinars
regarding integrity training and ethics legacy to strengthen their anti-corruption
knowledge.
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OPERATION PRACTICES (continued)

Anti-corruption (continued)

To uphold a strong sense of justice, a whistle-blowing policy is also set out
to encourage and enable employees to raise serious concerns within the
Group. The policy allows employees to raise genuine concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, compliance, and other malpractice, at the
earliest opportunity and in an appropriate way, without fear of reprisal.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was not aware of any cases
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

Community Investment and Involvement

In order to support local development, the Group constantly aspires to be a
constructive influence in the communities where it operates and keeps close
relationships with the locals.

The Group believes that the creation of a beautiful and peaceful community
depends on the cooperation of people, corporations, and society. By working
together with various community partners, the Group believes that it drives a
positive change on the sustainable development of the communities in which it
operates.

Despite no resources were allocated to the community during the Reporting
Period, the Group is still striving to assist unprivileged groups in the society
by actively encourages staff to devote their time and skills to benefit local
communities. It gives employees the opportunities to find out more about the
issues of society and reinforce the Group’s corporate values.
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To the Shareholders of
CircuTech International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CircuTech
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters
Valuation of derivative financial instrument in relation to the associate
Refer to Notes 3.3, 4(b) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

On 19 July 2018, the Group acquired 21% equity interest of 4Square Return
GmbH (“4Square”) and the Group was entitled to a call option to acquire
the remaining equity interest of 4Square in 2023 and a buy-back option that
entitled the other shareholders of 4Square to buy back 21% equity interest in
4Square from the Group if the Group does not exercise the call option within
three months after call option expires (the “Acquisition”).

The total cost of the investment in 4Square was HK$14,508,000. In return, the
Group is entitled to 21% of equity interest in 4Square and a call option and
buy-back option at the date of the acquisition.

The Group recognised the investment in 4Square as an associate amounted
to HK$6,569,000 and the call option and buy-back option at a fair value of
HK$7,939,000 as derivative financial instruments in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the date of acquisition.

Management performed the assessment of the fair value of the call option
and buy-back option at year end based on an independent valuation report
prepared by an external valuer.

We identified this matter as a key audit matter because of the significance

management judgement used in the fair value of the options at year end
including the revenue growth rate of the associate and the discount rate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of derivative financial instrument in relation to the associate
(continued)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to valuation of derivative financial instruments for the
associate:

- We read the sale and purchase agreement of the Acquisition to
understand the details of the transaction, including the consideration, the
conditions of completion, the rights and obligations of the Group;

- We checked the terms of the call option and buy-back option in relation
to the investment in the associate to the relevant supporting documents,
including the sale and purchase agreement and shareholder agreement;

- We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent external valuer;

- We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the
underlying assumptions adopted by management in determining the fair
value of the call option and buy-back option with the involvement of our
in house valuation expert; and

- We evaluated the key assumptions used based on our understanding
of the business of the associate and by comparing the market available
data.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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(continued)

MEEFEENSEED AR TWESIEH AL From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
EHBBRERNEBNRAEE AMBEMRBAEESTSE  matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
Ho MEZBENRES FMMBLEFIE BRIEEERILX  statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
BAATF A ABEEELERTE A EBKBERMNER  describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
TR EEERERMARSETEEEEESMMWE  public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
HERBBEENARME  HPIREAFAEERSES  we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
BIBZEIE the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

EBIUCERGHMEHBAMAERAR BDO Limited

HEZSE Certified Public Accountants
BE Pak Tak Lun

HEZEHRE P06170 Practising Certificate no. P06170
EB ZE2NF=B+H Hong Kong, 12 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE+-_HA=+—HLEE

For the year ended

31 December

= T F
2023 2022
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(restated)
(e E )
A Revenue ) 152,137 368,160
iHE A Cost of sales 7 (138,346) (341,591)
EH Gross profit 13,791 26,569
Hau A Other income 6 7,638 3,941
HE RD A Selling and distribution costs 7 (1,665) (5,518)
THEHA Administrative expenses 7 (13,265) (14,559)
MERERZEH Research and development expenditures 7 (846) (1,265)
TEEMITAZRAFE Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative financial
Wz (F518) instrument 470 (1,010)
EREEEARZ B Share of net profit of an associate accounted for
— B E A B AR using the equity method 12 1,593 292
B 75 Bl A Finance costs 10 (114) (108)
BRI 1R AT & Profit before income tax 7,602 8,342
iSRRI Income tax expenses 13 (987) (3,281)
TEEGF Profit for the year 6,615 5,061
AEFEHMEEUWE ! Other comprehensive income for the year:
BEBEEF 7 EZER ZEH Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
MEBNERELCERERE Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations 1,554 (3,015)
B EEN BT EmzEE Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
FZREMEEmBRERATE Change in the fair value of equity investment at
FEZERREZ AT EEES fair value through other comprehensive income - 146
BN ERECEMNAHER Remeasurement of defined benefit plan
obligations 28 (29) -
AEEHMEENE Other comprehensive income for the year 1,525 (2,869)
TEEZEWGELE Total comprehensive income for the year 8,140 2,192
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HE+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended
31 December

= - S - 2
2023 2022
k=3 FET FET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
(REF)
HTIWATEORFERF : Profit for the year attributable to:
S VNEIEZ 2= DN — Owners of the Company 5,891 5,061
—JFERE S - Non-controlling interests 724 -
6,615 5,061
BT ATEGLREE Total comprehensive income for the year
S EUWEAREE - attributable to:
—KXRBEEA — Owners of the Company 7,420 2,192
—JEER S - Non-controlling interests 720 -
8,140 2,192
AARBEEAEBHERETF] Earnings per share attributable to owners of the
(BRRAEW Company (HK cents per share)
—EARE®E - Basic and diluted 14 25.14 21.60
AR & 2 mE U AR FE SRR MY s —HfRIE o The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

84 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



LEaMBRAR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

W+ZB=+—H
As at 31 December
2023 2022
ok FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(restated)
(RE )
BE Assets
EREEE Non-current assets
ME- BB REHE Property, plant and equipment 15(a) 41 74
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(b) 786 3,264
R—EBE B 2 # Interest in an associate 12 9,670 6,053
TEEMI A Derivative financial instrument 17 9,128 8,120
ERAEMEERGZATE Financial asset at fair value through other
FEZ EREE comprehensive income 18 1,597 1,597
21,222 19,108
MENEE Current assets
=58 Inventories 20 562 1,563
R ST B 30 e L 411 B SRR Trade and other receivables 19 37,105 14,592
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21 104,485 138,122
142,152 154,277
HmEE Total assets 163,374 173,385
= Equity
[N Share capital 22 4,687 4,687
HhEE Other reserves 23 195,227 193,669
HEtE1E Accumulated losses 24 (44,296) (50,158)
NATHEE ANELZERKFHE Capital and reserves attributable to owners of
the Company 155,618 148,198
JEPERG e = Non-controlling interests 1,102 11,486
iR Total equity 156,720 159,684
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w+=ZB=+—H
As at 31 December
2023 2022
Jiog=3 FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
(&E7))
af& Liabilities
Gk JR=Ni= Current liabilities
FETER A R E Mt FE S =R Trade and other payables 26 4,367 5,751
HEaR Lease liabilities 27 733 1,995
SHNEE Contract liabilities 242 3,479
e R IE Tax payables 750 720
6,092 11,945
WEERTHEE Total assets less current liabilities 157,282 161,440
EREEE Non-current liabilities
HEaR Lease liabilities 27 100 1,378
EHRBEEE Long service payment liabilities 28 462 378
RSB EETE Total non-current liabilities 562 1,756
FEN =R Total liabilities 6,654 13,701
R RaEETE Total equity and liabilities 163,374 173,385

AR S MR R AR B BB Y Y 5 — (AR o

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FEIFNTSBE M HBRERLEEEN _S _MM4E  The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 175 were approved and
SR+ _HBMEREBENE, TR T ESERKRESE  authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 March 2024 and were

BEE- signed on its behalf.
REESE BERRE
Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang Mr. Han Chun-Wei
BE BE
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BEZ_Z-_-F+A=+—-HILEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

BAAFEE AES
Attributable to owners of the Company
B Hitikte Rt ECE S 320 5 st
Non-
Other Accumulated controlling
Share capital reserves losses Total interests Total
(Hzt22) (Hiz#23) (Hizt24)
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 24)
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
R _E__F—H—H At 1 January 2022 4,687 196,538 (55,219) 146,006 - 146,006
REERN (ST Profit for the year (restated) - - 5,061 5,061 - 5,061
Htr2mbis Other comprehensive income
BERIEBEL BRER Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations - (3,015) - (3,015) - (3,015)
BREMZARREATE Change in the fair value of equity
FlEZERRBEZ ATEEE investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income - 146 - 146 - 146
2EKREEE (KET) Total comprehensive income
(restated) - (2,869) 5,061 2,192 - 2,192
AR BAR Incorporation of a subsidiary - - = = 11,486 11,486
‘B ZE+”ZA=+-Hk At 31 December 2022 and
“E-E-f-H(KEY) 1 January 2023 (restated) 4,687 193,669 (50,158) 148,198 11,486 159,684
AEE G Profit for the year - - 5,891 5,891 724 6,615
Htr2mbis Other comprehensive income
BERIEBEL BRER Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations - 1,558 - 1,558 4) 1,654
BNERBRBEER Remeasurement of long services
payment liabilities - - (29) (29) - (29)
EHENGEE Total comprehensive income - 1,558 5,862 7,420 720 8,140
B ARIFERREERDR Capital return to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - (11,104) (11,104)
RZEZ=F+-R=+-H At 31 December 2023 4,687 195,227 (44,296) 155,618 1,102 156,720

Littr et m BB R A S PRI I 5 — R

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE+-_A=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December

2023 2022
k=3 FAET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REEBEZHAERE Cash flows from operating activities
wEEE (R EEXZ2RE Cash (used in)/generated from operations 31 (23,435) 5,029
BEWFIE Interest received 2,955 652
B PISR Income taxes paid (971) (5,178)
REXEYR FTR) EEZ Net cash (used in)/generated from operating
 ReFE 0 activities (21,451) 503
KREXBZHRERE Cash flows from investing activities
MEBERBHLR Payments for property, plant and equipment (16) (28)
HEME -BEREZHEZ Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
Fri8sIE equipment - 19
TR HIRITEIUR D Decrease in restricted bank deposit = 31,194
Bl—EBEATZKE Dividend received from an associate - 824
KEEYR FTR) EEZ Net cash (used in)/generated from
- _fﬁff_/%ﬁﬁ_ _______ investing activities (16) 32,009
MEXBZHRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BEREESEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of
the lease liabilities 32 (1,763) (1,335)
BEHEEEZFEND Repayment of interest portion of
the lease liabilities 32 (114) (108)
JEERER CRE) 8 Capital (reduction)/injection from non-controlling
interest (11,104) 11,486
REXK (FTA) EBEZ Net cash (used in)/generated from financing
 ReFwE  activies (12,981) 10,043
BEKRIBEEEY CRL) Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
B INEEE equivalents (34,448) 42,555
REVNZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 138,122 98,850
EXEHHIBS RIREE[EY) 2 Effects on exchange rates changes on cash and
B cash equivalents 811 (3,283)
REXRZRERIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 21 104,485 138,122

I_r
i
En
o)
i
K>
S

o B AR S L B I P 5 — B BB o

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

CircuTech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is principally engaged in the sales
and distribution of IT products, and the provision of repairs and other
service support of IT products.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company has its primary listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements are for the
Group consisting of CircuTech International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “HKFRSs”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, these consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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Basis of preparation (continued)

Statement of compliance (continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets
(including derivative instrument and financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income) measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the Group’s management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group from 1 January 2023

The HKICPA has issued a number of amended HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates

HKAS 8
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single

Amendments to
HKAS 12

HKFRS 17

Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Insurance Contract

SRR ESER

ER G ENE FHBREE

18RI A R

ERUBRE

ZRBEKRS

EPE AR

HE 2R FEEEHZEE

F8FEFT A

EHBgst#EL] WMEB-XXHESE

F128R 8] T EEREAE
HERE Z IRIERR
15

HE 2R Bl

F125 BT A& £ ERA
/N

ERUBREE REER

B 551758

bR T SO o BRI LB FT A
FEBRERNBERABZFEER
MHERRNERNENEATE - KE
B KRR PRI AN ER &5
BERERZ ] NEETE B
B G AR o
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Except for the below, the adoption of the above amendments
did not have any significant impact on the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior periods. The
Group has not early applied any new or amended HKFRSs
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards and interpretations as
adopted by the Group from 1 January 2023 (continued)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies — Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

The amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and
examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help
entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more
useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose
their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement
to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding
guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in
making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s
disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in its
financial statements.

New Guidance on accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong issued by HKICPA

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) was enacted. The
Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory contributions
under the mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) to offset
severance payment (“SP”) and long service payments (the
“LSP”) (the “Abolition”). Subsequently, the Government
of HKSAR announced that the Abolition will take effect on
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). The following key
changes will take effect since the Transition Date:
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2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New Guidance on accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong issued by HKICPA (continued)

Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP/SP in respect
of the employment period after the Transition Date.

The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated using the last
month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition Date,
instead of using the salary of employment termination date.

Due to the complexities of the accounting for the offsetting
of accrued benefits derived from an employer’'s MPF
contributions and its LSP obligation and the accounting
for offsetting mechanism could become material in light
of the Abolitionm, the HKICPA published ‘Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong (the “Guidance”) in July 2023 to
provide guidance to account for the offsetting mechanism
and the Abolition. The HKICPA concluded that there are
two acceptable accounting approaches, for the offsetting
mechanism being:

Approach 1: Account for the amount expected to be offset
as a deemed employee contribution towards that employee’s
LSP benefits in terms of HKAS 19.93(a)

Approach 2: Account for the employer MPF contributions
and the offsetting mechanism as a funding mechanism for
the LSP obligation

Since there is no specific guidance in HKAS 19 on the
accounting of the interaction between the employer MPF
contributions and entity’s LSP obligation, the Group
developed its own accounting policy on the offsetting
mechanism in prior years. The Abolition has been considered
and accounted for following the Group’s accounting policy on
the offsetting mechanism in 2022.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b)

New Guidance on accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong issued by HKICPA (continued)

In prior years, the Group’s LSP liability before the expected
offsetting under the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism was
insignificant. After the Guidance is published which provides
additional guidance on accounting for the offsetting
mechanism, the Group has changed the accounting policy
to account for the offsetting mechanism to Approach 1
indicated in the Guidance, to better reflect the substance
that the employers’ mandatory MPF contributions are
deemed contributions by employee towards the LSP
benefits. This is because the amount of LSP that an
employer has to pay is net of the offsetable accrued benefits,
but such offsetable accrued benefits have already been
vested with the employees. In effect, an employee is required
to use his own money (the vested MPF benefits) to fund
a portion of his own LSP benefits. As such, the offsetable
accrued benefits are regarded as a deemed employee
contribution to the LSP benefits.

The Group has applied this voluntary change in accounting
policy retrospectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b) BEDHENATHIHEEEBES (b) New Guidance on accounting implications of the
HRIRBE LIS Z Bt abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
BHIIES (& Hong Kong issued by HKICPA (continued)
TERBRRASES M AEIES] The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption
HAEBEFREERREVBRIE of the HKICPA guidance on the comparatives presented in

PRt RHFNITE

the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and
statement of financial position:

RME ARG
REIZEH AQGESINFEE 7
Effect of
adoption of
As previously the HKICPA
reported guidance As restated
FAET FET FAET
$'000 $°000 $'000
Consolidated statement of HE_Z__£MW
comprehensive income for year +— ﬁ +—HIEEER
ended 31 December 2022: GEEEW@ERE
Administrative expenses THRES (14,181) (378) (14,559)
Profit before income tax P& Fr 1SR B 8,720 (378) 8,342
Income tax expenses iSRSz (3,299) 18 (3,281)
Profit for the year EEEEF 5,421 (360) 5,061
Total comprehensive income ZEEREIKZELEEE
for the year 2,552 (360) 2,192
Profit for the year ERABEE ANEW
attributable to EEEGF
owners of the Company 5,421 (360) 5,061
Total comprehensive income 72T #EHE AEMN
for the year attributable to rEEZEUELLEE
owners of the Company 2,552 (360) 2,192
Earnings per share SRERN (SREMW)
(HK cents per share)
- Basic and dulited EARKHE 23.13 (1.53) 21.60
Consolidated statement of === =
financial position as at +ZB=+—HMW
31 December 2022: REMBIRRER
Tax payables FETIRIE 738 (18) 720
Total current liabilities mENAEAEE 11,963 (18) 11,945
Total assets less current HEERTBAR
liabilities 161,422 18 161,440
Long services payment labilities EHIRFEESSE - 378 378
Total non-current liabilities 3F»’ﬁ§3ﬁ1§%§§§ 1,378 378 1,756
Total liabilities (G 13,341 360 13,701
Accumulated losses REtkE18 (49,798) (360) (50,158)
Capital and reserves ERABREBEANELZEERRK
attributable to owners of B
the Company 148,558 (360) 148,198
Total equity e 160,044 (360) 159,684
Reconciliation of profit before HEZ-_4+°8
income tax to cash generated ~ =+—HILFEERFER
from operations for year ended AlmAJ & E EERIRE
31 December 2022 (note 31) ZHER (M13£31)
Profit before income tax FRPTISR A& F] 8,720 (378) 8,342
Increase in long services EMERRBEEE
payment liabilities - 378 378
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(b) New Guidance on accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong issued by HKICPA (continued)

The following table illustrates the amounts that would have
been in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the consolidated
statement of financial position as at that date, if the Group
had not changed its accounting policy as noted above and
had continued to apply the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19:

PR IR AR
ERGMAE
2 HIINEE MEHBIRKRED
Backing out
effect of If accounting
adoption of policy
the HKICPA had not been
As reported guidance changed
FET FAET FET
$°000 $'000 $°000
Consolidated statement of gHE =FW
comprehensive income for year +ZA=1+—HLEEEN
ended 31 December 2023: meazElER
Administrative expenses THRY (13,265) 55 (13,210)
Profit before income tax PR PR 1SR Al 7,602 55 7,657
Income tax expenses FIEMAX (987) (3) (990)
Profit for the year KEERH 6,615 52 6,667
Remeasurement of long services EFstERHARBF ST
payment liabilities (29) 29 -
Other comprehensive income ZHEEHME2EIKE
for the year 1,525 29 1,554
Total comprehensive income ZHEEZ2EINEELE
for the year 8,140 81 8,221
Profit for the year TATEEAEEEFE
attributable to
owners of the Company 5,891 52 5,943
Total comprehensive TATEEANELEEFE
income for the year 2HEIREETE
attributable to owners of
the Company 7,420 81 7,501
Earning per share SREN (FREWL)
(HK cents per share)
- Basic and diluted —EARREE 25.14 0.22 25.36
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

EEBETA AT SETER (b) New Guidance on accounting implications of the
HIRFBEZ IR 2 Bt EF abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
g5 (&) Hong Kong issued by HKICPA (continued)
ZIBRER 4
EARGHMAE
2% EEINEE WEHBRERED
Backing out
effect of If accounting
adoption of policy
the HKICPA had not been
As reported guidance changed
FET FET FAET
$°000 $°000 $°000
Consolidated statement of RZEZ=ZEH
financial position as at +ZB=+—H8#8
31 December 2023: RAEMBRRER
Tax payables FEIRIE 750 21 771
Total current liabilities TmEREEE 6,092 21 6,113
Total assets less current BEERREBERE
liabilities 157,282 (21) 157,261
Long services payment liabilities EEIRFESE 462 (462) =
Total non-current liabilities R aEEEE 562 (462) 100
Total liabilities FER=N 6,654 (441) 6,213
Accumulated losses Reth518 (44,296) 441 (43,855)
Capital and reserves SATIHEEAELZ
attributable to owners of B R R
the Company 155,618 441 156,059
Total equity ey 156,720 a4 157,161
Reconciliation of profit before HE_Z_=F
income tax to cash generated +ZHB=+—HILLEE
from operations for year ended  FTEMATEF ELEESE
31 December 2023 (note 31) WIRE 2 HIR (H5#31)
Profit before income tax PRSI AIER 7,602 55 7,657
Increase in long services ENERERBEEME
payment liabilities 55 (65) =
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(c)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS
1 Current or Non-current!

Classification of Liabilities as

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements'’
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS Lease Liabilities in a Sale and
16 Leaseback'’

Amendments to HKFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

2 The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or
contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on
or after a date to be determined.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with
at the end of the reporting period. The amendments also
introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash,
equity instruments, other assets or services.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of these

amendments in the future will have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments clarify the characteristics of supplier
finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are intended to assist users of financial
statements in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. Early adoption is permitted, but will
need to be disclosed.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of these
amendments in the future will have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

The amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of these
amendments in the future will have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

(c)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction with an
associate or joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, any gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business
are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from the
remeasurement of retained interest in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture) to fair value
are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of these

amendments in the future will have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
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2.3 Principles of consolidation

2.3.1 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

In the Company’s Statement of Financial Position, investments
in subsidiaries are measured at cost less impairment loss, if
any. The result of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivables.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position respectively.

2.3.2 Associate

Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method of accounting (see Note 2.3.3
below), after initially being recognised at cost.

2.3.3 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment
is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from an associate are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.6.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if
they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in profit or loss, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
profit or loss on a net basis within “administrative expenses”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as derivative financial instruments are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Annual Report 2023 101



REMBRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FETHHEHBMEw

102

2.5

2.6

ME - -BERRE

WE - B KR B IR E AR R ST ER
FoRERE (NA) stE - NENERER
EETE LR HGF A R EM > 5
HEEMERERRUTBREABAD
REMANE M ORARGRER -

HEMEEE 3E5F
B REE 5&
MRERE 3E5F
Has 5&

RRAB R EREMRIBNEEZ R R
BEKRDERFEH LEHBERE-

WEEREESNEG WD £S48
BIRNBS R EEREEMAZEE T REI £ 58
(Fff5E2.6) °

FERMEERE

ME- -BERRHE EAEEENRIR—
BMEAR ZBaARNEEFEERER
SEg BT HREE R SEE A WO ET
BEAS HEEEREERTEBHLE
BI U ElE 38 2 S ERRERT o IR B £ ERIEE
EATERLENTREREBEZRS
EommBEMS  EERRAEEL
BINKBHMWEENEEEN ZHE
MANBILAHFRERA (REEE
Bfl) WMEEKTHRE - BREZIFEH
BHE BEKD RIRESPBRBIZ
AR ERI(E ©

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or
revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements, the shorter
lease term as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Machinery 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.6).

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and interest
in an associate are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (“cash-generating units”). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

Investments and other financial assets

2.7.1

272

2.7.3

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss (see 2.8),

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through OCI, and

° those to be measured at amortised cost (see 2.9),

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value through OCI, gains and
losses will be recorded in OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Annual Report 2023 103



REMBRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 FETHHEHBMEw

104

2.7 REREMEREE (& 2.7

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

273 FE (&)
EEITA
FEBRBEBHETASHENT .

BIAA  HERRENESRE
BZFHEREBEAZNEERA
BrEERBHRAGE -ZE2
MEEZFERARERR XX
FTAMBUA R IL R EENE
AR E N EIEE N EE R I
328 ) BE 42 Wi K S 1B R EL R
(B518) P25 - BEBENREBD
KPERBIUEEEZY]

#m TR

rEBRBRERATEFEREREDR
RE-MAEBEEBEZNHEM
EEBRm2YERREZAFER
mKRBE RIERIRERBER
BEMOBATERDRBEERE
i o B 7S & B WA TR B R B AL
K ZERECRBBENEBERR
BEASEMERA -REBHEMERE
WEBATFEIEFEZRERE
ZEERE R ERBEERD) I &
BAFEZEMESHDFHIE-

274 H1E 274

A EE B IR0 M B A SR B R
pAFIERZ BB TEABRZAHRE
EBEE-ERZBEREIARE
BREEEXEEM-

PEKERME  AEERBES
HHBREENFIREHMIA (TE
BYBRELENEOR) AT
675 5% > RTE B HE B P8 WO e
BEREHERBE E—PFER
MEEE3.1(b)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.7.3 Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

The Group classifies its debt instruments as follows:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investment at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investment in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investment measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“HKFRS 9”), which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1(b) for further details.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.7.4 Impairment (continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and

including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past

due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to action such
as realising security (if any is held); or the financial asset is

more than 90 days past due.

2.8 Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

2.9 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement ranging from 15 to 45

days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment of trade receivables.
See Note 2.7 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and for a description of the Group’s

impairment policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days
of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary

differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

(a)

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts

expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

2.13 Employee benefits

(a)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the
period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the statement of financial position.
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2.13 Employee benefits (continued)

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to present value.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Employee benefits (continued)

(e)

(7

Defined contribution schemes

Mandatory provident fund scheme set up and operated
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
Cap. 485 (‘the MPF Schemes Ordinance’) is categorised
as a defined contribution plan. Contributions to defined
contribution plan are charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income when the related services are
recognized.

Employee benefits — Defined benefit schemes

Long service payment under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (‘the Ordinance’) is categorised as a defined
benefit plan. Employees qualified under the Ordinance are
entitled to LSP in certain circumstances specified in the
Ordinance. There are no legal funding requirements on
employers and the Group does not have any arrangement
in place to settle its payment obligation in the future. The
Group’s obligation to LSP is measured at: Gross LSP
obligation which is estimated using the projected unit credit
method discounted to its present value using market yields
available on high quality corporate bonds (or government
bonds if there is no deep market in such high quality
corporate bonds) that have maturity dates approximating
to the terms of the liabilities and are denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars which is the currency of the LSP obligations;
less negative service costs. Under the Ordinance and the
MFP Schemes Ordinance, the Group can offset the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions against
the Group’s LSP obligations. The Group regards these
MPF contributions are deemed contributions by employees
towards the LSP benefits. The nature is negative service
costs. These deemed contributions are estimated by
applying an expected investment return rate on the MPF
contributions and then attributed to periods of service using
the same attribution method for gross LSP obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

Employee benefits (continued)

(f) Employee benefits - Defined benefit schemes
(continued)

Service costs are recognised in profit or loss, and include
current and past service costs (including result from a plan
amendment).

Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss, and is
calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure
the LSP obligation at the beginning of the annual period to
the balance of the LSP obligation, considering the effects of
benefit payments during the period.

Remeasurements of the LSP obligation, including actuarial
gains and losses, are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via
the “2016 Option Scheme”. Information relating to this scheme is
set out in Note 25.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the 2016 Option Scheme is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

- including any market performance conditions (e.g. the entity’s
share price),

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the
requirement for employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14

Share-based payments (continued)

Employee options (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Social security contributions payable in connection with an option
grant are considered an integral part of the grant itself and the
charges are treated as cash-settled transactions.

When the options are exercised, appropriate amount of shares
are transferred to the employee. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited directly to equity.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2.16 Revenue recognition

Sale and distribution of IT products

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being at the point the products are delivered
to and have been accepted, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. There is only one performance obligation.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped
to the specified location or picked up by the customer in
warehouse, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers have accepted the products, as this is the
point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature
of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Sale and distribution of IT products (continued)

Principal versus agent (continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.

Rendering of repairs and service support

The Group provides repair, maintenance and support
services for IT products. The Group has determined that
for contracts with customers under services support, there
is only one performance obligation. For the provision of
services, revenue is recognised over time in the accounting
period in which the services are rendered to customers as
the Group determined that the customer receives and uses
the benefits simultaneously.

Rental income under operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. When the Group
provides incentives to its tenants, the cost of the incentives is
recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line basis, as a
reduction of rental income.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Leases

Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (i) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying
a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the
right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited
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Lease liability (continued)

The following payments for the right-to-use on the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable; (i) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Accounting as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease are
accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts for a
modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, recognising the remaining lease payments
as income on a either a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the remaining lease term.
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2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Related parties

(a)
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A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(viy  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the group or to the group’s parent.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these
risks could affect the Group’s future financial performance. Current
year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to
add further context. The Group’s risk management is carried out by a
central treasury department (“Group Treasury”) under policies approved
by the board of directors. Group Treasury identifies, evaluates and
mitigates financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not a functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy and has not used any forward contracts,
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its
foreign currency exposure. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.
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3 HERRERw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 HBRAKER (& 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) WHHEE (& (a) Market risk (continued)

() SMEREE () () Foreign exchange risk (continued)
AEBRBREPRZINER The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the
fEt O AT AT - end of the reporting period, expressed in HK$, was as

follows:
£ BT HEE
uUs$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZIEZ= As at 31 December 2023
+ZHA=+—H
BE Assets
JRE U B 7R R EL At FE WL =R Trade and other receivables 66 - -
HERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 5,963 6 =
afE Liabilities
PEAT BR A B L FE (T 7R Trade and other payables (76) - -
£ EXoT HE
us$ EUR GBP
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
RIEZZH As at 31 December 2022
+=ZB=+—H
BE Assets
FEE ST B R e L Ath B LU RR Trade and other receivables 378 = =
HERREEBY Cash and cash equivalents 26,886 296 296
afE Liabilities
T BR AR At FE S =R Trade and other payables (630) = =
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3 HMBRAKREREw 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 MBRAKER &) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) HHEEE (& (a) Market risk (continued)
0  SrMERE (B (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
BHAE Sensitivity
AEBTERER T, BT The Group is primarily exposed to changes in EUR/
SERR -MEBERY HK$ exchange rates. The sensitivity of post-tax profit
EXEH o HRAEETEREB or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly
LBt R ABTstEzE/MT from EUR-HK$ denominated financial instruments.
E o
ZEZZF —ECF
2023 2022
Hikiax HigeBH
ShEE EfZ N EEZ
= E/ (&) X /(&)
=g 4 HE) e
Positive/ Positive/
(negative) (negative)
Change effect on Change effect on
in foreign post-tax in foreign post-tax
exchange profit exchange profit
rate or loss rate or loss
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000

BiT,/ BTER— EFt  EUR/HKS exchange rate -

increase 8% 222 8% 1,113
Bic,/ BTER—T#  EUR/HKS$ exchange rate -

decrease (8%) (222) (8%) (1,113)
o R ZEZ=F+2"H1 In addition, as at 31 December 2023, the Group
=t—H AEBRUEEYH was not exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily
FTESRKEBBITRENITH with respect to the potential negative impacts from
NEHERREZBTIERY translation of intercompany balances which are
ZRERR (T T TF translated from HK$ to EUR (2022: nil).
) o
HH 578 oo B 3= s B 8 0 BAh The HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus foreign currency
BREWNEAMFEEMBEE exposure is considered as minimal and is not hedged.
Z=Eapaiky
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Market risk (continued)

()

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
Sensitivity (continued)

Management believes that the appreciation/
depreciation of RMB and GBP against HK$ would not
have a material impact on the Group’s profit/(loss) after
income tax and other components of equity for the
year. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis is presented for
RMB and GBP against HKS.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future
cash flows associated with a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates, except for interest income derived from bank
deposits. Apart from the bank deposits held at financial
institutions, the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets and liabilities.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets at trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents. The carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents, represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at medium or large-sized listed banks
with good reputation and credit rating.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected credit loss provision
for impairment of all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic
variables impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information.

Majority of the Group’s revenue is received from individual
customers in relation to IT products sold and are transacted
in cash or credit. The Group’s trade receivables arise from
sales of IT products to the customers.

As at 31 December 2023, the top three debtors and the
largest debtor accounted for approximately 90.4% and
43.0% (2022: 89.5% and 76.1%), of the Group’s trade
receivables balance. In view of the history of business
dealings with the debtors and the sound collection history
of the receivables due from them, management believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors
saved for the debtor related to the impaired trade receivable
disclosed in the below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the provision for impairment of the trade and
other receivables based on background and reputation of the
customers, historical payment records, past experience, the
length of overdue period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the debtors. The
directors consider that the Group’s expected loss rate to be
low and no provision for impairment of trade receivables was
made as of 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period of greater than 120 days past due.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has assessed
that the expected loss rate for other receivables was
immaterial. Thus no loss allowance for other receivables was
recognised.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.1 HBRAKAR (&) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) FEEZREE (c) Liquidity risk
AEBESEFEREBEERNKRAT The Group aims to finance its operations with its own capital
BEREBES RN ERIL MENFT and earnings and did not have any significant borrowings
MEREANEERE - AERRF or credit facilities being utilised during the year. The Group
BHERNG 2B EBENPFIUEEE maintains its own treasury function to monitor the current
BIRFERRBESERILSEEB and expected liquidity requirements and aims to maintain
GEEBELEZARREMREESE flexibility by keeping sufficient cash and cash equivalents
BYERBEEE - RNREHER K generated from operations. At the end of the reporting
EEPNFERERREFEBMNU period, the Group held cash and cash equivalents and
KREWR  BHRIMEERE trade receivables, respectively, that are expected to readily
SRERELEIREMA generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.
TRBEGFEEEBERHBEES The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
AR AEHNF R B AERBIEST liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
SEMAaRsAAMEERARET remaining period at the consolidated balance sheet date to
PRI BEERED AR the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
BRESAE - AREREETARE table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
AKoPR12EEREBZEHENRE due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the
ARTEAGBR © impact of discounting is not significant.

= - S - 2
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
—FR Less than 1 year

FEAT BR 0 R EL A FE (T % Trade and other payables 2,925 3,424
HEas Lease liabilities 733 1,995

3.2 EBEXER 3.2 Capital management

KREESEERAZENS | — The Group's objectives when managing capital are to:—

J REEFESERE T USHER . safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that
BREBERELRREAEMFHER they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
HAE; & benefits for other stakeholders; and

. HERFREBARBLURLDEERRK . maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of

jKO
BT T NEEERGE  AEEUES

AERNTFRENKRENRE BORRFE
BERHITHMRUHEEELUREER-

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.2 Capital management (continued)

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company only, comprising share capital and
reserves.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debts
(including trade and other payables as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position). The Group has a target gearing
ratio at a low level.

2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
(restated)
(&E7))
HBEFS Total debts 6,654 13,701
B Total equity 156,720 159,684
4.2% 8.6%
AT EGE 3.3 Fair value estimation
(a) ZTHEE (a) Financial assets

() A FEER

AR EEN GRS HBR
KABATERIKRGEZ
TR T A2 R EFPREF
ik st - RBHEERF
EFfRBABEBNAEEE
ER FEBEREZE S ER
RESHIADA=ZE &
Bk Z SEBIM TRAR

) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the consolidated financial statements. To
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.
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RTFEER &

KEMRATESE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a)

Financial assets (continued)

()

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Recurring fair value measurements

Recurring fair value BB HoE H3E e
CEMATENE measurements Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tota
ok FET FET FET FET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
3 At 31 December 2023
+ZA=+-H
EREE Financial assets
TESRMIA Derivative financial instrument 17 - - 9,128 9,128
ZREMEARRRE Financial asset at FVOCI
NEEIEZEREE 18 - - 1,597 1,597
RZEZZF At 31 December 2022
+ZA=+-H
EREE Financial assets
TESRIA Derivative financial instrument 17 - - 8,120 8,120
ZEREMEARRRE Financial asset at FVOCI
NFEIEZEHEE 18 - - 1,597 1,597

MA R S AT @
B 128 MRS

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year.

o

KREBBRKANRIRSIARE The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

BAFEBHRE A REH transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end

2EB o of the reporting period.

E1E . HERMS MARBENETERRSZHS) EENERMIANAFTERRSHANTISRE
TR -AEEFENEREEFMANDEREAEREBB -ZEITAINARIE-

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.

B2 . WIERIER™MIE WIBHNTETER) BEENEMITENATFERAGERNEE ZEHERMNE
EFAHERMSHEMR MRBERNSEGs - HAETAATEMELEMERR AMEY
RO RYE MZT A AS2SE-

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

E3E . NM—BRLEEADABBRLIFRETEEZTSHBEEL AIZTAINAEIE - JF L TR AR
BN 1B 5 -

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is

included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i)  EELFEATEEER (i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values
EEATEPMBHmERTA The valuation technique used to determine fair value is
MRS MED W - RIEM discounted cash flow analysis. Based on the financial
BEERTER FHARRERIR budgets and forecast, the determination of fair value
EREEANETLAFERS use post-tax cash flow projections covering a five-year
B -BEAFHRBEZ period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
RBERETHERKEEXE extrapolated using terminal growth rate.

Bo
(i)  EHEAXT O] BEEGA ZIF (i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
(B3E) 2 A FEHE inputs (level 3)
ERBEE
Financial assets
EBHEMZE
KR AFE
TTEEmMTIA JIEZEMEBEE
Derivative Financial
financial asset
instrument at FVOCI
FET FET
HK$000 HK$'000
R_E——5F Balance at 31 December 2021
+ZB=+—HZz%&E 9,972 1,451
N EES Change in fair value (1,010) 146
BE 2 = &8 Exchange difference (842) -
AT Balance at 31 December 2022
+-B=+—HZ#&&% 8,120 1,697
N EES Change in fair value 470 =
P& A= 5H Exchange difference 538 =
S — Balance at 31 December 2023
+ZB=+—HZz%&E 9,128 1,597

EBHEMEERZ®RATE
SIEZERMEERITEESR
TEZRAFETRBEEIRE
TRECATIRERAY
B (BERAERERRERS
BREREK) EE-

The fair value of the financial asset at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments were determined based
on discounted cash flow with unobservable inputs
including revenue growth rates and risk adjusted
discount rate.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 AF{EMG @) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) EHEE () (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv) 1EEBABIER AN TFEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
17
R+ZR=+-HZ BAYE
Bt AEfE FORRHARE (BE=miE) €7 FORBRABRANTEZHE  HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) ~ unobservable inputs to fair value  Sensitivity
ZEZZFE "% - ZEIZE CBICE
2023 2022 2023 2022
FET FE7
HK$'000  HK$'000
ARR-BRELTRAZTE 9,128 8,120 EEWAKREE 2-8% 29% WHEEWABREHRAS E?tﬂf EEWABRE L/ (B1) 0.5% (=
EHMIE Annual revenue growth rate NEREREERRE BATESE S 15%) 82 ?fﬁﬁ?}ﬁtmﬂu/
Derivative financial instrument B WEERAEEZRERRAE  (H/) £91,280,000% 7/ (1,248,000
in relation to the interest in an %Kjéﬂ HERRZ LA ﬁ"&?fﬁ B71) (CEZZF:19,00057/
assoclate BEH L. (3,000%7)) o
If annual revenue growth rate or Increase/(decrease) in annual revenue
terminal growth rate increases, or risk- growth rate by 0.5% (2022: 1.5%)
adjusted discount rate decreases, the will increase/(decrease) the fair value
fair value would increase; if annual by approximately HK$1,280,000/
revenue growth rate decreases or (HK$1,248,000) (2022: HK$19,000/
terminal growth rate or risk-adjusted (HK$3,000)).
REERE 2% 2.3%  discount rate increases, the fair value
Terminal growth rate would decrease. BEBREELHA/ ( F% 05% (Z%
ZZE%)AATEREEM/
() 42, 119000?5m/<w,962,000
B70) (CEZZF 188000087,
(1,623,000/87z)) °
Increase/(decrease) in terminal
growth rate by 0.5% (2022: 1%) will
increase/(decrease) the fair value
ARBEEEE 14.40% 15.50% by approximately HK$2,119,000/
Risk-adjusted discount rate (HK$1,962,000) (2022: HK$1,880,000/
(HK$1,623,000)).
uﬂwﬁiﬁfb’-}/ P&18) 0.6% 8l
?ﬁ# () /1M (2,588,000
57) /281000087 (“E - F
(1,316,000%7) /1,427 000%870) o
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$2,588,000)/HK$2,810,000 (2022:
(HKS1,316,000)/HK$1,427,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 AFEME @) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) ZTHEE (&) (a) Financial assets (continued)
(iv) 1EEEAZIERALNTFEZ (iv)  Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
FIE () (continued)
R+ZA=+t-HZ BABE
Bt AFE FOBREASE (H=mie) 8E FOBRRABRANTEZHE  HEE
Fair value at Unobservable Range of inputs Relationship of
Description 31 December inputs (probability-weighted) ~ unobservable inputs to fair value Sensitivity
Z%Icf RIIE Z¥IZE TZICE
2023 2022 2023 2022
FET FEx
HK$'000  HK$ 000
S EHRAES 1,597 1597 FEWAREE 6-10% 810% HWEEWAMREES m%*‘r%’ EEWABERE L5/ (BE)1.5%
Unlisted equity security Annual revenue growth rate YHWE”%ﬁfﬁﬁ’W TEEe W@?ﬁﬁﬁWM/JT“ﬁM5WO
1 BEEHASESABREEE B/ (21700057) (CB-F
ﬁéf&ﬁﬁtﬁﬁé}a%ﬁﬁ%tmlJ@% 440,000%75/ (423,000877)) °
BEEbo Increase/(decrease) in annual
If annual revenue growth rate or revenue growth rate by 1.5% will
terminal growth rate increases, or risk- increase/(decrease) the fair value
adjusted discount rate decreases, the by approximately HK$245,000/
fair value would increase; if annual (HK$217,000) (2022: HK$440,000/
revenue growth rate or terminal growth  (HK$423,000)).
rate decreases, or risk-adjusted
REERE 4% 4% discount rate increases, the fair value &%& mEj‘:l:ﬂ/ (P&18) 1% BIAF
Terminal growth rate would decrease. fEResm/ (42) %82,0008 %,/
(70 000%7) (CFZ% : 78,000%
7T/ (67,000%7)) ©
Increase/(decrease) in terminal growth
rate by 1% will increase/(decrease) the
fair value by approximately HK$82,000/
(HK$70,000) (2022: HK$78,000/
(HK$67,000)).
BRELHRE 17.0% 17.5% BARBLEBE L7/ (4 05%7
Risk-acjusted discount rate E\ N@ # (2) /3804 (58,000
%7) /63,0087 (— %
(56,000%7%) /61,000%7%) °
Increase/(decrease) in risk-adjusted
discount rate by 0.5% will (decrease)/
increase the fair value by approximately
(HK$58,000)/HK$63,000 (2022:
(HKS56,000)/HK$61,000).
g3 Notes:

i) TTE%@E@A%HF‘ZF&EE
EHRTEBREAY
A.;!EZ%jﬁﬁ’_EL%ﬁ%f’

HMERAFERANBRBEZF
BHRABEERA8% (ZF
T 18.4%) 0

(ii)

(i

There were no significant inter-relationship between
unobservable that materially affect fair value.

The average revenue growth rate covering the five-year
forecast period was 8% (2022: 8.4%).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(v)

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited

Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group performs
valuations of non-property items required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. They
report directly to the management. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held at each
interim and annual reporting date.

The main level 3 inputs used by the Group are derived
and evaluated as follows:

. Discount rates for financial asset is determined
using a capital asset pricing model to calculate
a after-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset.

o Risk adjustments specific to the counterparties
(including assumptions about credit default rates)
are derived from credit risk gradings determined
by the Group’s internal credit risk management
group.

o Annual revenue growth rate and terminal growth
rate for unlisted equity securities are estimated
based on market information for similar types of
companies.

Changes in level 3 fair values are analysed at the end
of each reporting period during the half-yearly valuation
discussion between the management and the finance
department. As part of this discussion, the finance
department presents a report that explains the reason
for the fair value movements.
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(a)

(b)

BREZRREMZ MG

HE U ERFERRRRERE

FEEETEME -BERRFE 2GS
ERFEH MFEEREMTEER
SITRBIECIE B RINE 2 BB K
REZERERAFHZBELRFL -
WA EAFRORBREMGTZFH K&
EREmEEIENTEER BREEF
MRS ERFERER  MEKRR
HREETEHEGHRGEERR THE
%YﬁﬁﬁTﬁEZE%&ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ

e AR ZTERZTERAM
HIREEH -

i EREMEERERATEIEZ
ETHMEERTESMIAZATE

WIRAERTHEEEZEMTAEZ AT
ENERAGERMEE F~EBEBEH
FIBTEEEBAZLFHIBZERNER
SHREEZTRZBR -FIAZERR

REBHZERRZZEZFBRME
3.3(a)°

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting
estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Estimated useful lives and residual value

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar
nature and functions. The Group will increase the depreciation
charge prospectively where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives; actual residual values may differ from estimated
residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore depreciation
expense in the future periods.

(b) Estimation of fair value of financial assets at FVOCI and
derivative financial instruments

The fair values of financial instrument that are not traded in an
active market is determined using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. For details of the
key assumptions used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions see Note 3.3(a).
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(c)

(d)

Income taxes

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax treatment
is subject to judgement. If the Group considers it is probable that
these judgements will result in different tax positions, the most
likely amounts of the outcome will be estimated and adjustments
to the income tax expense and income tax liabilities will be made
accordingly.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain deductible temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and income tax charges in the period in which
such estimates have been changed.

Impairment of inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories is written down to net realisable value when
there is an objective evidence that the cost of inventories may not
be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable
if those inventories are aged and damaged, if they have become
wholly or partially obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined.
The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if the
estimated costs to be incurred to make the sales have increased.
The amount written off to profit or loss is the difference between
the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In
determining whether the inventories can be recoverable, significant
judgement is required. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by all
means to which the amount will be recovered.

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 FEMERHE @

(e)

R—HEBE AT ZEHRHE

HEAHFERELTETR —HBEERR

Z oA ERE(ER] SEE A IR (R RIZR#ETT
RERE P e R IR B EREES
BRERNATFEREERNEE - &FF
BHARRERAE kb5t

EEEREFUAREERENHE L
HEFG (\REEETERTAREE
BEAEEZREIRN SN ;i)W E %28
(EIJ’AEF{E/JIHjEEZZIKEEi&E’\\‘%?%qﬂﬁ
BERBEGSRRKREERENFRE
(uﬁi%%%'—%)) EEXFZEEERN
BREME 5 Ke(iii) bt A IR & 00 B FRAI B i
FERANBEETERR ’B,%uiﬁfﬁ’f,m;
BRARTRBAZH RN M E
B ERLGHE R ENRR a%iﬁﬁmi
FRAIR BRI RE|RR) - BIFTAE
HREASTERANFREELEETRY
& AMTBAEEFM2RNT BRI
KEXF - HRARRKBRRKREERM
ERALFEERTHEE MHBRES
EEW@mRPORBES S -

5 WAKRDEEH

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(e)

Impairment of interest in an associate

Interest in an associate is reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less
costs to sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of asset can be supported by its
recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow

selected by management in assessing impairment,

projections, could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s reported financial
condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse
change in the projected performance and resulting future cash flow
projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

KEBZWALERUWT - The Group derives the following types of revenue:
—_E-= —_E

2023 2022

FET FET

HK$°000 HK$ 000

HE RDHEITE S Sales and distribution of IT products 133,004 357,345

HERRBEXZIE Repairs and service support 19,133 10,815

AU Total revenue 152,137 368,160
AEBTEREHERDBITERULRHEIT The Group is principally engaged in the sales and distribution of IT

EmZEEREMREEE -

products, and the provision of repairs and other service support of IT
products.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”). The
Executive Directors have determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by them that are used to make strategic
decisions.

The Executive Directors examine the Group’s performance from a product
perspective, and have identified two reportable segments of the Group’s
business:

(i) Sales and distribution of IT products: this part of business designs,
manufactures and markets video surveillance systems and
distributes third-party IT products; and

(ii) Repairs and service support: repairs, maintenance and other
service support for electronic products are provided under this part
of business segment.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

No sales between segments are carried out during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022. The revenue from external parties
is measured in the same way as in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Interest income from bank deposits, interest on lease liabilities and
corporate expenses are not allocated to each segments, as these types
of activities are driven by the central treasury function, which manages
the cash position of the Group.
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5 WARDEER @ 5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

BE_Z_-_F+_A=+—HLEFERNZ

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

Bz 2EERNT : 2023 is as follows:
BE-_TSZ=F+"HB=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HER HER
DEEITESR PR %5 2 & st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEINEER ZWA Revenue from external customers 133,004 19,133 152,137
N S Time of revenue recognition
—NE KRR, — At a point in time 133,004 19,133 152,137
DERA Segment profit 4,338 3,074 7,412
IRITERFIE WA Interest income from bank deposits 2,955
HA A Other income 4,766
e TEREMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits (3,541)
TEER Depreciation charge (674)
MEEMIT A RFERR Fair value gain on derivative financial
instrument 470
VRN Finance costs (114)
KXPEABHEZ (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (5,265)
KE RN Operating profit 6,009
ERAEEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
e — BB & A B AL R accounted for using the equity
method 1,593
FRPETSMATRF] Profit before income tax 7,602
FRiEMBE X Income tax expenses (987)
RE Profit for the year 6,615
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

HE_ TS _=—F+_B=+—HLEEEKMR®Z The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

BZA|ERNNT | (&

2023 is as follows: (continued)

HE_Z-=—HE+-"F=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

HER HER
DEEITER BR# % 1R E st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of  and service
IT products support  Unallocated Total
FAET FAET FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ME- BB RREITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14 28 7 49
FRESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 655 424 667 1,746
FRERD Net reversal of provision (56) (144) - (200)
MERERE W Research and development
expenditures 846 - - 846
REFERDEE Additions to non-current assets - - 16 16
BE_Z_=F+”"_BA=+—HLEE
As at 31 December 2023
HE R HIER
DEITE S R#EZE 45t
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FAET FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AE2RSEEE Reportable segment assets 38,055 1,626 39,681
R—REBE Bz Interest in an associate 9,670
TEEMIA Derivative financial instrument 9,128
RBEMREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 104,485
APERBEE Unallocated corporate assets 410

FEPMBERRERNZBEE

AERNEERE
FEfIIRIA
RKOERBDER

mEMBRRERZBEE

Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 163,374

Reportable segment liabilities 2,870 1,188 4,058
Tax payables 750
Unallocated corporate liabilities 1,846

Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 6,654
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(continued)

5 WAERDHEER @ 5

HE_ S __F+-_A=+—HLEEEKRRHZ

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

HzoEERWT 2022 is as follows:
BE_Z-_F+ZA=+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HERK HIER
DEEITE R AR# sz % st
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FET FAET FET
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(restated) (restated) (restated)
(&E7)) (&&E7)) (&E7))
KB FE ZWA Revenue from external customers 357,345 10,815 368,160
N S Time of revenue recognition
—RE KRR, — At a point in time 357,345 10,371 367,716
—R—EEE - Over time - 444 444
7R Segment profit 8,977 2,447 11,424
IRITERFIE WA Interest income from bank deposits 652
Hang A Other income 3,056
e TEREMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits (2,674)
TEER Depreciation charge (1,137)
MESMTRAZAFERBE Fair value loss on derivative financial
instrument (1,010)
VRN Finance costs (108)
KXPEABHEZ (Hat) Unallocated corporate expenses (Note) (2,153)
KE RN Operating profit 8,050
ERAEEEARZ Share of net profit of an associate
e — BB & A B AL R accounted for using the equity
method 292
FRPETSMATRF] Profit before income tax 8,342
FRiEMBEX Income tax expenses (3,281)
AR E A Profit for the year 5,061
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BE_T__F+ A=+ HALEFERIRE

Bzo@EERNT @ (8

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

2022 is as follows: (continued)

The segment information for the year ended and as at 31 December

BE_S__FEF+-A=+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE R HER
DEHITE @ R#% & F vl Wt
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Unallocated Total
FAET FAET FAET FAET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ME- -BERREBINE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 60 - 1,137 1,197
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 702 650 = 1,352
(FEERERR) FEERE (Net reversal of provision)/net
provision for inventories (83) 79 - 46
MiHES Write-off of inventories 9 = = 9
MEREREZWH Research and development
expenditures 1,265 - - 1,265
REERBEE Additions to non-current assets 1,310 3,021 - 4,331
RIZ2ZZTHF+ZHBE=+—H
As at 31 December 2022
HER B
DEEITER AR# 2 1% 45t
Sales and Repairs
distribution of and service
IT products support Total
FAET FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated) (restated) (restated)
(&E75)) (R &EH) (&R&ET)
AIERDEEE Reportable segment assets 15,171 3,219 18,390
R—EBE B 2 #am Interest in an associate 6,053
TEERTA Derivative financial instrument 8,120
HeEhREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 138,122
RAPEABTEE Unallocated corporate assets 2,700
HEMBERRRAZEBEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 173,385
AE2RSEARE Reportable segment liabilities 7,603 3,315 10,918
EIIRIE Tax payables 720
E AN /NCIR=N Unallocated corporate liabilities 2,063
RERBRRERRZREE Total liabilities per consolidated
statement of financial position 13,701

Mat: RABRBAMXE-—RABMAI WRITAE
HFEREMKDBE—RRITHAX
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FEBFTZHIEEX - DMNENERRRED
EEH TRITERAEERTRUEBEZ D ZRE
SMERER ZWAZBR R AEREREEME
BRI DZIFRBEE-

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The Group’s business activities are conducted predominantly with
customers in North America, Asia and Australia. The amount of its
revenue from external customers broken down by location of the Group’s
customers and non-current assets based on countries where the Group’s
entities operate is shown in the table below.

REIIMBERZWA ERENEE
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
—E= - — === S
2023 2022 2023 2022
FAET FHET FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

&5 Hong Kong 111,890 38,839 365 1,024
Hz Japan 26,280 7,028 = =
EE (=B United States (the “US”) 6,106 207,417 = =
BN Australia 5,606 7,164 458 884
=0 Taiwan 22 74,070 4 18
YElE| Netherlands 16 31,250 = =
R [ P it Mainland China - 4 - 1,412
Hith Others 2,217 2,388 - =

152,137 368,160 827 3,338

FSNER R R ARG A E BB AB10% kR
RIHERDHTERDEE

The following external customers individually contribute over 10% of the
Group’s total revenue and are attributable to the sales and distribution of
IT products segment:

—=— = — — —

2023 2022

FHET FAET

HK$’000 HK$’000

EEA Customer A 76,210 -
EFB Customer B - 102,241
ZHRC Customer C - 47,008
ZFAD Customer D - 46,609
ZRAE Customer E - 39,126
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138

(@ &H&aE

(b)

FEBERRTIERERENZE

Th

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(a) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers:

ERBERSHBTERZSNER

—E-= —_EFE2
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Contract liabilities related to sales and
distribution of IT products 242 3,479

BNERERHAATERRANERRA
ERWRENEMNRE - R 2 =FR_
E_HE+R=+—H ANEREE
BERERESARRUBE TERRE
ERWEEMRIE e B ERRAS]
BEXRRE RS —FRNEES/UEA -

Contract liabilities represent advance payments received from
customers for goods that have not yet been delivered to the
customers. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the contract
liabilities mainly included the advance payments received from
individual customers for sales of IT products after the end of
respective reporting period. The contract liabilities are expected to
be recognised as revenue within one year from date of inception of
respective contracts.

MENBEEIAZIKA (b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
—E=HF B F
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000
W—B—B 28 Balance as at 1 January 3,479 1,426
REERDBEDFABTNEEZ Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
WABHREHNEaBERD recognising revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (3,479) (1,426)
WEFAERTRIBEE N S8 EEmMm Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
advance payments received 242 3,479
R+ZB=+—BZ4%&e Balance as at 31 December 242 3,479

FEBPESNZREAAFEH-—RS
—FHEUT AHEERERBEBYH
BEERF R BERRESF LER
BENEENREPRKAFEINRIERE
HEMBA—FHAUTHENTRREN
BEZRZERK

The Group’s sales contracts generally have an original expected
duration of one year or less and accordingly, the Group has applied
the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 not to disclose the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for the
contracts existed at the end of the reporting period that has an
original expected duration of one year or less.

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 HfhgA 6 OTHER INCOME
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
LW A Rental income 2,400 2,400
IRITERFIE WA Interest income from bank deposits 2,955 652
BREIREE QBN ERE Reversal of impairment loss in an associate 1,639 =
B I 478 B Government subsidy - 359
H Others 644 530
7,638 3,941
7 BXGREEDS) 7 EXPENSES BY NATURE
—g_= ==
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(restated)
(&=75))
1% BL M Bl & Auditors’ remuneration
— B IR - Audit services 750 700
—IEBRT - Non-audit services 100 100
FMEEEMA Cost of inventories sold 134,510 337,347
WEER (Hat15) Depreciation charge (Note 15)
—NE - BERRE - Property, plant and equipment 49 1,197
—fFREEEEA - Right-of-use-assets included within:
—fHELT M RET - Leasehold land and buildings 1,746 1,297
—"[E - Motor vehicles - 55
RBREEFHX (BIEEEMS) (B7528) Employee benefits expenses, including directors’
emoluments (Note 8) 11,373 12,605
MEET W= Gain on modification of lease (46) (9)
ERWmFER Net foreign exchange gain 887 (445)
R—EBERB 2 Em 2 BEBER Impairment loss on interest in an associate - 275
FIEE (BO) #E (BEMAHEERZA) Net (reversal)/provision for inventories
(Ht&£20) (included in cost of sales) (Note 20) (200) 46
WEEFEE (Ha20) Write-off of inventories (Note 20) - 9
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EERMFAX (BEEFEME)

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2023 2022

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$000

(restated)

(RREF)

e~ TE RHEMEH Salaries, wages and other benefits 10,941 11,739
BRE—-FRERMETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 377 488
EHR® & (H15228) Long services payments (Note 28) 55 378
11,373 12,605

(a)

BAE - FEMREE

FEBEBNEBRITHREEEHLER
REZESESENTWERERTE

— (BEREELAESEEEL IR
EMRFIEAESHE (BB
2)

- BB(EREA)RENERARBE

BEEHEAHBUREAETEZRE
HERKE B - REBBRBEEE R EE R
HESXREASRRESEBERAZS%
1,600 7T (MLBIEE = %) @ 5t &) #t

=/
;o

FEBRERRMRBENREZRER
12 B 10 IR B3B3 AR R P R A B9 i 5t R
U I AR IR Z B AR AT B o

HRREARBEEE  RRBDHNEEE
B EEERBEEENRES M|
M RERGEMELENERF U EEE
T2 EHMRA S ERES MR- H
A ERXFEERRSHNAEERN
AESFBFRBNMEREARERR
ERANEEIEMET LEEBHNRTE
BANGREFENEMNELY - MR TEF
SRIRF) BRSOFE AR EMAS N B
HESD (RMyEE28) ©

(a)

Pensions - defined contribution plans

The group has the following two categories of defined benefit plans
for those employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong SAR:

- Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance

S LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at the lower of 5% of the employees’
relevant income or HK$1,500 each month.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of LSP calculated by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned
in the current and prior periods and discounting that amount.

For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising from
the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees. Net interest expense
for the period is determined by applying the discount rate used
to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the
reporting period to the then net defined benefit liability, taking into
account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the
period. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined
benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss in note 28.
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EERMAX (BEEEMN=)

(&

(a)

BAE-FEMME (&

AEERENEECHBLAEERE A
Superannuation Fundfl &' ZE&%AH
BUZENEEZREERFTORAKEE A
EEEREBEERBBRAZI10.5%EHMER
WEEBTIMEZET LR

AEERPERBREEZNBLREEES
7P TRARERIER S > 26 E 75 B BUA
BEFZ AEHRBKTE - AEHARE
ERBWAZREBDLLEH AR A
BTHEZET LR - FITRAEFE
ZBERBDEIRIMT

HITRARE 6%
HITRE 8%
BERMARE 1 4.9%

FERBNEEREZEEAEARNK
2HE (MAANBKZHE) (FHER - A EH
BRREEBMAZ16%EZBKEZHE
AR

AEBASRETHZEZEENZ(EER
FR)EEZBEESFHUMNR -ZEES
SHABURFEABFEZREH-TRKE
Ble xEERIEERKANBABAZE
EEFTEIFH AR

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
D|RECTORS, EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Pensions - defined contribution plans (continued)

Employees of the subsidiary of the Group operating in Australia
are members of the Superannuation Fund, which is a defined
contribution retirement plan operated by independent trustees. The
Group is required to make contributions calculated as 10.5% of the
employees’ gross income, subject to certain ceilings imposed.

The employee of the subsidiary of the Group operating in Republic
of China is a member of the labour pension system, which is a
defined contribution retirement plan operated by the government.
The Group is required to make contributions calculated as a
prescribed percentage of the employee’s relevant income, subject
to certain ceilings imposed. The applicable percentages for the
labour pension system are listed below:

Labour pension: 6%
Labour insurance: 8%
Health insurance: 4.9%

The Group contributes Individual Retirement Arrangement (the
“IRA”) for the employee employed in the United States. The Group
made contributions calculated as 16% of the employee’s gross
income to the pension arrangement.

The Group contributes a pension fund governed by the Pensions
Law for the employee employed under the jurisdiction of
Netherlands. The pension fund is a defined contribution retirement
plan operated by independent trustees. The Group made
contributions calculated as approximately 8.1% of the employee’s
gross income to the pension scheme.
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(&

(a)

(b)
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BAE-FEMRE (&

FAMBESHHARBHER (TR Z

) o

RERBEEOZERAREZIMHR (T
—CE @) o

EfIMERESZAL

HE-S-=G+-A=+—HLEE
AEBEANEBEZALPILRE (P
SIE AR ARADEE REALH
S MR EOZ BB RAFE AL (2
T B ALZMEMT

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
D|RECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans (continued)

No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year (2022: Nil).

No contributions were payable to the pension fund at the year-end
(2022: Nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
none of them (2022: None) was director of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosure in Note 9 for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The emoluments of the five (2022: five)
for the year are as follows:

= - 2
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$000
EAFHE - EREM HMEMK Basic salaries, housing allowances, other
EY@EA allowances and benefits in kind 2,902 3,232
BRE WA —FE R E Pension costs — defined contribution plans 86 163
2,988 3,395
s EmT - The emoluments fell within the following bands:
—_2_= ==
2023 2022
A& A
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
& E (B Emolument bands (in HK$)
£ %E1,000,000%8 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 5 5

FRoBEDLUMNERSZ AT
EERI0ASE R S BE R A7 (8 o

During the year, no emoluments have been paid to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or as compensation for
loss of office.
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9 EEME 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
EEMERBBOT Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:
BE_Z-_=F+"-HA=+—BHILEE For the year ended 31 December 2023
EXREHK
BER EHIEE ]
g ik RBTEA BYEN  fEHZHR EaH]
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total

FiT FiT FiT Fir Fir FiT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BTES Executive directors
HRREE (XF) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman)

(RZE_=FNB+MAFT)  (resigned on 14 April 2023) 121 - = = = 121
BEALL Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan - - = = - -
BEREE Mr. Han Chun-Wei = - - - - -
2XYnk Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann

(RZZZ=FMA+MEHE)  (resigned on 14 April 2023) = = = - - -

FHTES Non-executive director
BRERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang - - - = = -
REELE (XF) Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang (chairman)

(RZEZ=£NB+EAZM)  (appointed on 14 April 2023) 299 - - - - 299
BUFRTES Independent non-executive directors
BRERE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 - = = = 120
THBRE Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 - - - - 120
BEALE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 - - - - 120

780 - - - - 780
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EEME @
EEMSWBMT :

BE_T__HF+_RA=+—HLEE

9 D|RECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BIMEHK
2R BHEE
ik e RETEAL BYEN Rz ER o
Employer's
contribution
toa
Allowance retirement
Discretionary  and benefits benefit
Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total

TE7T TE7T FEr FEr FEr FiEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BiTES Executive directors

HLREE (ER) Mr. Hong Sung-Tai (chairman) 420 S = - - 420

REALL Ms. Chen Ching-Hsuan = - - - - _

REREL Mr. Han Chun-Wei - - - - - _

S P Mr. Tsai Biing-Hann - - - - - _

FHnES Non-executive director

BRERE Mr. Kao Chao Yang S = - - - _

BUfHTES Independent non-executive directors

BRIERE Mr. Yeung Wai Hung Peter 120 = S 5 - 120

e Mr. Li Robin Kit Ling 120 S = = = 120

BERLE Mr. Miao Benny Hua-ben 120 S S = - 120
780 s s s . 780

BE_ZT_-—H£+_A=+—HILEEE *&
EMENESZNNEEAMARER XM
ATEBBRZEBABERBE(CS 2.
@) oI BEE_=FRB_F+
A=+—HLEFE THEEEREIRERE
EABE -

ERFTHTESEZME NI ERREFRMA
HEEARBRAEBREHEZRBEMEL - £
KR FERTESTZME DI EMREUER
BRENBARESGMNIRMURBMEL - £
KR BYFATESZME EEMREN
KRB EEGMIRMERFMED -

No emoluments was paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as an compensation for the loss of
office for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:Nil). In addition, no
directors waived or agreed to any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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10 B2 10 FINANCE COSTS
—®-= —2-—
2023 2022
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$ 000
HEaEZHE Interest on lease liabilities 114 108

11

g/

11

FERR T =F+"RB=+—HZEZ
BABHINNT FRIESHFE BRIEERE
BRAEEEERAZEBRZRERITE
BB STSRAEEFTAEZREE EM

BRI MM TR A HEEE

BEELE

FEHNES

& B 32 3t B e
EANERER

Place of incorporation and

SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 are set out
below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely
of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion
of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group.
The place of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of
business.

TEEH BETRAHE FEEAREZHAERR
Particulars of
issued share Ownership interest

Name of the entity kind of legal entity Principal activities capital held by the Group
TSIz ZZCCF
2023 2022
% %
CircuTech Investment EBELHE REZR e 100 100
Holdings (BVI) Limited (EBEREE)
BRAT
British Virgin Islands (‘BVI”),  Investment holding US$1
limited liability company
Signal Communications RBREUEE BRAH REER 15,000,000 75 100 100
Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability company  Investment holding HK$15,000,000
B BREERAR R BRAF REER TERZBERDHE HER 18T 100 100
HitfR#% 2k
CircuTech Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Investment holdings, sales and HK$1

ABEEE (FE) ARAT

CircuTech Enterprises (HK) Limited

CircuTech Holdings Alliances
(Netherlands) B.V.

CircuTech Inc.

company

% 5RA7

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

HE BRAR

Netherlands, limited liability
company

%68 BRAF
United States, limited liability
company

distribution together with repairs and
other service support of IT products

TERZHEERDH B REMRE 1,000/ 7T 100 100
5274
Sales and distribution together with HK$1,000
repairs and other service support of
IT products
TERZHERDH 0.01Bk T 100 100
Sales and distribution of IT products EUR0.01
TERZHEERDH 1,000% 7% 100 100
Sales and distribution of IT products US$1,000
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation and

TREH

BETRESHE FEERBZHEAEER

Particulars of
issued share

Ownership interest

Name of the entity kind of legal entity Principal activities capital held by the Group
k- = S
2023 2022
% %
CircuTech Australia Pty. Ltd. B BRAT TERZHEBRERBEXE 187 100 100
Australia, limited liability Repairs and service support of IT AUD1
company products
CiranTech Japan K.K A& BRAE TERZHEERDH 100,000H7¢ 100 100
Japan, limited liability company  Sales and distribution of IT products JPY100,000
AEERERE (RY) BRAT  PEAREMNE HERE TERZEBRREZE 5,000,000 ¢ 100 100
Circutech Technology Services The People’s Republic of Repairs and service support of IT HK$5,000,000
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd China, wholly-owned foreign products
enterprise
TERRRERAR BB BRAHF REERRAZARARABRHERT 1,000 7T 100 100
BHrE
Signal Communications Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Research and development and sales HK$1,000
company and marketing of video surveillance
systems
NEERRARAT &H BRRAE TERZHEEBRBEZE 100,000 7T 51 51
(Z2ZF:
3,000,000%7T)
Circutex Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Repairs and service support of IT US$100,000
company products (2022:
US$3,000,000)
R—EBEATRZED 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
2= ==
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
w—A—H As at 1 January 6,053 7,537
EE—EHE AT EE Share of results of an associate 1,593 292
BEl—EBEATRKE Dividend received from an associate - (824)
RERRL (B Reversal of/(provision for) impairment loss 1,639 (275)
PE 2 7= &8 Exchange difference 385 (677)
W+-B=+—H As at 31 December 9,670 6,053

TXHINEAERR 2 -_=F+="B=+—H
ZEBEBE RN c TXAHERBZRAERE
NEIEEFE 2 Z @R o oF M A 3 3k = ft
BRTAETEE LM BFfFEZHEEE
1 2 LE f51) B2 3¢ ZE R LE U AR RD ©

Set out below is the principal associate of the Group as at 31 December
2028. The entity listed below has share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares, which are held indirectly by the Company. The country
of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business, and
the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of
voting rights held.
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R—REBEQT 2w @

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

s
BREAE 1R AR 3L B R MREE SHERHE BEEEELLA)
Place of
business/country Nature of Measurement % of
Name of the entity of incorporation relationship method ownership interest
—BI=H TR
2023 2022
4Square Return GmbH (EE| A =UNE % 21% 21%
Germany Associate Equity method

ZHEARTIE (CHEGRRM BAKRE
1TH) REEREH RHBEE REHRT IR
EREWRE - EEBEHRS L - HmE
EREG RERREBARETERTRUR
B 70 B B g ©

WHEE R E

AT NFRANB  AE@AITLEER
&% MBI AT UWEE4Square Return GmbH
(l4Square ) EETRAZ21%#Em HE
R1E#1,600,0008 7t (HHE 7 4914,5608,000
BI) oADK AEERINEEIRE RE
F(i)4Squarez21%p& 1 » AL 7 #36,569,00078
TTR(i)— M RER R R ELIAE R FENA
7,939,000 L ZERFNR _T—N\NFE+t A
+AHHEMRe

DEARNSAEBRTEANLRERRT
BFTEIFREE 2 T EEWE4SquareZFi B
BN o TTEHT B4SquareIM EBIB E Z
E-FF+ R+ -—HUEFEZEBEZRS
MHERREMEBMEEEHRNER ZE%XH
20 (TRBEEAR) - HAEENRDERE
HA R JE i A 36 R AT RESR S AR 48 > Bl4SquareH
MIRA KRR BB BARAREER =@ UN
R AEBEF4SquareIFT ARG » KER
1,600,000k 7T » IR B E BRI HREER H5%
REAERBEORERFEBERIZATET]
BzBE-—E#aTEEmIA

The associate is principally engaged in compliance consulting, the
provision of sales and marketing services, collecting and take back
services, asset remarketing services, recycling, commodities aggregation
and trading, certified waste electrical and electronic equipment
disassembly, and metals separation and concentration, in particular,
in the information technology, telecommunications and electronics
industries.

Summary of acquisition

On 4 June 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to acquire 21% of the issued share capital of 4Square Return GmbH
(“4Square”) from independent parties by cash consideration of
EUR1,600,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$14,508,000). In return,
the Group is entitled to (i) 21% of equity interest in 4Square at a cost
of HK$6,569,000 and (i) a call option and buy-back option at fair value
of approximately HK$7,939,000 at the date of the acquisition. The
transaction was completed on 19 July 2018.

The call option allows the Group to acquire all the remaining shares
of 4Square in the exercise period at an exercise price determined in
accordance with the terms set out in shareholders’ agreement. The
exercise period is from the date that the audited consolidated financial
statements of 4Square for year ended 31 December 2023 are filed in
Germany until the Business Day that falls six months thereafter (“Call
Option Period”). If the Group does not exercise the call option before
the expiry of Call Option Period, the other 4Square existing shareholders
may buy-back all of the shares in the 4Square held by the Group
within three months from the expiry of the Call Option Period for the
consideration of EUR1,600,000. The call option and buy-back option
were treated as a single component derivative financial instrument at fair
value through profit and loss under HKFRS 9.
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R—REBEAT Z#Em @
W EEE ()

BB R A A S B U B B BAFE (b 4Square
AR EEKREENA T EZEMNE DT, R
mEE AR —BBEARD 2B

REBEEZE-_=ZF+ZA=+—HIEEEHRE
A %91,593,000%8 70 (ZF Z T4 : £9292,000
Br) EAEERGHEATDER -

RIEZ—F+—ANH XxE@EFTL—78E
Tt UEREARARNERE S "=
+ZTAE=+—8> mARERREERGZEBINR
4SquareE’\JfF'J,%'\\%ﬁlﬁ‘ﬁ%&%ﬁfﬁﬁﬁEﬂ25
ER-_E—NF B 2F -2 —FRCT
EITERE Viu?éﬁﬁ?kiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%MSquareZ
AR AREEETE o PR ESh R ERIBER Z PN A EM
1R Ao

RIEZ=F+"A=+—H"4Squarez Al lif
ClSEHARDEEREATFEREENAN
HEAANSEEEEETGEBEEARATE
TZHREGBEMEE ZABEAUBELT
BEEHERERAFH CE22F . AFH)
N BEEAERNREREEN - AFEH (&
TSI TFE  AFRUELNBREREEHET
WMEZTI% (CEZZF 1 2.3%) HE > mM&iY
EXTIREERMITEERXESY BUEBY
BMEANRREMTEBNFEHRAERER 5
BHRRANRBBRER144% (T2
15.50%) ©

EERA20234F - 4SquarefA A B U ZEFS »
WRIWEETBEZELESMEIEEBET KMk
EMBRAEID BERE- RS =F1+=
B=+—08 R LT 4Square2,ﬁ§7ﬁi@
(OBEER BN (CEZZE 51 Ealk
[0]%: 389,670,000/ 7t (ZZF =~ 4 : 6,053,000
Br) oA AR —BEHEATDZEEZZE
B EEERREIA1,639,0008 T (ZE -
£ REEEL275,0008 T RIEERNED &
BEBEABBZAIEEA

12

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continuea)

Summary of acquisition (continued)

The excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 4Square at the date
of acquisition was recognised as goodwill and included the interest in an
associate.

A profit of approximately HK$1,593,000 representing the Group’s share
of results of the associate was recorded for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: approximately HK$292,000).

On 8 November 2021, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement
to extend the Call Option Period to 31 December 2023 and the call
option price will be based on 5 times the earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation of the 4 Square minus the aggregate
amount by which the net profit of the 4Square as set out in the 2019,
2020, 2021, 2022 audited consolidated financial statements. Save
for the above, all other terms of the shareholders’s agreement remain
unchanged.

At 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of 4Square was
determined by the directors of the Company based on fair value less
cost of disposal calculations with reference to a professional valuation
performed by Flagship Appraisals and Consulting Limited. The calculation
used cash flow projection based on the financial budget approved
by management of associate covering a five-year period (2022: five-
year period). The cash flows beyond the five-year period (2022: five-
year period) are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2% (2022:
2.3%), which is based on the relevant industry growth rate and does not
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the business in which the
associates operate. The after-tax discount rate adopted in the calculation
is 14.4% (2022: 15.50%).

In the opinion of the Directors, during 2023, 4Square has developed
new recycling business and successfully re-modelled business terms
with its major customers resulting improvement in financial profitability
which led to a reversal of impairment. As at 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of 4Square, before impairment, is lower (2022: higher)
than its recoverable amount of HK$9,670,000 (2022: HK$6,053,000)
based on the above assessment. Accordingly, a reversal of impairment
loss, up to the amount previously recognised, in interest in an associate
of approximately HK$1,639,000 (2022: impairment loss of approximately
HK$275,000) was recognised in profit or loss.
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12 M—REBE AT 2R @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

MEATZHBEERBRE Summarised financial information for an associate
TREINBEAT ZHBEERBE-FIHEZ
ERRMAERBEAB ZASHBERRAZ
HEiE MIFNESEEABRERERATEMGN
BReBE -ZESEETFEI URMEREH
ERAREZAE BERGBRREERER

The tables below provide summarised financial information for the
associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented
in the consolidated financial statements of the relevant associate and
not CircuTech International Holdings Limited’s share of those amounts.
They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity

EZAEST ° when using the equity method, including modifications for differences in
accounting policy.
—_E-= B2
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$ 000
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 8,674 4,973
Httme&EE Other current assets 34,788 27,281
WRHMEE Total current assets 43,462 32,254
ERBEE Non-current assets 24,219 25,160
mENBE Current liabilities (29,365) (27,258)
JERENBIMR Non-current liabilities (3,842) (5,398)
BEEFE Net assets 34,474 24,758
BEREE 2 HER - Reconciliation to carrying amounts:

RENZ2EEZRE Net assets at beginning of the year 24,757 29,893
TKAT AR B Dividend payout - (4,040)
ZIKEE/ ﬂ Profit for the year 7,587 1,390
RERR Exchange difference 2,130 (2,485)
FREEZFE Net assets at end of the year 34,474 24,758
KEBDGHZHDLE Group’s share in % 21% 21%
KEBDE—EBEADEEFE Group’s share in net assets of an associate 7,240 5,199
[EES Goodwill 2,687 1,048
PE R =% Exchange difference (257) (194)
IRMEE Carrying amount 9,670 6,053
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R—EBEARZEE @ 12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
BMEATZHBERBRE (&) Summarised financial information for an associate (continued)
—B_-= -
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ON Revenue 112,501 102,604
7 EE Rt 5 Depreciation and amortisation (3,063) (3,169)
FEEXZ Interest expense (433) (514)
MBS Tax expenses (3,270) (1,033)
AEE A R H a2 m s Profit and other comprehensive income
for the year 7,587 1,390

N_E_=—FE+_A=+—H HMEAELE
ER-—EREATERrIREE (T2
F .8\ W_EBE_=%+_"_B=+—H"'=K
ERUTEERG—BHEARN ZERARKE (TS
ZTEI#\o

FRiFIRFA X
ERAERNRBE_B =+ =5 =+—

BIEEE A EEREANIE16.5% (T2 -
£ :16.5%) st EAER —RBWEB QB K
SO ZRBABRTEHNERMAFNNEERS
EE°§'<-M—“% \Tﬁ’éﬁﬁ/m%uz%ZOO0,000%ﬁ
(ZZTE-_4F :2,000,000%T) #%8.25% (=
TT T 18.25%) iR Mk FERM AR Z
16.5% (B "4 : 16.5%) &ia o

EAZRELRASEEGHERRERREAE
@ EFTEER, ME SRR EAE R
T = F BN R IRBERREI0% (=
T4 130%) 5t 8 BAFERESRER
E23.2% (- "4 :23.2%) st& > &
BREZR20% (ZTZ2HF 1 20%) s8> =
FHFrERASZE21% (T2 2F:21%)5tH-e

13

There is no contingent liability in relation to the Group’s interest in an
associate on 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). As at 31 December 2023,
the Group has no share of capital commitments of an associate (2022:
Nil).

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 16.5%),
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tier profits tax regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2022:
HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at
8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5% (2022: 16.5%).

Taxation on profit has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit
for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries/places
in which the Group operates. In 2023, Australia income tax expense
was calculated at applicable rate of 30% (2022: 30%), Japan income
tax expense was calculated at applicable rate of 23.2% (2022: 23.2%),
Taiwan income tax expense is calculated at 20% (2022: 20%), and US
income tax expense is calculated at 21% (2022: 21%).

ZE-= S
2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(restated)
(#E7)

EHR1E Current tax

—ZIst I8 — Tax for the year 1,018 3,236
BEFE (BRBEEB) BELR — (Over)/under provision in respect of prior year (31) 45
987 3,281
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13 FRIERAX @ 13 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continuea)
7K £ B B ph bR AR Al m A A A 2 17 18 B R AR K D The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
PEEERRMNBERAZEAMEI16.5% (ZF amount that would arise using the primary tax rate of 16.5% (2022:
TITFI16.5%) SHMNIERSREIERBEUT - 16.5%) applicable to profit of the majority of the consolidated entities as
follows:
= S-S
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
(restated)
(RE )
FRPTEMATEF Profit before income tax 7,602 8,342
BEBME16.5% (ZTZTHF 1 16.5%) Tax at the Hong Kong tax rate of 16.5%
FEZRIE (2022: 16.5%) 1,254 1,376
MTFEREBEZREBERE . Tax effects of:
— BRI Z A - Income not subject to tax (835) (108)
—HENB 2 WS (NRRIE) - Associate’s result reported net of tax (262) (48)
—AEREAL - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 849 961
—BINRERZ EEE - Difference in overseas tax rates 219 871
—RKERNEEEIRIERZE - Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 225 393
— B RABFERERRIELEE — Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax
losses (432) (209)
—IBEFEE (BREEE) BETR - (Over)/under provision in respect of prior year (31) 45
FTi8MmB= Income tax expenses 987 3,281
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14 BRER

141 SRELXEF

REABATDRARBER ARG
MEEUR A REEHTEINSERZ

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE

14.1 Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average

mEFHHE - number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year:
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$000
(restated)
(RREF)
AESRERBIFEZ Profit attributable to the ordinary equity
KRB EBEERTE ARG holders of the Company used in calculating
i A basic earnings per share 5,891 5,061
HEEREARAERESSZ Weighted average number of ordinary
TR MNEEHE (F4) shares used as the denominator in
calculating basic earnings per share (‘000) 23,434 23,434
KpElEEEaEE ARGER Basic earnings per share attributable to the
BEARBA (EREM) ordinary equity holders of the Company
(HK cents per share) 25.14 21.60

14.2 SREBEEF)

MR AFEWESITEINEERERMN
HERBERFENSREEEF (Z

ZZE R e

=
<

14.2 Diluted earnings per share

’ Diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share as
there was no dilutive potential share outstanding during the year

(2022: same).
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15 ME - -BERREREHREEZE 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(a) ME -BEKRRME (a) Property, plant and equipment
HEME R R WAE
£ RE B a8 i
Leasehold Furniture Office
improvements  and fixtures equipment Machinery Total
FET FET FET FET FET
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BE_Z—-_—&§ Year ended 31 December 2022
+ZA=+—HLEE
FEMREEE Opening net book value - 9 127 1,132 1,268
BERER Exchange differences - - (6) - (6)
RE Additions - - 28 - 28
WEER Wz7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) - © (64) (1,132) (1,197)
HE Disposals - 8) (11) - (19)
FREMEFE Closing net book value - = 74 = 74
RZEZZHF At 31 December 2022
+=B=+-H
BN Cost 113 171 1,174 11,315 12,773
REE Accumulated depreciation (113) (171) (1,100) (11,315) (12,699)
REEE Net book value - = 74 = 74
BEZZT-=F Year ended 31 December 2023
+ZA=+—HLEE
FREFE Opening net book value - - 74 - 74
HE Additions - - 16 - 16
WEER (I7) Depreciation charge (Note 7) = = (49) = (49)
FREMEE Closing net book value = = 41 = 41
RZIEZ=E At 31 December 2023
+-A=+—-8
[N Cost 113 112 885 11,315 12,425
REtiE Accumulated depreciation (113) (112) (844) (11,315) (12,384)
REVEE Net book value - = 41 s 41

AERR _E_=ZF+"_FB=+—HF
FEZEREERHEETRZKBAR
BRE— T BB E M E33(C)

The machinery held by the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
temporarily leased to fellow subsidiaries, further summary details of
which are included in Note 33(c).
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15 ME - BERLEREHRAEEZEE 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

# RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
(b) FEREEE (b) Right-of-use assets
THIRIETF HE “ast
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FAET FET FET
HK$’'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
W2 __&#—HF—H At 1 January 2022 354 336 690
AE Additions 4,303 - 4,303
WEER (Wat7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (1,297) (55) (1,352)
HE Disposals - (263) (263)
PE 52 = 28 Exchange differences (96) (18) (114)

WZEZZ-#+-"H=+—H At 31 December 2022 and

rkR-_E-_=%—H—H 1 January 2023 3,264 - 3,264
WEER (A7) Depreciation charges (Note 7) (1,746) = (1,746)
HE Disposals (763) - (763)
PE 2 A= 5 Exchange differences 31 = 31
RIBEZ=F+"H=+—H At 31 December 2023 786 - 786
ME - BERSBUKRGEREEEZN Depreciation expense of HK$1,795,000 (2022: HK$2,549,000) for
ER&1,795,0008 c (ZE - _F: property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets has been
2,549,000 7t) Bt ATfTEBE S © charged in “administrative expenses”.
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16 R TR (RERI29)

17

FEBFEUTEMIA:

16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

—g_= ==
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE Assets
TEEmMIA Derivative financial instrument 9,128 8,120
ERAMEZEWRGDRATFEIEZ Financial asset at fair value through other
THEE comprehensive income 1,597 1,597
BB A EZEREE - Financial assets at amortised cost:
8 ST B R R EL A FE UK Trade and other receivables
(R EFETE RIE K H A FE Wit 18) (excluding prepayments and
other tax receivables) 36,106 10,777
RERIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 104,485 138,122
af’& Liabilities
BEHEMASEZEMEE Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
FEAT BR U L FE T 30 (R & 4E H Ath Trade and other payables (excluding other tax
BRI FERFIBE R EHEE BT payables, receipts in advance and accrued
employee benefits) 2,925 3,424
HEa®R Lease liabilities 833 3,373

FEEmEN ARSI ARHNZIE
[ELBE o IR EHHARE R & A5 E R MO 4

TR EEMEEZREE

TTEEMIA

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial
instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit risk

at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of

financial assets mentioned above.

17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

2023 2022
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERAN—REBRERS T Derivative financial instrument in relation to the
TEEMIA (WWat12) interest in an associate (Note 12) 9,128 8,120

() =2TEFE

EREEMEIREATEMABZAER

BRzER F2REMEES.30

(i) MEZREIDZEEE

RAEER (TESMT A AT EED

BB EE3.3(a) i)

TESMI AR T E.

(i) Fair value measurement

For information about the methods and assumptions used in

determining the fair value of derivative, please refer to Note 3.3.

(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

the year is set out in Note 3.3(a)(iii).

The change in the fair value of derivative financial instrument during

The derivative financial instrument is denominated in EUR.

Annual Report 2023 155



REMBEERRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%%EM%EH&&J&’“F{E@J 18 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FREMEEWRZRAFEINEZEMEE Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income
—§C-= —ECCF
2023 2022
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
JEETRAES Unlisted equity security 1,597 1,597

ERUERAERZHME2EREARIQ
TEEE (T - % WE146,0008T) (K
££3.3(a)(iii)) °

FAEEZRBEEEARLFTHRNERNAR
NEFEBI%ER AN AEB T BETMNEE
FEELEEEEMEESEELE RMBEER
FoWMZ AR BMEER EAR.

HRTEERBZEREARBLEE  EER
BRI HEtEERSBEBEMEEWEZ AT
BolfE-

19 FEURER TR B H fth FE U 7R

During the year, there was no fair value movement (2022: gain of
HK$146,000 was recognised) in other comprehensive income of the
Group (Note 3.3(a)(iii)).

The Group’s strategic investments is a 9% interest in iIMT Co., Ltd. This
company is not accounted for on an equity method as the Group does
not have the power to participate in its operating and financial policies,
evidenced by the lack of any direct or indirect involvement at board level.

The equity investments were irrevocably designated at FVOCI as the
Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEULBR FX Trade receivables 26,789 6,656
¥4 <5 Rr ELAt FE SRR Deposits and other receivables 9,317 4,121
RBERAINEZ EMEE Financial assets at amortised cost 36,106 10,777
ERIEREMEWRIE Prepayments and other tax receivables 999 3,815
JRE L B 7R Re L At FE R R 48 BB Total trade and other receivables 37,105 14,592

RoE=—=

R_=Zx=_=

EEMBENFI15E90H

HZRE DT

FkhZ
T _F+A=+—8 BWERFREZEAL

The credit terms generally range from 15 to 90 days. At 31 December
2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on
invoice date were as follows:

—EZ= =
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
1B A Within 1 month 26,750 6,630
2E3@EH 2 to 3 months 39 26
26,789 6,656
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19 FEURARTR B H fth FEULTR )

20

(a)

B (B FE UL R R

W0 7 5 W Bl Y M ) FE W RUR 1B B 3%
R B (B o

o REBKAE B H RS ERE9
S A EStERMEERE AR
WERRE A2 ARG EEE -AREW
SRRURER - RUIRTUR BB BB L
AERRAHZEERBRKRIINERRKRZ
BRI EES. 1 EE o

RERERERWE LA EME 2 RE
RemlmERzTHER AHE -

BIREE tESR 2 28R
RAFE > RN IR M2 W IRTURE
BENBERR (CEZ2F )

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueq)

(a)

Impaired trade receivables

Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.

In addition, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. Information about the
provision for impairment of trade receivables, movement of
provision for impairment of trade receivables and the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and foreign exchange risk is disclosed in

Note 3.1.

Impairment losses and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are recognised in statement of comprehensive
income within “administrative expenses”.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, no provision or reversal of provision for impairment
of trade receivables was recognised in the profit or loss (2022: Nil).

(b) EWEFRREMEKRZRZATFE (b) Fair value of trade and other receivables
HINRESERSEBEAME ) HERmER Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their
RIEBRERTFEMER - carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

«
=8 20 INVENTORIES
—EZ= —ECCF
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEEEZE R Goods held for resale 562 1,563

BE_ZS_-—F+_B=+—HLEE &
FEMA%134,510,0008 5 (ZCE - "F | &
337,347,000/ 7T) 7 /$# 77 B ###[049200,000
BT (CERIE B HFEEEHEL46,00087T)

wEMEEE (T2 22

D EE 7 B499,000

BT IATHERS - R E_=ZFE+_H
—t+—HB FEEFEHNA319,0008T (ZF
T T4 1 #9519,0005 7T) ©

Cost of inventories sold was approximately HK$134,510,000 (2022:
approximately HK$337,347,000), net reversal of inventory provision
was approximately HK$200,000 (2022: net inventory provision of
approximately HK$46,000), and no inventories written off (2022:
written off of inventories of approximately HK$9,000) were included
in “cost of sales” during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31
December 2023, the provision for inventories amounted to approximately
HK$319,000 (2022: approximately HK$519,000).
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4
21 HERREEFEY 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERE Cash on hand 10 8
RITRE Cash at bank 104,475 138,114
104,485 138,122
RIBE_=F+"A=+—H > BHBTER As at 31 December 2023, the short-term bank deposits bear interest
BEFENTFONES A% (ZTZ2F  FHX ranging from 0% to 5.1% per annum (2022: from 0% to 4.3% per annum)
NFO%EL4.3%) st2 HPHAB=EARN &K with maturity date within three months, and were therefore included in
FIARERIREEEY - cash and cash equivalents.
22 g 22 SHARE CAPITAL
R &E [
Number of shares Share capital
—EZ=F “ETTF —EC-E e F
2023 2022 2023 2022
Fhz iR F#ET FET
‘000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETREE Issued and fully paid
R—B—HBE+ZBE=+—H At 1 January and 31 December 23,434 23,434 4,687 4,687
(a) TiER (a) Ordinary shares
ZEREER20EBT - HEFHFEA Ordinary shares have a par value of HK$0.20. They entitle the
BH2EREREAFEROHEE KM holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds
FREZ PP IER AR BERZ BRI of winding up the Company in proportion to the number of and

amounts paid on the shares held.

KRB ZEERAFR > A80,000,0007# The Company has a limited amount of authorised capital of
7t > B #5400,000,0000% & B % © HK$80,000,000, comprising 400,000,000 ordinary shares.

(b) FHERGHE (b) Options
BEZE—ANEEREHEZEHER Information relating to the 2016 Option Scheme is set out in Note
Fff5E25 ° 25.
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23 Hith{#E 23 OTHER RESERVES
TRIRGEH BN LEXER TEMtHE 2B The following table shows a breakdown of the consolidated statement of
MEZEFRERNAEE S BHEECME financial position line item “other reserves” and the movements in these
RS fmmE R T &Re reserves during the year. A description of the nature and purpose of each

reserve is provided below the table.

BB
2ENE
BATESIE
RipEE ERf#E RHRE 2sRmBE @it
Financial
Share  Translation Special asset at
premium reserve reserve FVOCI Total
izt FE71 FEm FET FEr FEr
Note HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RIEZ-5+-F=+—-H At 31 December 2021 183,006 (1,447) 14,990 (11) 196,538
rEEEMZENE Other comprehensive income for the year:
HEBNEBELZERER Exchange differences arising on translation of

foreign operations - (3,015) - - (3,015)
FRAMZANRRATESEL Change in the fair value of

BuRBEZATELY equity investment at fair value through

other comprehensive income 18 - - - 146 146
RIEZZ&#+-F=1+-H At 31 December 2022 183,006 (4,462) 14,990 135 193,669
rEEEMZENE Other comprehensive income for the year:
REBNEBELZERER Exchange differences arising on translation of

foreign operations - 1,558 - - 1,558
RIEZZE+-RZ+-8 At 31 December 2023 183,006 (2,904) 14990 195 195207
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23 Hith#EE @
HtEE I HERAR
BB E

R EBEIEA QB RMD URE TR UE P
BMEBHROEEZ B LHNFRETRND
FREEZ R

SEBREFE

MEBIZEEBREAMEATDELENEREE
B E At 2 T W ek B 58 (BB 522, 4P Fe b M it
NEBREBERS RFEBENLEREFER
BENoEE2EWmE-

HRI

AEBZHENREDEREN _ZZE—FMNA
ETEREERERAZRBAT G ZRE
BERAATDETRA FARBREZEEM
BZERE

ZBAMEENGZ R TFEIEZEZMEER
&

AT EREQER RS BRI E 2R EE B
BHEEABORIETEBEMEERERA
TENEZREREZ AT ERHILD -

23 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

Nature and purpose of other reserves

Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued as a premium, less expenses
incurred in connection with the issue of shares.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled
entity and associate are recognised in other comprehensive income
as described in Note 2.4 and accumulated in a separate reserve
within equity. The cumulative amount is reclassified to statement of
comprehensive income when the net investment is disposed of.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the aggregate of the nominal value of share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in April 2001 and
the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company as
consideration for the acquisition.

Financial asset at FVOCI reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair

value of equity investment designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that is
held at the end of the reporting period.

24 REtEsiE 24 ACCUMULATED LOSSES
KREBRFTEBIEZEEHUT : Movements in accumulated losses of the Group were as follows:
= - S - 2
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$000
(restated)
(RREF)
m—B—8 At 1 January (50,158) (55,219)
KEE@H Profit for the year 5,862 5,061
R+ZB=+—H At 31 December (44,296) (50,158)
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25

WU B E R TR

RIZB-—RE+—A+—BHERMZHBREE
(TZE—AEEREED)

RERZF—-—R"E+—B+—BBBRZRE
o RABRM T —NFRRES B B
BEEBHCERZEENAATFHER > I
M RBIREREEATIHE 3 L7 B % 2 th
3 URIBREEIMEE  SHE AR B TFE K
ABREZFGUNEREARE (BEFER
T RIFNTES BHABE-Z2RE
NEH - RE-XEB - HEE TR -BED
HRRBHER) BHBRE UBBEEARDR

7o

BEZF-NEEREFEDIERE ZERE
Fid k2 RN BE > TRBE A RBAERE
BMEEITRMNZ10% REAATRRELL
HoRERN—FAREFALEERIERS
ZHEREMSRZBETRRTETZRMDH
B A"RBAAATDNEAREDEETRMNZ
1% - HAETERFABILFATEEFRLZ
BREBBARTRAEZOANHEEEESR
5,000,000 70 BELIEAABDREAAE-

FERER MAEIEITE N WA EH B HE
SttHAER -BEREDTNESEEETZ
HBABERITE HEERABRASEAEERY
A +E -RBEEHHREZTTET A1 R
BRTIESE (A2 TROXRELAH W
ARNFZH) NEEHRERAREHE (XA
BRMPINEERLHPAILEXZBESHR
BRAKZ FHRBE ; R(ilF2BRMDZE
EE

BERM T R"EBREFZ AL BER
R AR o

25 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

Share Option Scheme adopted on 11 November 2016 (the “2016
Option Scheme”)

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 11 November 2016, the 2016 Option
Scheme was adopted to recognise and motivate the contribution of the
eligible participants and to provide incentives and help the Company in
retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional employees for
a term of ten years. The Board of the Company may at its discretion
grant options to any employees, including Executive and Non-executive
Directors, consultants, advisers, substantial shareholders, distributors,
agents, contractors, suppliers, customers, business partners and service
providers of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the 2016 Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to substantial shareholders or independent non-executive directors in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess
of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Option may be granted at a consideration of HK$1 and should be
accepted within seven days from the date of grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during the period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price is determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Daily
Quotation Sheet on the date of grant, which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Daily Quotation Sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share options were granted since the date of adoption of the 2016
Option Scheme.
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26 ME{TERFR B E thFE(T 26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$000
FETBR AR Trade payables 1,332 1,536
Bz E Deposit received 710 709
HuhENIRIE Other tax payables 199 994
HRERREMENL R Accruals and other payables 2,126 2,512
4,367 5,751
HRNEBREPEEE BRI REMESRZ The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to
REAEEGAREAFTEER RIZEI=F be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. At 31
EZEZZF+ZR=+—H EBNERXREZ December 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of the trade payables
ERRZRE2TUWT : based on invoice date were as follows:
—EgZ= TEC
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB A Within 1 month 1,285 1,536
2E3EH 2 to 3 months 47 -
1,332 1,636
27 A& 27 LEASES
AEESHZEE URBAZEMD) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)
AEBRERKEMmES 2REREETHRERR The Group leases a number of properties with fixed periodic rent over the
ANEREZNEERENYZE- lease terms in the jurisdictions from which it operates.

162 MESEBZERAMRALE  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 A& w 27 LEASES (continuea)
AEESHZEE UERBAZEM) (&) Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) (continued)
HEEN ERAEN
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
2H FET
—E_=H4+"BR=+—H 31 December 2023 Number HK$’000
BEENRZMERE Property leases with fixed payments 2 833
HEEN ERENEA
Lease Fixed
contracts payments
L g=] FAET
B2 _F+”-B=+—H 31 December 2022 Number HK$ 000
BENHRZMERE Property leases with fixed payments 4 3,373
EHRAEEE Right-of-use assets
REMEERNE D2 ERAREERBED N The analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class of
W underlying asset is as follows:
+ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
FAET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRAEYE  BITERKAYE Properties leased for own use,
carried at depreciated cost 786 3,264
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27

164

HE @

27 LEASES (continued)

HEaE Lease liabilities
T RIETF _E et
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FET FET FET
—EZ=%+ZA=+—~H 31 December 2023 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
RE Additions = - -
FEEXZ Interest expenses 114 - 114
GEN-RNEN Lease payments (1,877) - (1,877)
E&IE Lease termination (809) - (809)
BE 2 ) Foreign exchange movements 32 - 32
THIRIETF RE st
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
FAET FAET FAET
2%+ -"H=+—H 31 December 2022 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$ 000
RE Additions 4,303 - 4,303
FEREX Interest expenses 103 5 108
BN Lease payments (1,383) (60) (1,443)
AE&IE Lease termination - (272) (272)
BE R H) Foreign exchange movements (28) (18) (46)
ARBEMTNINBBERAOT : Future lease payments are due as follows:
RIEEEE™ FE RE
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
—ZEZ=HF —E-= —E-=
+-B=+—H +=-BA=+—H +ZH=+—H
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2023
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—FR Not later than one year 775 42 733
—FBRETBEME Later than one year and not later
than two years 112 12 100
887 54 833

MEBEEERAEMRAT  CircuTech International Holdings Limited



REMBEERRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 HE »

HE&E (&

27 LEASES (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

REHEEGR FE RE
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
+=ZB=+—H +ZA=+—H +ZB=+—H
31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2022 2022
FET FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—&FRN Not later than one year 2,118 123 1,995
—FREABEME Later than one year and not later
than two years 1,407 29 1,378
BIH25) 152 SRS
2= —E-
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
mEIBE Current liabilities 733 1,995
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 100 1,378
833 3,373
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
CHAFAER Short term lease expenses 124 358
RELIRFTHATE EARIE 4R AR Aggregate undiscounted commitments
for short term leases = 1
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166

REKRBEEE

REEBEPFE7TE(RERG)  FESHNE
TEEFAORAFENEEETINERERER
RHARBE

—  GSmIUULBVESATE
- RRERIABEESH
- RBRERERTEMRR

- EBREENAEBETEHERERRENERE
25

- RBERZFEHABREFAETHLIINIREA
W e

RERBER/MN D 2ZRERE—EAANR
A# % (ER#A22,5008 ) KRB FEM
E-BLOEREBEENRBRBEZR/ALRES
390,000/ 7z > A& B R BB FIME AEESH BT
ZEEFEHNBHEHRAEENRERD Y
R IR £ @F] -

RBEBBEFF485F(RFIME A B EIF
B AEBERET BREEBFNG% (L
MR#31,5007% 7T) 1F RGN RBEHMR - A&
ERBINZEAFHER -REEZHEAE
FREMRREEIBIE -

RIZZZFRA(ZEZZFREARKRE
BUAR (RE B0 (BR]) 1R 6)) BIEM - EFT IR
PIBCEUEERFIMBREESHRZ REEDIR
HERARTE 22 -HE > EBREBNEE
i BUSZERN S HFHA—HEN-

UTE2EEHTERHHEBER

- REXISFMREEHMAEENRER
DA AFRENEHARZEREZ
REARBE -

- HHZEHABRTEUREEF AR
B—ERAMNFESE  MIULIFLIRIEZE
BizEB—ERMNFEE-

AEBRNEARBEEET BRESHAKRE
£ — REPRBSIEHN S EEFBHNK
$52.2(b)~ 2.13(e)%%2.13(f) ©

LONG SERVICES PAYMENT LIABILITIES

Under Employment Ordinance, Cap.57, an employee who has been
employed under a continuous contract for not less than 5 years
of service is eligible for long service payments under the following
circumstances:

The employee resigns at age of 65 or above;
- The employee dies during employment;
- The employee resigns on ground of ill health;

- The fixed term employment contract expires without being
renewed;

- The employee is dismissed which is not because of redundancy or
serious misconduct

The LSP benefit is determined with reference to the employee’s last full
month’s salary (capped at HK$22,500) and number of years of service.
The LSP benefit is capped at HK$390,000 for each eligible employee.
The accrued benefits derived from the Group’s mandatory contributions
under the mandatory provident fund scheme in respect of that employee
can be used to offset the LSP benefit.

Under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, Cap. 485, the
Group, as an employer, is required to make mandatory MPF contribution
at 5% of the employee’s monthly salary (capped at HK$1,500). The
Group makes the contribution to separate trustees. MPF scheme has
attributes of a defined contribution plan.

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 was enacted.
The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset LSP.
Subsequently, the Government of HKSAR announced that the Abolition
will take effect on 1 May 2025.

The following key changes will take effect since the Transition Date:

- Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP in respect of the
employment period after the Transition Date.

- The pre-transition LSP is calculated using the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date, instead of using the last
month’s salary of employment termination date.

The accounting for the Group’s LSP obligation, MPF contribution and the
MPF-LSP offsetting is detailed in notes 2.2(b), 2.13(e) and 2.13(f).
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=
28 REARFS&EE @ 28 LONG SERVICES PAYMENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
EEFHEZREREEHBEROT - The present value of net obligations and it movements are as follow:
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
(restated)
(&E7))
w—B—H At 1 January 378 -
REMEENEEEZEMFTE Remeasurements recognised in other
comprehensive income:
B BREREEFMEL ZEBEEE Actuarial losses arising from changes in financial
assumptions 29 -
RiEmERZAX ! Expenses recognised in profit or loss:
EHRB A Current service cost 39 =
B A Interest cost 16 =
FHRARFE A Past service cost - 378
55 378
462 378
RERNEEZMEFLHERAE125F8 (ZF The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 12.5
T 18.0F) ° years (2022: 13.0 years).
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=
28 REIRFBEEE @ 28 LONG SERVICES PAYMENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
EARBREBRRABRAESTOT : Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis are as follows:
2023 2022
ARIR Discount rate 2.9% to 4.7% 2.1% to 4.3%
KRR &GN Future salary increases 0% 0% to 1.5%
AEHREE RE RN Expected investment return on offsettable MPF
SRS (BT ES accrued benefits 2.5% 2.4%
UTAMInAREEBMEAEAEABERRE The below analysis shows how the defined benefit obligation would have
B1%migm, BB increased/decreased as a result of 1% change in the significant actuarial

assumptions:

=& -
2023 2022
BABE BABE
it g7 FAET 1B & E) FAET
Change in Change in
significant significant
actuarial actuarial
assumptions HK$’000  assumptions HK$'000
ARIRE — 1B 0 Discount rate - increase 1% (34) 1% (32)
BLIRE —F /D Discount rate — decrease (1%) 38 (1%) 37
FRRFHE 10 Future salary - increases 1% 14 1% 10
FRRFHE 10 Future salary — decreases (1%) (18) (1%) (12)
UEBRESMEERNRERERENESHE The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that changes
TR RitwEtREERIEEEH & in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore it does not take
o into account the correlations between the actuarial assumptions.
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29 IRIEFRISTR

29.1 IRIBESIE

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

29.1 Tax losses

2023 2022
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$ 000

RERIEIERBEEEZ Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax
RENARIBEE asset has been recognised 45,315 46,562

BRAEEBEREEMIERNZ Potential tax benefit at domestic tax rate for
MEABZBERBMN A which the Group’s entities operate 7,522 7,740

FEARMBEBEEIVATERTRERER
BELERFRBUAZEAEBRTEE B
RARLET S IR EH Z A K B 524(c) ©
RIEZ=ZF+"A=+—0 ' Xx8ABR

The unused tax losses were incurred by the Group companies
that are not likely to generate taxable income in the foreseeable
future. See Note 4(c) for significant judgements made in relation to
income tax. As at 31 December 2023, the unused tax losses are as

BEEWT follows:
T = T F
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000

KT EMEIE Expiry date in:
TE T RE 2026 - 136
—EtF 2027 661 746
—EN\E 2028 1,270 1,270
—EAEF 2029 1,557 1,557
TE=EF 2030 788 788
—E=—4F 2031 2,332 2,332
E=_F 2032 2,054 2,054
_E==F 2033 - -
#EI AR No expiry date 36,653 37,679
45,315 46,562
30 RE 30 DIVIDENDS
EEERARVEERE F+ZHA=4+— The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the

HIEFEZRARE (T

year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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31 HEREBEH 31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
RS (FRA) EEZ2RE Cash (used in)/generated from operations
2= == —
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
(restated)
(RREF)
FRPFEMR AR F] Profit before income tax 7,602 8,342
MTHNIEEELBE Adjustments for:
ME- -BEREEITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 49 1,197
TREEEINE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,746 1,352
FEE (EERD) BE Net (reversal)/provision for inventories (200) 46
WiETFE Write off of inventories - 9
&&= Gain on modification of lease (46) (9)
B 75 A AR Finance costs 114 108
ESMITBEZATE () /EIE  Fair value (gain)/loss on derivative financial
instruments (470) 1,010
RN—EBE B 2 EEm 2 BEEE Impairment loss on interest in an associate = 275
BOR—RBBE AT 2R ARERIE Reversal of impairment loss on interest
in an associate (1,639) -
IRITERF B WA Interest income from bank deposits (2,955) (652)
ERAEEEARZ EG Share of net profit of an associate accounted
il =PNCIEE] for using the equity method (1,593) (292)
EEETHEBA 2 RE LT Operating profit before working capital change 2,608 11,386
REBEERABBZEE Change in operating assets and liabilities
EFERD Decrease in inventories 1,201 53,226
JE U BR T R EL A Wk (3 ) R (Increase)/decrease in trade and
other receivables (22,640) 2,619
FEE 1<) B R TR 5L th A UL L Decrease in trade and other payables (1,344) (64,702)
BHaE L) /1Emn (Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (3,315) 2,122
RHRSSaBEIEMN Increase in long services payment liabilities 55 378
REEK (FTA) /EEXZzRE Cash (used in)/generated from operations (23,435) 5,029
RiFERERERN HENE BEERREZ In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from sale of
FriSsIBEIE ! property, plant and equipment comprise:
2023 2022
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$ 000
BREEE (H515) Net book amount (Note 15) - 19
HEYE BERREBEZWE (Ba27)  Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (Note 7) - -
HEME - -BEKRLKEZESHIE Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment - 19
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32 RERERMEE

32 NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW

STATEMENT
HEaE
Lease
liabilities
Wizt27
Note 27
FET
HK$'000
W-_E_-__F—H—H At 1 January 2022 723
WEmEgs . Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (1,335)
BEEEaBEZMNERD Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (108)
MERSRESEHELE Total changes from financing cash flows (1,443)
E 0 R Exchange adjustment: (46)
Hfh#sE) Other changes:
AE Additions 4,303
MEF S Lease interests 108
ME&IE Lease termination (272)
Hihs)4a%E Total other changes 4,139
R_EBE-__F+-A=+—HBK At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
“2”=%—HF—H 3,373
WEmEgs . Changes from cash flow:
BEREaEZAEHD Repayment of principal portion of the lease liabilities (1,763)
EEREaGZHNEIY Repayment of interest portion of the lease liabilities (114)
MERSRESEHELE Total changes from financing cash flows (1,877)
PE A2 Exchange adjustment: 32
Hfh &g Other changes:
wnE Additions =
HEF S Lease interests 114
ME&IE Lease termination (809)
HihES g Total other changes (695)
RN_Z2_=F+ZB=+—H At 31 December 2023 833
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33 FAEALTRS

172

(a)

(b)

BAT

REBBRUTERZES

IRER %

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Parent entities

The Group is controlled by the following entities:

EEARBET
BE/BEEDZ REBFALE
40 RIz&E (#B49)

Percentage of
the issued share

Number of capital of

shares held/ the Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity interested (approximate)

Foxconn (Far East) Limited Immediate holding company 11,853,524 50.58%
BEERRAT

Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. Ultimate holding company 11,853,524 50.58%
EBEEEIERNHEBRAR BRERERAT

W3 . Foxconn (Far East) Limited%& B8 152 T
ERMDAERABTZE2EMBAS]

TEEEBABZHHE
EEEEOQEESR (W7 JFRITRE

IIRHIT) o EFEREERBENNE
NEBEEEZMHETITIOT

Note: Foxconn (Far East) Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hon Hai
Precision Industry Co. Ltd.

(b) Key management personnel compensation
Key management includes directors (executive, non-executive and

independent non-executive). The compensation paid or payable
to key management for directors and employee services is shown

below:
—E=HF —E_
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
HEREMEHAEEEN Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 780 780
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Y ——
33 FAEALTRSZ @ 33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) HEEALETZRS (c) Transactions with related parties
BEEANTETZRZAT - The following transactions occurred with related parties:
—E=H B ——
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AEEEEFHZERIEE Sales of goods to Hon Hai Group 1,440 190
FAEEEESZN ZEERBER Repair services charges paid to
Hon Hai Group 4,279 261
B—EERKBADWBHAE Office administration support charges
BIELIFER received from a fellow subsidiary - 216
MMAEREFBRZRZKMBABZT Operating lease charges paid to fellow
REMEER subsidiaries in respect of an office and
warehouse 143 288
MBI EETWABBRNEBRE] Operating lease charges received
B ETHE & B from fellow subsidiaries in respect of
machinery rental income 2,400 2,400
TR ERZEFEE 2 ERETC The above transactions were conducted at negotiated prices

between transacting parties.
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34 FATIZHBRARKRHEE 34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
5| RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

AT ZHBRRER Statement of financial position of the Company
w+=ZHA=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-=F -
2023 2022
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(restated)
(E7))
BE Assets
ERBEE Non-current assets
KRB RABZEE Investment in subsidiaries 10 10
& U B B8 2 B 7R I8 Amount due from subsidiaries 106,510 109,841
________________________________________________ 106,520 109,851
TBEE Current assets
ENRIEREE Prepayments and deposits 378 335
HERREEBY Cash and cash equivalents 133 134
_______________________ 511 469
WEE Total assets 107,031 110,320
i Equity
TATEE NEG#EE Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
i8N Share capital 4,687 4,687
B 17 m (B Share premium 183,006 183,006
RETEE Accumulated losses (81,109) (77,932)
B Total equity 106,584 109,761
af& Liabilities
mEAE Current liability
FHRER Accruals 341 468
JERENEE Non-current liability
EHRRBEEE Long services payment liabilities 106 91
FER=RE Total liabilities 447 559
MEEREE Total equity and liabilities 107,031 110,320
KRNBZHBERRAREEETEGR S _UF= The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the
Bt+ZBZETHTHEERKRESES Board of Directors on 12 March 2024 and was signed on its behalf
RIS BERLEE
Mr. Chang Chuan-Wang Mr. Han Chun-Wei
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34 BEATZHBRRRREES

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

# = RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
ERBZEHEES Reserve movement of the Company
R iEE HEtEsig et
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
FET FAET FET
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
A E_—F+"B=+—H At 31 December 2021 183,006 (74,589) 108,417
N _E__F—H—H At 1 January 2022 183,006 (74,589) 108,417
AEERE (KET) Loss for the year (restated) = (3,343) (3,343)
RIE_=ZF—HF—H (&KF7)) At 1 January 2023 (restated) 183,006 (77,932) 105,074
KEEFBE Loss for the year - (3,177) (3,177)
R-E-=%+-H=+—A8 At 31 December 2023 183,006 (81,109) 101,897
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=
E 3 RESULTS
HE+-A=1+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
“E-hE TTE T "T__F ZEIZH
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
FET FAET FET FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
(restated)
(&E5)
WA Revenue 332,884 372,959 349,870 368,160 152,137
FRPTSREF) Profit before income tax 3,379 10,965 4,006 8,342 7,602
FTiEMEX Income tax expense (890) (1,968) (1,774) (3,281) (987)
NEEEF Profit for the year 2,489 8,997 2,232 5,061 6,615
ATHATEOREE Profit for the year attributable to:
wA
VNI 2PN - Owners of the Company 2,489 8,997 2,232 5,061 5,891
—JEERER - Non-controlling interests = = = = 724
2,489 8,997 2,232 5,061 6,615
BERAR ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
w+ZRA=+—H
As at 31 December
“E-hE TI®BE ET-F IBI"FE IZEI=HF
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
FAET FAET FET FAET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(restated)
(=& 75)
mEE Total assets 150,685 194,268 223,948 173,385 163,374
e Total liabilities (17,320) (49,017) (77,942) (13,701) (6,654)
133,365 145,251 146,006 159,684 156,720
AT ATREEZ ERKREE Capital and reserves attributable to:
R /NCIE Z-DN — Owners of the Company 133,860 145,251 146,006 148,198 155,618
—JEER S - Non-controlling interests (495) - - 11,486 1,102
133,365 145,251 146,006 159,684 156,720
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